
MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Board of Supervisors Chambers, Room 330 

3501 Civic Center Drive, San Rafael, CA 94903 

AGENDA 

Monday, December 3, 2018 

10:00 a.m.   Convene as the Marin County Transit District Board of 
Directors 

1. Open Time for Public Expression (limited to three minutes
speaker on items not on the Transit District’s agenda)

2. Board of Directors’ Matters

3. General Manager’s Report
a. General Manager’s Oral Report
b. Monthly Monitoring Reports for August, September, and

October

4. Consent Calendar
a. Minutes for November 5, 2018
b. Draft Board Meeting Calendar for 2019
c. Marin Transit First Quarter FY 2018/19 Financial Report
d. Marin Transit First Quarter FY 2018/19 Performance Report
e. Updated Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy

Recommended Action: Approve.

5. Contract with Civic Edge Consulting for On-Call Public
Information and Outreach Services

Recommended Action: Authorize the General 
Manager to execute an agreement for on-call public 
information and outreach services for Marin Transit 
projects and programs through June 30, 2020 at a 
total cost not to exceed $75,000 with one option 
year.  

(continued) 



2 

6. Marin Transit FY 2017/18 Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report

Recommended Action: Accept report. 

7. Marin Transit Employee Compensation Framework
Recommended Action: Adopt an updated 
employment compensation framework with revised 
salary ranges. 

8. Update on San Rafael Transit Center Relocation Project
Recommended Action: Information item only. 

Convene in Closed Session 

Public Employee Performance Evaluation 
California Government Code Section 54957 
Title: General Manager 

Report from Closed Session 

Adjourn 

All Marin Transit public meetings are conducted in accessible locations.  Copies of 
documents are available in accessible formats upon request.  If you require 

Translation Assistance, American Sign Language Interpreters, Assistive Listening 
Devices or other accommodations to participate in this meeting, you may request 
them by calling (415) 226-0855 (voice) or contact the California Relay Service by 

dialing 711 to connect to the telephone listed above.  Requests must be received 
no less than five working days prior to the meeting to help ensure 

availability.  For additional information, visit our website at 
http://www.marintransit.org 

Late agenda material can be inspected in the office of Marin Transit, 
between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. The 

office is located at 711 Grand Avenue, Suite 110, San Rafael, CA 94901. 

Todas las reuniones públicas de Marin Transit se llevan a cabo en lugares 
accesibles.  Están disponibles copias de los documentos en formatos accesibles, a 

solicitud.  Si usted requiere ayuda con la traducción, intérpretes de Lenguaje 
Americano de Señas, dispositivos de ayuda auditiva, u otras adaptaciones para 

participar en esta reunión, puede solicitarlas llamando al (415) 226-0855 (voz) o 
comunicarse con el Servicio California Relay marcando al 711 para conectarse al 

http://www.marintransit.org/


3 

número de teléfono mencionado.  Las solicitudes deben recibirse a más tardar 
cinco días laborables antes de la reunión para ayudar a asegurar la 

disponibilidad. Para obtener información adicional, visite nuestro sitio web en 
http://www.marintransit.org 

Material de agenda de última hora puede ser inspeccionado en la oficina de 
Marin Transit, entre las horas de 8:00 am y 5:00 pm.  La oficina está 

ubicada en 711 Grand Avenue, Suite 110, San Rafael, CA 94901. 

http://www.marintransit.org/


1 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 

Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

SUBJECT: General Manager Report – Monthly Report: August 
2018 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: This is a recurring information item. 

SUMMARY: The attached monthly report provides an overview of 
Marin Transit operations for the monthly period ending August 31, 
2018. The monthly reports summarize statistics on the performance 
of Marin Transit services and customer comments.  

Overall ridership in August 2018 decreased by 0.6 percent 
compared to August 2017. Ridership on fixed-route services 
increased 0.1 percent compared to the same month last year. 
Ridership on Marin Access services decreased by 0.6 percent. 
Ridership on yellow bus services decreased by 34 percent. 

Additional detailed analyses of system performance and trends are 
provided in separate quarterly and annual reports, including route-
level statistics and financials. These reports are available on the 
District’s website at http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html.  

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:  None associated with this report. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nancy Whelan 
General Manager 

Attachments 

Item 3b

1

http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html


Fixed-Route Passengers (incl. Yellow Bus) by Month

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Prior Fiscal Year Passengers Current Fiscal Year Passengers

0

80,000

160,000

240,000

320,000

244,200244,200

260,143260,143

282,770282,770 283,298283,298

252,173252,173
245,229245,229

240,883240,883
247,038247,038

277,156277,156

257,876257,876

290,702290,702

253,315253,315
245,208245,208

258,554258,554

FISCAL YEAR

2019

Demand Response Passengers by Month

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Prior Fiscal Year Passengers Current Fiscal Year Passengers

0

4,000

8,000

12,000

16,000

12,61312,613

13,56413,564 13,42713,427
13,77613,776

13,27913,279

12,07112,071
12,68412,684

12,37012,370

13,79913,799
13,33913,339

14,06214,062
13,61813,61813,70613,706

13,47813,478

Year-to-Date Ridership Trends

Monthly Monitoring Report 11/21/2018

Page 1/2
Item 3b

2

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf563ade4b0bc958675ceaf&request_id=uix9db9357a9be1_61%3AFDKTzMJHq9gzN5Wx%3AMnfDARwmmg2nFRIb%3Aoqhrgs7ho8tpdhph%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50133
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf563ade4b0bc958675ceaf&request_id=uix9db9357a9be1_61%3AFDKTzMJHq9gzN5Wx%3AMnfDARwmmg2nFRIb%3Aoqhrgs7ho8tpdhph%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64518


Average Systemwide Daily Passengers

Weekday Saturday Sunday

Prior Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers Current Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

12,000

11,10111,101

10,26310,263

7,4407,440 7,4887,488

6,0556,055
6,4196,419

Productivity (pax/hr) by Typology

1.
 L

oc
al

 T
ru

nk
lin

e

2.
 L

oc
al

 B
as

ic

3.
 L

oc
al

 C
on

ne
ct

or

5.
 R

ur
al

8.
 R

ec
re

at
io

na
l

9.
 D

em
an

d 
Re

sp
on

se

Prior Fiscal Year Productivity Current Fiscal Year Productivity

0.0

7.0

14.0

21.0

28.0

25.225.2 25.525.5

14.814.8 15.115.1

9.19.1 9.19.1

7.57.5
6.86.8

27.527.5
26.726.7

2.12.1 1.91.9

Monthly Statistics
MONTH

August

1. Local Trunkline: 
Routes 35, 36, 71X 

2. Local Basic: 
Routes 17, 22, 23, 23X, 29, 49 

3. Local Connector: 
Routes 219, 228, 233, 245, 251, 257 

5. Rural: 
Routes 61, 68 

8. Recreational: 
Routes 66/66F

9. Demand Response: 
Local Paratransit, Novato Dial-A-Ride, 
Rural Dial-A-Ride

Route Typologies

Page 2/2
Item 3b

3

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf563ade4b0bc958675ceaf&request_id=uix9db9357a9be1_61%3AFDKTzMJHq9gzN5Wx%3AMnfDARwmmg2nFRIb%3Aoqhrgs7ho8tpdhph%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/51565
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf563ade4b0bc958675ceaf&request_id=uix9db9357a9be1_61%3AFDKTzMJHq9gzN5Wx%3AMnfDARwmmg2nFRIb%3Aoqhrgs7ho8tpdhph%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64580


Monthly Customer Feedback Report
August 2018

Month:

Fixed-Route 
Local

Fixed-Route 
Shuttle

Stagecoach & 
Muir Woods

Supplemental & 
Yellow Bus

Demand 
Response

Mobility 
Management Systemwide

Commendation 1 0 1 0 3 0 0 5

Service Delivery Complaint 30 5 1 1 1 1 2 41
Accessibility 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
Driver Conduct Complaint 10 0 0 1 0 0 1 12
Driving Complaint 3 0 1 0 0 0 1 5
Early Trip 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
Equipment Issue 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 2
Farebox 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Late Trip 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Missed Connection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Missed Trip 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
No-Show 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 2
Off-Route 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Pass-Up Complaint 12 3 0 0 0 0 0 15

Service Structure Complaint 1 1 4 3 6 0 3 18
Bus Stop Improvement Request 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Fares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Complaint 0 0 2 1 0 0 3 6
Scheduling Complaint 1 1 0 0 6 0 0 8
Service Improvement Suggestion 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 3

Safety Complaint 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Service Hours 9,423 3,678 2,225 309 5,816 - 23,089 23,089
Commendations per 1,000 Hours 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.5 - 0.0 0.2
Complaints per 1,000 Hours 3.3 1.6 2.2 12.9 1.2 - 0.2 2.6

Total Passengers 181,942 33,370 31,355 11,887 11,149 2,329 272,032 272,032
Commendations per 1,000 Passengers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
Complaints per 1,000 Passengers 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.6 0.4 0.0 0.2

August 2018

Category

Program

Total

Page 3 of 3
Item 3b

4



1 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 

Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

SUBJECT: General Manager Report – Monthly Report: 
September 2018 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: This is a recurring information item. 

SUMMARY: The attached monthly report provides an overview of 
Marin Transit operations for the monthly period ending September 
30, 2018. The monthly reports summarize statistics on the 
performance of Marin Transit services and customer comments.  

Overall ridership in September 2018 increased by 0.1 percent 
compared to September 2017. Ridership on fixed-route services 
increased 0.8 percent compared to the same month last year. 
Ridership on Marin Access services decreased by 0.5 percent. 
Ridership on yellow bus services decreased by 11.6 percent. 

Additional detailed analyses of system performance and trends are 
provided in separate quarterly and annual reports, including route-
level statistics and financials. These reports are available on the 
District’s website at http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html.  

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:  None associated with this report. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nancy Whelan 
General Manager 

Attachments 

Item 3b

5

http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html


Fixed-Route Passengers (incl. Yellow Bus) by Month

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Prior Fiscal Year Passengers Current Fiscal Year Passengers

0

80,000

160,000

240,000

320,000

244,200244,200

260,143260,143

282,770282,770 283,298283,298

252,173252,173
245,229245,229

240,883240,883
247,038247,038

277,156277,156

257,876257,876

290,702290,702

253,315253,315
245,214245,214

258,554258,554

283,277283,277

FISCAL YEAR

2019

Demand Response Passengers by Month

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Prior Fiscal Year Passengers Current Fiscal Year Passengers

0

4,000

8,000

12,000

16,000

12,61312,613

13,56413,564 13,42713,427
13,77613,776

13,27913,279

12,07112,071
12,68412,684

12,37012,370

13,79913,799
13,33913,339

14,06214,062
13,61813,61813,70613,706

13,47813,478 13,35413,354

Year-to-Date Ridership Trends

Monthly Monitoring Report 11/16/2018

Page 1/2
Item 3b

6

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bef0001e4b0813e8a0b80f1&request_id=uix932985b5c2a9_114%3AcOOsbJbRIKCGMrFo%3AHzu02gJ3h3f4gDg3%3Am09grh4j1h9nop6w%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50133
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bef0001e4b0813e8a0b80f1&request_id=uix932985b5c2a9_114%3AcOOsbJbRIKCGMrFo%3AHzu02gJ3h3f4gDg3%3Am09grh4j1h9nop6w%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64518


Average Systemwide Daily Passengers

Weekday Saturday Sunday

Prior Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers Current Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

12,000 11,63011,630
11,15511,155

6,7876,787 6,8906,890

5,7395,739
5,9975,997

Productivity (pax/hr) by Typology

1.
 L

oc
al

 T
ru

nk
lin

e

2.
 L

oc
al

 B
as

ic

3.
 L

oc
al

 C
on

ne
ct

or

5.
 R

ur
al

8.
 R

ec
re

at
io

na
l

9.
 D

em
an

d 
Re

sp
on

se

Prior Fiscal Year Productivity Current Fiscal Year Productivity

0.0

8.0

16.0

24.0

32.0

27.427.4
28.328.3

16.816.8 17.017.0

9.79.7 9.99.9

7.67.6 7.67.6

22.222.2

28.328.3

2.22.2 2.02.0

Monthly Statistics
MONTH

September

1. Local Trunkline: 
    Routes 35, 36, 71X 

2. Local Basic: 
    Routes 17, 22, 23, 23X, 29, 49 

3. Local Connector: 
    Routes 219, 228, 233, 245, 251, 257 

5. Rural: 
    Routes 61, 68 

8. Recreational: 
    Routes 66/66F 

9. Demand Response: 
    Local Paratransit, Novato Dial-A-Ride, 
    Rural Dial-A-Ride

Route Typologies

Page 2/2
Item 3b

7

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bef0001e4b0813e8a0b80f1&request_id=uix932985b5c2a9_114%3AcOOsbJbRIKCGMrFo%3AHzu02gJ3h3f4gDg3%3Am09grh4j1h9nop6w%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/51565
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bef0001e4b0813e8a0b80f1&request_id=uix932985b5c2a9_114%3AcOOsbJbRIKCGMrFo%3AHzu02gJ3h3f4gDg3%3Am09grh4j1h9nop6w%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64580


Monthly Customer Feedback Report
September 2018

Month:

Fixed-Route 
Local

Fixed-Route 
Shuttle

Stagecoach & 
Muir Woods

Supplemental & 
Yellow Bus

Demand 
Response

Mobility 
Management Systemwide

Commendation 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Service Delivery Complaint 24 8 2 7 3 0 2 46
Accessibility 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Driver Conduct Complaint 7 0 0 1 1 0 1 10
Driving Complaint 7 0 1 1 1 0 1 11
Early Trip 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 4
Equipment Issue 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Farebox 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Late Trip 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 2
Missed Connection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Missed Trip 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
No-Show 1 3 0 4 0 0 0 8
Off-Route 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2
Pass-Up Complaint 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 8

Service Structure Complaint 4 3 0 2 6 1 1 17
Bus Stop Improvement Request 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fares 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 2
Other Complaint 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Scheduling Complaint 2 0 0 0 4 1 0 7
Service Improvement Suggestion 1 2 0 2 1 0 1 7

Safety Complaint 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Service Hours 8,665 3,400 1,985 688 5,612 - 21,907 21,907
Commendations per 1,000 Hours 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 - 0.0 0.0
Complaints per 1,000 Hours 3.2 3.2 1.0 13.1 1.6 - 0.1 2.9

Total Passengers 187,523 33,658 26,497 35,599 10,992 2,362 296,631 296,631
Commendations per 1,000 Passengers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Complaints per 1,000 Passengers 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.8 0.4 0.0 0.2

September 2018

Category

Program

Total

Page 2 of 3
Item 3b

8



 

1 
 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 
 
 
 
Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA 94903 
 
SUBJECT: General Manager Report – Monthly Report: October 
2018 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: This is a recurring information item.  
 
SUMMARY: The attached monthly report provides an overview of 
Marin Transit operations for the monthly period ending October 31, 
2018. The monthly reports summarize statistics on the performance 
of Marin Transit services and customer comments.  
 
Overall ridership in October 2018 increased by 6.6 percent 
compared to October 2017. Ridership on fixed-route services 
increased 6.7 percent compared to the same month last year. 
Ridership on Marin Access services increased by 10.8 percent. 
Ridership on yellow bus services decreased by 0.7 percent. 
 
 
Additional detailed analyses of system performance and trends are 
provided in separate quarterly and annual reports, including route-
level statistics and financials. These reports are available on the 
District’s website at http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html.  
 
FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:  None associated with this report. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Nancy Whelan 
General Manager 
 
Attachments 

Item 3b

9

http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html


Fixed-Route Passengers (incl. Yellow Bus) by Month

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Prior Fiscal Year Passengers Current Fiscal Year Passengers

0

80,000

160,000

240,000

320,000

244,200244,200

260,143260,143

282,770282,770 283,298283,298

252,173252,173
245,229245,229

240,883240,883
247,038247,038

277,156277,156

257,876257,876

290,702290,702

253,315253,315
245,214245,214

258,554258,554

283,277283,277

301,272301,272

FISCAL YEAR

2019

Demand Response Passengers by Month

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Prior Fiscal Year Passengers Current Fiscal Year Passengers

0

4,000

8,000

12,000

16,000

12,61312,613

13,56413,564 13,42713,427
13,77613,776

13,27913,279

12,07112,071
12,68412,684

12,37012,370

13,79913,799
13,33913,339

14,06214,062
13,61813,61813,70613,706

13,47813,478 13,35413,354

15,26715,267

Year-to-Date Ridership Trends

Monthly Monitoring Report 11/20/2018

Page 1/2
Item 3b

10

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf4aecae4b09f5de600172b&request_id=uixad1508af5d78_82%3AnGRoEibXQymrdNIf%3AAAJncmhvQ9csokIS%3Atcrjphvxd0a27r5i%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/50133
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf4aecae4b09f5de600172b&request_id=uixad1508af5d78_82%3AnGRoEibXQymrdNIf%3AAAJncmhvQ9csokIS%3Atcrjphvxd0a27r5i%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64518


Average Systemwide Daily Passengers

Weekday Saturday Sunday

Prior Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers Current Fiscal Year Average Daily Passengers

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

12,000

11,16911,169
10,88510,885

6,4326,432
6,9396,939

5,0675,067
5,5845,584

Productivity (pax/hr) by Typology

1.
 L

oc
al

 T
ru

nk
lin

e

2.
 L

oc
al

 B
as

ic

3.
 L

oc
al

 C
on

ne
ct

or

5.
 R

ur
al

8.
 R

ec
re

at
io

na
l

9.
 D

em
an

d 
Re

sp
on

se

Prior Fiscal Year Productivity Current Fiscal Year Productivity

0.0

8.0

16.0

24.0

32.0

27.027.0
28.328.3

16.116.1
17.017.0

9.59.5 9.99.9

7.07.0 7.37.3

19.019.0

28.828.8

2.12.1 2.12.1

Monthly Statistics
MONTH

October

1. Local Trunkline: 
    Routes 35, 36, 71X 

2. Local Basic: 
    Routes 17, 22, 23, 23X, 29, 49 

3. Local Connector: 
    Routes 219, 228, 233, 245, 251, 257 

5. Rural: 
    Routes 61, 68 

8. Recreational: 
    Routes 66/66F 

9. Demand Response: 
    Local Paratransit, Novato Dial-A-Ride, 
    Rural Dial-A-Ride

Route Typologies

Page 2/2
Item 3b

11

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf4aecae4b09f5de600172b&request_id=uixad1508af5d78_82%3AnGRoEibXQymrdNIf%3AAAJncmhvQ9csokIS%3Atcrjphvxd0a27r5i%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/51565
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=a489474901cb&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bf4aecae4b09f5de600172b&request_id=uixad1508af5d78_82%3AnGRoEibXQymrdNIf%3AAAJncmhvQ9csokIS%3Atcrjphvxd0a27r5i%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/64580


Monthly Customer Feedback Report
October 2018

Month:

Fixed-Route 
Local

Fixed-Route 
Shuttle

Stagecoach & 
Muir Woods

Supplemental & 
Yellow Bus

Demand 
Response

Mobility 
Management Systemwide

Commendation 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4

Service Delivery Complaint 45 7 2 14 2 1 0 71
Accessibility 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 2
Driver Conduct Complaint 15 2 0 1 0 1 0 19
Driving Complaint 11 1 1 2 0 0 0 15
Early Trip 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
Equipment Issue 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
Farebox 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Late Trip 3 1 0 0 1 0 0 5
Missed Connection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Missed Trip 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
No-Show 1 1 1 2 0 0 0 5
Off-Route 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1
Pass-Up Complaint 11 1 0 7 0 0 0 19

Service Structure Complaint 1 0 1 0 2 2 3 9
Bus Stop Improvement Request 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3
Fares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Complaint 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
Scheduling Complaint 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 4
Service Improvement Suggestion 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Safety Complaint 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Service Hours 9,420 3,678 1,733 843 6,251 - 23,526 23,526
Commendations per 1,000 Hours 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 - 0.0 0.2
Complaints per 1,000 Hours 4.9 1.9 1.7 16.6 0.6 - 0.1 3.4

Total Passengers 203,289 36,273 19,709 42,001 12,823 2,444 316,539 316,539
Commendations per 1,000 Passengers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.0 0.0
Complaints per 1,000 Passengers 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 1.2 0.0 0.3

October 2018

Category

Program

Total

Page 1 of 3
Item 3b

12



REGULAR MEETING OF THE MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS 

Held Monday, November 5, 2018 at 10:00 A.M. 

Roll Call 

Present:  President Moulton-Peters, Vice President Connolly, Second Vice 
President Rodoni, Director Colin, Director Rice, Director Sears 

Absent:      Director Arnold 

Director Lucan was in attendance as a non-voting member 

President Moulton-Peters opened the meeting at 10:07 am. 

1. Open Time for Public Expression (limited to three minutes per speaker on
items not on the Transit District’s agenda)

No one came forward to speak.

2. Board of Directors’ Matters

President Moulton-Peters asked if any member of the Board wished to speak.
Seeing none she called for the General Manager’s report.

3. General Manager’s Report 

a. General Manager’s Report

General Manager Nancy Whelan reported on the Electric Bus Ribbon Cutting 
Ceremony, which was very successful and well attended. Two fully electric 
buses were introduced at the ceremony, and a test ride was offered. The two 
electric buses are being tested on drives as far as Petaluma to measure the 
distance they can travel on a charge. Driver training will take place over the 
next several weeks, and Marin Transit anticipates that the buses will be in 
regular passenger service by the end of the calendar year.  

General Manager Nancy Whelan expressed her gratitude to Board President 
Stephanie Moulton-Peters and members of the Board that were able to attend 
the ceremony. 

Ms. Whelan reported on the Marin Senior Fair that took place on October 24, 
2018 where Marin Transit showcased Marin Access senior services.  This year 
Spanish signage was added, and Marin Transit provided a Spanish speaker to 
explain our services and distribute materials translated into Spanish.  

On October 25th, Marin Transit participated in the Sustainable Enterprise 

Item 4a

13

http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978562
http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978562
http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978563
http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978564
http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978564
http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978564


conference in San Rafael.  Staff brought a Marin Transit Connect van, gave 
away postcards with discount codes, provided information, and helped 
attendees sign up for the Connect service.  
 
Ms. Whelan noted that the November election will have significant financial 
impacts in 2019-20 and beyond. Marin Transit does not anticipate that the 
results of the election will have an impact for the current fiscal year. Marin 
Transit will return later this fiscal year with an analysis of the impacts.  

 
Ms. Whelan noted that there is no monthly monitoring report in this month’s 
Board packet and that the August report will be included in next month’s 
packet. 

 
4. Consent Calendar 

 
a. Minutes for September 6, 2018 
b. Resolution Authorizing the Filing of an Application with the Metropolitan 

Transportation Commission for Transportation Development Act/State 
Transit Assistance Funds for Fiscal year 2018/19 

c. Marin Transit Fourth Quarter FY 2018/19 Performance 
 
Director Kate Colin requested that the Board pull item 4b for review. Ms. Colin 
stated that she did not have enough information about the item to vote on it.  
 
General Manager Nancy Whelan noted that this is the fifth cycle of Lifeline 
Program funds.  In Marin County, Lifeline funds are reserved for projects 
identified in a community-based transportation plan.  Community-based plans 
have been developed in the City of Novato, the Canal neighborhood in San 
Rafael, and unincorporated Marin City. As the local transit provider, Marin 
Transit is the primary local transit provider in each of these communities, and 
over 50 percent of Marin Transit riders live in the Canal. In the past, Marin 
Transit has used Lifeline funds to significantly increase service frequency and 
provide better connections to these communities. 
 
General Manager Nancy Whelan noted that the early cycles of the Lifeline 
program included a variety of funding sources that could be used for transit 
improvements and other non-transit transportation improvements like street 
lighting and sidewalks. Ms. Whelan noted that in the last couple of cycles only 
transit dollars have been available and must be claimed by transit operators 
for transit-only projects. The Transit Authority of Marin (TAM) issued its Cycle 
5 Lifeline call for projects for projects identified in the Community Based 
Transportation Plans.  
 
TAM approved Lifeline funding for two Marin Transit projects and two projects 
sponsored by Marin City and San Rafael. Because the Marin City and San 
Rafael projects were not eligible for the transit funds in this cycle of Lifeline, 
the TAM Executive Director requested that Marin Transit swap the Lifeline 
funds for Measure A Local Transit funds.  

Item 4a

14

http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978566
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978568
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978570
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978570
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978570
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978572


 
Director Katie Rice remarked that the item was discussed at the Projects and 
Programs Executive Committee of the Transportation Authority of Marin 
(TAM), and that there was an extensive conversation with the understanding 
that everything was getting funded by redistributing grant funds. Ms. Rice 
remarked that there was some discomfort, but ultimately the Executive 
Committee decided to move forward with this proposal for a swap of funds. 
 
Director Sears noted that swaps can provide needed funding flexibility.  

 
{Director Arnold present at 10:19 am} 

 
  Recommended Action: Approve. 

  M/s: Director Sears - Director Rice 

Ayes: President Moulton-Peters, Vice President Connolly, Second Vice 
President Rodoni, Director Arnold, Director Colin, Director Rice, Director 
Sears 

  Noes: None 

  Absent: None 
 
5. Update on East San Rafael Transit Efforts  

 
Staff Report 
  

 Director of Operations and Planning Robert Betts provided an update on the 
East San Rafael Transit Improvement Study. Mr. Betts noted that in 2015, 
Marin Transit staff initiated an effort to better understand the transit needs of 
the eastern area of San Rafael where public transit has been minimal. Staff 
collected and analyzed demographic data from the US Census as the first step 
in assessing emerging transit needs in the community. The census data was 
drawn from currently available at time of study (2013) and historic (2000, 
2010) data that summarized statistics regarding population, age, employment 
status, household size, transportation to work, and auto ownership. 
 
Staff also reached out to Point San Pedro School staff to discuss transit needs 
with students and parents. Survey responses were collected from 62 parents 
from the school, and all responses were submitted in Spanish. 
 
Based on analysis of the survey results and demographic data, staff identified 
the following potential needs and markets for a new transit service in the 
study area. These include: Senior transportation services for residents, San 
Francisco commuter services for residents, and transit options for employees 
and parents. 
 

Item 4a

15

http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978573
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978574


The second phase of work consisted of additional outreach to the community 
to vet these service options and identified markets. Nearly 300 people 
participated in either the online survey or the community meetings. 
 
Staff incorporated this input into the update of the Short-Range Transit Plan to 
further define the unmet needs for this area. The Marin Transit Board of 
Directors adopted this updated plan in December 2017. 
 
Since adoption of the Short-Range Transit Plan, District staff have been 
working internally and with Golden Gate Transit to identify services to address 
these unmet needs. The following is a summary of the efforts to address the 
needs of the three primary markets identified in the outreach efforts:  

• Weekday, peak hour service through extension of fixed route (Route 
31) service between East San Rafael, the San Rafael Transit 
Center/SMART station, and the Larkspur Ferry Terminal;  

• Weekday, midday service through extension of fixed route (Route 122) 
service between East San Rafael, the San Rafael Transit Center/SMART 
station, San Anselmo, and the College of Marin; and  

• Expansion of the Paratransit Service Area to East San Rafael. 
 
Mr. Betts noted that Marin Transit will monitor these changes to determine 
whether to make permanent changes to local fixed route and Marin Access 
services.  The Board expressed their appreciation for the study and noted that 
the data is incredibly valuable for identifying the specific needs of the 
communities. President Moulton-Peters remarked that she would like to see 
similar studies conducted in more jurisdictions, especially Mill Valley, Southern 
Marin, and Central Marin.  

  
 Recommended Action: Approve report. 

 M/s: Vice President Connolly - Director Sears 

Ayes: President Moulton-Peters, Vice President Connolly, Second Vice 
President Rodoni, Director Arnold, Director Colin, Director Rice, Director 
Sears 

  Noes: None 

  Absent: None 
  
6. Summary of Findings from Marin County Bus Stop Conditions Assessment  

 
Staff Report 
 
Senior Capital Analyst Anna Penoyar presented an information item regarding 
the Marin Transit bus stops. Ms. Penoyar discussed the condition of Marin 
Transit bus stops, improvements to stops since 2008, and the process for 
prioritizing future stop improvements. 
 

Item 4a

16

http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978575
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978576


Ms. Penoyar noted that there are 666 bus stops in Marin County. Local and 
regional routes both serve 338 stops, 245 stops are local Marin Transit service 
only, and 83 are regional-only stops served by Golden Gate Transit (GGT).  
 
Ms. Penoyar noted that over the last five years Marin Transit has completed 
several bus stop capital improvement projects. These range from updating bus 
stop signage to the complete redesign of Redwood & Grant, the major transfer 
stop in Novato. 
 
In 2013 Marin Transit updated Bus Stop Signage throughout the county. This 
changed the signs from simple “Bus Stop” blades to include route, destination, 
and frequency information at each stop. The signs also have a Stop ID 
number that riders can use to obtain real-time information predictions through 
511 or Marin Transit’s website. 
 
Ms. Penoyar noted that there are three different methods for regular ongoing 
bus stop maintenance. The City of San Rafael and Golden Gate Bridge and 
Highway Transportation District (GGBHTD) each contract with an advertising 
shelter company that owns and maintain shelters in the City of San Rafael and 
along the 101-Corridor. The City of Novato had a contract with an advertising 
shelter company for 35 stops that ended earlier this year. The advertiser 
chose not to renew the contract and Novato city staff is in communication with 
GGBHTD and the District on possible alternatives. 
 
Regarding future improvements, Ms. Penoyar noted that Marin Transit is 
planning to install additional Real Time Information Signs in San Rafael in the 
Canal Area and throughout Novato with funds from a Lifeline grant. These 
signs will pull real-time data from both GGBHTD regional routes and Marin 
Transit local routes. Until recently, the District’s real-time signs could only 
read a data feed from one agency at a time. This could be confusing or 
frustrating for passenger to see real-time information for only some of the 
routes serving a stop. This deficiency prevented more widespread installation 
of these signs.  
 
The District’s Bus Stop Inventory project included a contract to provide 
preliminary design work to improve 25 more stops. Marin Transit will prioritize 
the selected stops based on accessibility, ridership, operational issues, and 
community requests. Staff will continue to seek funding and grant 
opportunities for additional prioritized stop improvements throughout Marin. 
 
Director Kate Colin suggested that Marin Transit might consider a program like 
adopt-a-highway as a bus stop maintenance alternative.  
 
Director Eric Lucan remarked that he was saddened to see the graffiti at the 
Redwood and Grant station on the graffiti-resistant glass. Director Lucan 
asked how this will be corrected. Ms. Penoyar responded that the District is 
replacing the glass and testing a new coating that is more graffiti-resistant. 
General Manager Nancy Whelan remarked that Marin Transit has contractors 

Item 4a

17



that do improvements and repairs. This graffiti was particularly potent 
because it was etched with some sort of acidic paint.  
 
Recommended Action: Information item only.  

 
7. Marin Transit FY 2017/18 System Performance Report  

 
Staff Report 
  
Director of Operations and Planning Robert Betts summarized the 
operational performance of all Marin Transit local transit services for 
Fiscal Year 2017/18, and compared the results to the District’s route 
level performance goals adopted by the Marin Transit Board on April 2, 
2018.  

In FY 2017/18, there was an overall 2.6 percent increase in fixed route 
ridership compared to the previous fiscal year. This is a positive trend 
given that bus ridership generally declined nationwide during FY 
2017/18. Despite increases in ridership, systemwide passenger revenue 
experienced a slight decline (-1.4 percent) in FY 2017/18 compared to 
last year. Overall farebox recovery also decreased from 17.6 percent in 
FY 2016/17 to 15.7 percent in FY 2017/18. 
 
Mr. Betts summarized the seven service typologies and their respective 
productivity and subsidy goals. All typologies except one collectively 
met their productivity goal, and all except two did not meet their 
subsidy goals. Of the 27 routes in operation that have performance 
targets, 12 Marin Transit routes continue to operate below their Board-
adopted goal for productivity and 18 routes do not meet their cost-
effectiveness goal. Marin Transit will continue to monitor these routes to 
assess whether to make any future adjustments. Marin Transit 
eliminated a series of underproductive trips on Routes 22, 23x, 29, 228, 
and 251 in June 2018.  Mr. Betts noted that Marin Transit continues to 
monitor service to identify potential service changes to improve 
performance and will present these to the Board for consideration as 
necessary. 

Director Eric Lucan asked if there is any evidence that Marin Transit 
ridership increased during the first full year of SMART. 

Mr. Betts responded that Marin Transit is able to see transfer activity 
between SMART and local transit. He noted that there is not a 
significant increase, and not likely attributed to SMART. 

Item 4a

18

http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978577
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978578


Director Katie Rice asked how Marin Transit differentiates between the 
users of the volunteer driver program, the on-demand service, and the 
dial-a-ride programs. 

Mr. Betts answered that the volunteer driver program use was down 
seven percent last year. Marin Transit supports two volunteer driver 
programs. The Marin Access Strategic Analysis Study provides detail on 
who uses each of the Marin Access programs. Riders are using other 
Marin Access programs in conjunction, combining use of volunteer 
drivers, paratransit, or catch-a-ride.  

Director Katie Rice asked for clarification on subsidy per passenger 
targets and how they relate to productivity targets.  

Mr. Betts responded that Marin Transit has not raised fares in a long 
time, which corresponds to relatively steady fare revenues from year to 
year. Low base fares and other types of institutional programs like the 
Class Pass, College of Marin Pass focus on getting more riders into the 
service. Mr. Betts noted that the ridership growth Marin Transit has 
seen has not kept pace with operating costs. Mr. Betts remarked that 
the District will update the fare policy to encourage riders to use lower 
cost services, while charging premium prices for the services that are 
more expensive to provide.  

Recommended Action: Accept Report. 

M/s: Director Sears - Director Rice 

Ayes: President Moulton-Peters, Vice President Connolly, Second Vice 
President Rodoni, Director Arnold, Director Colin, Director Rice, Director 
Sears 

Noes: None 

Absent: None  
  
8. Marin Transit FY 2017/18 Financial Report  

 
Staff Report 
  
Lauren Gradia, Director of Finance and Capital Programs reported that 
Marin Transit ended the Fiscal Year 2017/18 in a strong financial 
position. This was due to continued property tax and sales tax revenue 
growth combined with new state funding from the State SB1 gas tax. 
These revenues enabled the District to sustain increased services levels, 
invest in ten new locally built hybrid electric transit buses, and 
contribute $3.7 million to the District’s reserves.  

Item 4a

19

http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978579
http://marin.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978580


Ms. Gradia noted that Between July 1, 2017 and June 30, 2018 (Fiscal 
Year 2017/18), Marin Transit’s total expenditures for Operations and 
Capital Programs were $40,127,580. Operation expenses were seven 
percent higher than the previous year, and expenses were four percent 
below budget. Operation revenues were six percent higher than the 
prior year, and two percent below budget. 

Marin Transit is actively looking for land to invest in a District-owned 
maintenance and parking facility.  This will enable the District to reduce 
contracting risk, help ensure sustainability, and invest in electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure. The November 2018 election and the results of 
two ballot measures will impact Marin Transit’s future funding. Marin 
Transit staff will work with the Board to review ten-year revenue and 
expense projections and, if applicable, evaluate options for reinvesting 
available resources in the future. 

Recommended Action: Accept Report. 

M/s: Director Arnold - Director Sears 

Ayes: President Moulton-Peters, Vice President Connolly, Second Vice 
President Rodoni, Director Arnold, Director Colin, Director Rice, Director 
Sears 

Noes: None 

Absent: None 
 
Adjourn President Moulton-Peters adjourned the meeting at 11:11 am and the 
Board went into closed session. 
 
Report from Closed Session 
President Moulton-Peters reported that no action was taken. 
   
    SINE DIE 
  
  

 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 
PRESIDENT 

 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
CLERK 

  

 

Item 4a

20

http://marin.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=31&clip_id=9267&meta_id=978581


*Board meetings are typically at 10 am the first Monday of the month. Alternate dates and
times selected due to room availability. All meetings held in the Marin County Board of
Supervisors’ Chambers, Room 330.

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

Marin County Transit District
Board Meeting Dates for 2019 

 
 

January 7 
 Location: TBD 

February 4 

March 4 

April 1 

May 6 

June 3 

July 1 

August 5 

September 9* 

October 7* 
Meeting Start Time: 1PM-3PM 

November 4 

December 2 

Item 4b

21



 

1 
 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 
 
 
 
Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA  94903 
 
SUBJECT: Marin County Transit District First Quarter FY 2018/19 
Financial Report 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Accept report and approve associated budget 
amendments. 
 
SUMMARY: The quarterly report is an opportunity for your Board to 
review the District’s financial status and to provide fiscal and 
operational accountability. This report represents all financial 
transactions for the District through the first quarter of Fiscal Year 
2018/19 and requires approval of three associated budget amendments 
 
Unaudited revenues and expenditures are shown on a full accrual basis 
consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for 
special districts.  All known revenues and expenditures for the period 
are reported even if they have not been received or are awaiting 
payment. This includes recorded estimates for property tax and other 
significant transactions.   
 
First quarter operations expenses and revenues were consistent with 
the Board-adopted budget.   
 
Operating Expenses 
FY 2018/19 operating expenditures through the first quarter 
(Attachment A, Page 1) are $7,804,059, which is 24 percent of the 
annual budget of $32,464,675. With these expenditures, Marin Transit 
successfully delivered the transit services identified in Table 1.   
 
Operating Revenue 
Marin Transit’s FY2018/19 operating revenues through the first quarter 
(Attachment A, Page 1) are $8,529,364 or 24 percent of the annual 
budget of $35,552,323.  
 
 
 
 

Item 4c

22



2 

Table 1: FY 2018/19 Year to Date (YTD) thru First Quarter Service Operations 

Service 
Annual 

Estimated 
Revenue Hours  

YTD thru Q1 
Actual 

Revenue 
Hours 

% of Annual 

Regular Local and Trunk Line 116,000 27,224 23% 
Community Shuttles 43,500 10,658 25% 
Local Supplemental School1 7,100 997 14% 
Muir Woods Shuttle 6,810 2,667 39% 
Novato Dial-A-Ride 2,400 539 22% 
West Marin Stagecoach Service 16,400 4,278 26% 
Rural Dial A Ride 435 81 19% 
Transit Connect 10,988 1,710 16% 
Local Paratransit Service 62,491 14,891 24% 
Regional Paratransit Service 9,500 1,896 20% 
Yellow School Bus Service 6 buses - - 

Service 
Annual YTD thru Q1 

Actual Trips % of Annual 
Estimated Trips 

Catch A Ride 15,000 3,595 24% 
Volunteer Driver 14,800 3,755 25% 

Capital Budget 
Through the first quarter, Marin Transit’s expenditures in the Capital Budget (Attachment A, Page 1) 
were $603,538 or four percent of the $14 million budget. Capital revenues typically tie closely to 
expenditures as they tend to be on a reimbursement basis. The primary expenditures were three 
paratransit vehicles and one transit shuttle vehicle.  Attachment C includes a complete Capital Report 
for all major Marin Transit capital projects for the current period.  

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:  This item includes the adoption of three administrative budget 
amendments (Attachment B).  Amendment 2019-01 adjusts the current year capital project budgets 
based on the final FY2017/18 actuals to retain the total project budgets.  This increases the 
FY2018/19 capital revenue and expenses by $1.73 million.  The shifting of costs between fiscal years 
does not change the multi-year capital costs for the projects.  

In accordance with the multi-year project list your Board adopted on February 26,2018, Amendment 
2018-02 adds the District’s FY2018/19 allocation of State Transit Assistance and State of Good 
Repair funds to the rural vehicle replacement project (XB).  This amendment has no impact on the 
total capital budget and reduced the amount of local funding needed for the vehicle purchase.     

Item 4c

23



3 
 

Amendment 2018-03 adds equipment budgets for the local and rural programs to allow for the 
purchase of low value fare collection and other equipment.  The net fiscal impact of the budget 
amendment is to increase the annual operations budget by $6,352.  
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Lauren Gradia 
Director of Finance and Capital Projects 
 
Attachment A:  FY2017/18 First Quarter Financial Report 
Attachment B:  FY2017/18 Budget Amendments   
Attachment C:  Capital Project Report 

Item 4c

24



Attachment A Marin Transit 

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report

From 7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

Summary

FY2017/18 Actual
Total Budget - 

Original
Total Budget - 

Revised
Current Period 

Actual
Percent Total 
Budget Used

Revenue
         Capital 11,485,678 11,333,301 11,328,301 505,580 4.46%
         Vehicle Operations 32,344,147 35,552,323 35,552,323 8,529,364 23.99%
      Total Revenue 43,829,824 46,885,624 46,880,624 9,034,944 19.27%

Expenditures
         Capital 11,517,302 14,333,301 14,333,301 603,538 4.21%
         Vehicle Operations 28,610,278 32,464,675 32,464,675 7,804,059 24.04%
      Total Expenditures 40,127,579 46,797,976 46,797,976 8,407,597 17.97%

Net Revenue Over Expenditures 3,702,245 87,648 82,648 627,347 759.06%

page 1

Item 4c

25



Attachment A Marin Transit

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report

From 7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

FY2017/18 
Actual

Total Budget - 
Original

Total Budget - 
Revised

Current Period 
Actual

Percent Total 
Budget Used

Fare Revenue 4,044,536 4,227,620 4,227,620 1,023,219 24.20%
Advertising & Other Revenue 424,774 412,206 412,206 107,180 26.00%
Reimbursements (GGBHTD, WSW) 1,943,098 2,026,564 2,026,564 504,641 24.90%
Interest 118,552 70,250 70,250 0 0.00%
Measure A 13,255,076 14,046,064 14,046,065 3,024,343 21.53%
Measure A Interest 85,000 85,000 85,000 85,000 100.00%
Measure B 817,779 1,120,000 1,120,000 145,399 12.98%
Property Taxes 4,294,379 4,436,683 4,436,683 986,803 22.24%
Development Fees 47,832 58,200 58,200 0 0.00%
State Transit Assistance (STA) 1,285,220 1,841,702 1,841,702 449,582 24.41%
Transit Development Act (TDA) 4,614,306 5,109,399 5,109,399 1,277,350 25.00%
Other State 147,950 354,524 354,524 93,737 26.44%
FTA Funds 1,151,839 1,351,823 1,351,823 780,751 57.75%
National Park Service 154,887 458,000 458,000 67,125 14.65%
Transfer to Capital Budget (41,080) (45,713) (45,712) (15,766) 34.49%
Total Revenue 32,344,147 35,552,321 35,552,323 8,529,364 23.99%

Salaries and Benefits 2,025,436 2,556,016 2,556,016 550,850 21.55%
Professional Service 555,159 558,531 558,531 65,001 11.63%
Professional Service - Legal 72,323 150,000 150,000 12,383 8.25%
Security and Maintenance 260,715 296,504 296,504 61,993 20.90%
Customer Service 528,266 783,263 783,263 150,673 19.23%
Indirect County Overhead 2,009 2,575 2,575 0 0.00%
Mobility Management Support Programs 8,363 24,835 24,835 550 2.21%
Office Supplies 193,344 217,536 217,536 96,813 44.50%
General Insurance 27,860 29,870 29,870 36,166 121.07%
Contract Service Operation 22,693,306 25,119,706 25,119,706 6,067,833 24.15%
Membership & Prof Development 20,502 61,800 61,800 6,058 9.80%
Mileage and Travel 15,925 23,690 23,690 2,458 10.37%
Marketing 98,035 243,881 243,881 47,690 19.55%
Communication 171,216 198,436 198,436 112,365 56.62%
Fuel 2,161,544 2,431,546 2,431,546 672,074 27.63%
Misc Services 321 1,044 1,044 0 0.00%
Vehicle and Vehicle Parking Leases 23,280 23,980 23,980 4,796 20.00%
Office - Rental and Overhead 98,832 137,000 137,000 24,888 18.16%
Partner Agency Pass Through 85,000 85,000 85,000 0 0.00%
Transfer to Capital Budget (431,158) (480,538) (480,538) (108,533) 22.58%
Total Expenses 28,610,278 32,464,675 32,464,675 7,804,059 24.04%
Net Revenue Over Expenditures 3,733,869 3,087,647 3,087,648 725,305 23.49%

Operations Summary: Admin, Local, Yellow, Rural, Marin Access

page 2

Item 4c

26



Marin Transit 

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report

From 7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

FY2017/18 
Actual

Total Budget - 
Original

Total Budget - 
Revised

Current Period 
Actual

Percent Total 
Budget Used

Revenue
         Interest 4070400 118,552 70,250 70,250 1 0.00%
         Development Fees 4079950 19,358 18,200 18,200 0 0.00%
         Residual ABX 126 4079954 23,474 40,000 40,000 0 0.00%
         PropTax-CurrntSecured 4080101 3,770,414 3,947,211 3,947,211 986,803 24.99%
         County Fee-SV2557Admin Basic Tax 4080102 (59,624) (62,681) (62,681) 0 0.00%
         Property Tax-Unitary 4080103 35,759 35,000 35,000 0 0.00%
         PropTax-CurrntUnSecur 4080104 75,311 73,000 73,000 0 0.00%
         Educ Rev Augm Fund-Redist 4080105 374,098 350,000 350,000 0 0.00%
         PropTax-Supp CY SECR 4080106 91,626 87,685 87,685 0 0.00%
         PropTax-Supp Unsecured 4080107 1,311 1,000 1,000 0 0.00%
         PropTax-Redemtion 4080108 1,516 1,500 1,500 0 0.00%
         Property Tax-Prior Unsecured 4080109 3,969 3,968 3,968 0 0.00%
        Other 4090101 151 0 0 0 0.00%
         Other State 4119940 334 300 300 0 0.00%
      Total Revenue 4,456,249 4,565,433 4,565,433 986,804 21.61%
Transfers
         Property Tax Transfer 4700001 (327,767) (961,798) (961,797) (213,476) 22.20%
      Total Transfers (327,767) (961,798) (961,797) (213,476) 22.20%
Net Revenue 4,128,481 3,603,635 3,603,636 773,328 21.46%

Expense
         Salaries 5010200 1,289,452 1,673,909 1,673,909 401,277 23.97%
         Employee Benefits 5020000 735,983 882,107 882,107 149,574 16.95%
         Consultant Services 5030301 156,324 175,000 175,000 27,482 15.70%
         Prof Svcs - Legal 5030304 72,323 150,000 150,000 12,383 8.25%
         Prof Svcs - Accounting and Audit 5030305 31,091 32,561 32,561 0 0.00%
         Office Supplies 5049901 7,726 14,000 14,000 2,862 20.44%
         Small Furn/Equip 5049902 5,494 13,000 13,000 1,005 7.73%
         Software 5049903 57,032 60,000 60,000 44,047 73.41%
         Copier Suppl & Srvc 5049904 8,382 9,167 9,167 2,117 23.08%
         Postage 5049905 883 3,090 3,090 1,012 32.74%
         Computers 5049906 23,077 20,000 20,000 5,970 29.84%
         Communication - Phone 5050201 26,028 31,230 31,230 7,422 23.76%
         Insurance - Gen Liability 5060301 27,860 29,870 29,870 36,166 121.07%
         Membership & Prof Development 5090101 20,502 61,800 61,800 6,058 9.80%
         Mileage and Travel 5090202 15,925 23,690 23,690 2,458 10.37%
         Marketing 5090801 7,531 12,731 12,731 1,493 11.72%
         County Fee - Special District 5100401 2,009 2,575 2,575 0 0.00%
         Office Rental 5121200 98,832 137,000 137,000 24,888 18.16%
      Total Expense 2,586,453 3,331,730 3,331,730 726,213 21.80%
Transfers
       Salary/Benefit Transfers 5100100 (1,879,313) (2,341,936) (2,341,936) (523,081) 22.33%
       Transfer Overhead 5100101 (312,530) (473,809) (473,809) (86,988) 18.35%
      Total Transfers (2,191,843) (2,815,745) (2,815,745) (610,070) 21.67%
Total Expense 394,611 515,985 515,985 116,143 22.50%

Detail: Administration

page 3

Item 4c

27



Marin Transit 

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report

From 7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

FY2017/18 
Actual

Total Budget - 
Original

Total Budget - 
Revised

Current Period 
Actual

Percent Total 
Budget Used

Revenue
         Special Fares - Paid By Another Agency 4020000 452,559 416,387 416,387 233,394 56.05%

         Advertising Revenue 4060301 280,788 245,552 245,552 69,548 28.32%
         Lease of Property 4070301 143,986 166,654 166,654 37,632 22.58%
         Donations 4070500 5,000 0 0 0 0.00%
         Fee For Service 4090101 1,679 0 0 1,725 -
         Measure A Sales Tax 4092001 9,759,362 10,173,000 10,173,000 2,393,862 23.53%
         Measure A Sales tax - Interest 4092003 85,000 85,000 85,000 85,000 100.00%
         State Transit Assistance 4110101 1,224,816 1,744,814 1,744,814 434,582 24.91%
         Transit Develoment Act (TDA) 4110102 4,614,306 5,109,399 5,109,399 1,277,350 25.00%
         State- Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 4119904 128,676 335,724 335,724 93,737 27.92%

         Fed-FTA 5307 Urbanized Area Formula 4139910 222,210 0 0 0 0.00%
         National Park Service 4139951 154,736 458,000 458,000 67,124 14.66%
         Fed-FTA 5304 State Planning 4139961 20,000 0 0 0 0.00%
         Fare Revenue 4140100 2,661,614 2,773,337 2,773,337 639,510 23.05%
      Total Revenue 19,754,732 21,507,867 21,507,867 5,333,464 24.80%
Transfers
         Property Tax Transfer 4700001 23,281 373,760 373,760 33,841 9.05%
         Program Revenue Transfer 4700002 85,151 80,000 80,000 0 0.00%
      Total Transfers 108,432 453,760 453,760 33,841 7.46%
Net Revenue 19,863,164 21,961,627 21,961,627 5,367,305 24.44%

Expense
         Consultant Services 5030301 233,346 206,000 206,000 9,706 4.71%
         Fare Processing Charges 5030310 31,948 14,653 14,653 2,513 17.15%
         Customer Service 5030320 267,781 301,393 301,393 75,787 25.14%
         Custodial Service 5030602 15,943 21,315 21,315 0 0.00%
         Security Services 5030701 243,313 273,389 273,389 61,724 22.57%
         Fuel 5040101 1,488,446 1,695,743 1,695,743 449,823 26.52%
         Small Furn/Equipment 5049902 0 0 0 2,186 -
         Software 5049903 20,750 22,660 22,660 0 0.00%
         Communication-AVL 5050205 69,257 91,592 91,592 47,754 52.13%
         Communication-Data 5050206 2,311 2,925 2,925 536 18.32%
         Purchased Transportation - In Report 5080101 16,119,070 17,539,220 17,539,220 4,279,238 24.39%
         Marketing 5090801 61,053 101,065 101,065 28,544 28.24%
         Expense Transfer - GGT Pass Through 5100404 85,000 85,000 85,000 0 0.00%
         Signs 5122010 321 1,044 1,044 0 0.00%
      Total Expense 18,638,538 20,355,999 20,355,999 4,957,811 24.36%
Transfers
         Cost Center Salary/Benefit Transfers 5100100 1,050,010 1,417,739 1,417,739 293,074 20.67%
         Cost Center Transfer Overhead 5100101 174,617 187,889 187,889 48,738 25.93%
      Total Transfers 1,224,626 1,605,628 1,605,628 341,812 21.29%
Total Expense 19,863,164 21,961,627 21,961,627 5,299,623 24.13%

Detail: Local Service

page 4

Item 4c

28



Marin Transit 

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report

From 7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

FY2017/18 
Actual

Total Budget - 
Original

Total Budget - 
Revised

Current Period 
Actual

Percent Total 
Budget Used

Revenue
         Yellow Bus Fares - Paid by other Agency 4030000 145,000 145,000 145,000 0 0.00%

         Fee For Service 4090101 121,485 109,910 109,910 31,642 28.78%
         Measure A Sales Tax 4092001 201,490 227,000 227,000 81,973 36.11%
         Fare Revenue - Yellow Bus 4140105 372,485 402,740 402,740 42,846 10.63%
      Total Revenue 840,459 884,650 884,650 156,460 17.69%
Net Revenue 840,459 884,650 884,650 156,460 17.68%

Expense
         Consultant Services 5030301 5,485 3,000 3,000 3,816 127.19%
         Fare Processing Charges 5030310 12,215 15,521 15,521 7,950 51.21%
         Custodial Service 5030602 1,459 1,800 1,800 269 14.94%
         Small Furn/Equip 5049902 0 1,800 1,800 287 37.28%
         Software 5049903 690 0 0 78 0.00%
         Communication-AVL 5050205 13,180 12,825 12,825 12,825 100.00%
         Communication-Data 5050206 8,311 9,270 9,270 2,040 22.00%
         Yellow Bus School Service 5080103 616,786 624,240 624,240 93,058 14.90%
         Marketing 5090801 2,343 0 0 22 0.00%
         Leases and Rentals 5120401 23,280 23,980 23,980 4,796 20.00%
      Total Expense 683,749 692,436 692,436 125,141 18.07%
Transfers
         Cost Center Salary/Benefit Transfers 5100100 134,366 147,462 147,462 26,477 17.95%
         Cost Center Transfer Overhead 5100101 22,345 44,753 44,753 4,403 9.83%
      Total Transfers 156,711 192,215 192,215 30,880 16.07%
Total Expense 840,459 884,651 884,651 156,021 17.64%

Detail: Yellow Bus Service

page 5

Item 4c

29



Marin Transit 

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report

From 7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

FY2017/18 
Actual

Total Budget - 
Original

Total Budget - 
Revised

Current Period 
Actual

Percent Total 
Budget Used

Revenue
         Measure A Sales Tax 4092001 1,139,691 988,648 988,648 247,500 25.03%
         Fed-FTA 5311 Rural 4139920 208,393 198,750 198,750 51,069 25.69%
         Fare Revenue 4140100 119,005 121,794 121,794 30,263 24.84%
      Total Revenue 1,467,088 1,309,192 1,309,192 328,832 25.12%
Transfers
         Property Tax Transfer 4700001 0 542,325 542,325 156,619 28.88%
      Total Transfers 0 542,325 542,325 156,619 28.88%
Net Revenue 1,467,088 1,851,517 1,851,517 485,451 26.22%

Expense
         Consultant Services 5030301 21,754 16,883 16,883 189 1.12%
         Fare Processing Charges 5030310 192,010 203,676 203,676 65,612 32.21%
         Fuel 5040101 0 0 0 165 0.00%
         Communication-AVL 5050205 15,936 15,931 15,931 15,145 95.06%
         Communication-Data 5050206 831 1,030 1,030 208 20.17%
         Purchased Transportation - In Report 5080101 1,146,382 1,453,681 1,453,681 372,200 25.60%
         Purchased Transportation - Regional 5080102 0 0 0 0 0.00%
         Marketing 5090801 11,960 32,173 32,173 2,786 8.65%
      Total Expense 1,388,874 1,723,373 1,723,373 456,304 26.48%
Transfers
         Cost Center Salary/Benefit Transfers 5100100 67,062 98,308 98,308 24,991 25.42%
         Cost Center Transfer Overhead 5100101 11,152 29,835 29,835 4,156 13.92%
      Total Transfers 78,215 128,143 128,143 29,147 22.75%
Total Expense 1,467,089 1,851,517 1,851,517 485,451 26.21%

Detail: Rural Service

page 6

Item 4c

30



Marin Transit 

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report

From 7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

Detail: Marin Access
FY2017/18 

Actual
Total Budget - 

Original
Total Budget - 

Revised
Current Period 

Actual
Percent Total 
Budget Used

Revenue
         Measure A Sales Tax 4092001 2,154,534 2,657,416 2,657,417 301,008 11.32%
         Measure B 4099950 817,779 1,120,000 1,120,000 145,399 12.98%
         State Transit Assistance 4110101 60,404 96,888 96,888 15,000 15.48%
         State Prop Tx Relief HOPTR 4119910 18,940 18,500 18,500 0 0.00%
         Fed-FTA 5307 Urbanized Area Formula 4139910 701,236 715,573 715,573 479,219 66.96%
         Fed-FTA 5310 Mobility 4139915 0 437,500 437,500 250,463 57.24%
         Fed-FTA 5317 New Freedom 4139941 0 0 0 0 0.00%
         Fare Revenue 4140100 293,873 368,362 368,362 77,206 20.95%
         Misc.-Reimbursement 4601001 7,913 9,000 9,000 0 0.00%
         GGBHTD Payment for Local Paratransit 4601003 1,039,016 1,051,448 1,051,448 270,315 25.70%
         GGBHTD Payment for Regional Paratransit 4601004 773,004 856,206 856,206 200,960 23.47%
      Total Revenue 5,866,699 7,330,893 7,330,894 1,739,571 23.73%
Transfers
         Property Tax Transfer 4700001 263,406 0 0 7,250 -
         Program Revenue Transfer 4700002 (85,151) (80,000) (80,000) 0 0.00%
      Total Transfers 178,255 (80,000) (80,000) 7,250 -9.06%
Net Revenue 6,044,954 7,250,893 7,250,894 1,746,821 24.09%

Expense
         Consultant Services 5030301 62,997 94,913 94,913 13,346 13.96%
         Customer Service 5030320 260,485 481,870 481,870 74,886 15.54%
         Fuel 5040101 481,088 532,126 532,126 156,639 29.43%
         Software 5049903 69,310 73,819 73,819 37,086 50.23%
         Communication- Mobile Data Terminal 5050203 4,790 5,000 5,000 0 0.00%
         Communication-MERA Radio 5050204 19,178 20,358 20,358 22,089 108.50%
         Communication-Data 5050206 11,394 8,275 8,275 4,346 52.51%
         Purchased Transportation - In Report 5080101 4,053,344 4,662,727 4,662,727 1,133,573 24.31%
         Purchased Transportation - Regional 5080102 757,724 839,839 839,839 189,764 22.59%
         Marketing 5090801 15,148 97,913 97,913 14,845 15.16%
         Misc-Exp Transit User Training 5098001 4,913 9,835 9,835 0 0.00%
         Gap Grant 5098002 3,450 15,000 15,000 550 3.66%
      Total Expense 5,743,821 6,841,674 6,841,674 1,647,123 24.07%
Transfers
         Cost Center Salary/Benefit Transfers 5100100 258,196 309,769 309,769 85,482 27.59%
         Cost Center Transfer Overhead 5100101 42,938 99,450 99,450 14,216 14.29%
      Total Transfers 301,134 409,220 409,220 99,698 24.36%
Total Expense 6,044,955 7,250,894 7,250,894 1,746,821 24.09%

page 7

Item 4c

31



Attachment A Marin Transit 

FY2018/19 Q1 Budget Report From 

7/1/2018 Through 9/30/2018

Detail:Capital Budget

 Total Project 
Budget 

 FY2018/19 
Budget 

 Current 
Period 
Actual 

 Total Project 
Expenditure 

EV Purchase 2 Electric Vechicles (Replacements)             1,662,022              163,633              8,478 72,122               
PA Purchase Three Paratransit Vehicles                267,000 5,000         266,527 267,856            
SA Purchase One Shuttle (Expansion)                130,000 5,000 97,958 97,958               
SB Purchase 1- Replacement Shuttle                125,000              125,000 -   - 
XA Purchase 2 New XHF Vehiclles                925,000              920,000                  159 159 
XB Purchase 4 Replacement Rural Vehicles             1,600,000           1,600,000 -   - 
HM Hybrid Mid-Life Battery Replacements                400,000              400,000 -   - 

Subtotal Vehicles             5,109,022          3,218,633         373,122              438,095 
BI Bus Stop Improvements SGR (BI)             2,201,130        691,796.00            11,663 1,529,374         
BS Bus Stop Assessment Update                115,000                 14,982              6,790 87,926               
BW Muir Woods Infrastructure Improvements                638,000              217,729 425,453            
TR San Rafael Transit Center                100,000              100,000 -   - 

Subtotal Bus Stop Improvements             3,054,130          1,024,507            18,453          2,042,753 
FC Facility Peliminary Design & Env                174,418                 18,398 - 174,418 
FR Facility ROW Purchase             5,500,000           5,500,000            78,160 138,968 
OF Office Furniture 45,000                 45,000              3,454 17,544 
YF Yellow Bus Parking Facility             3,000,000           3,000,000 -   - 

Subtotal Facility             8,719,418          8,563,398            81,614 330,930 
OA On Board Equipment - 2016                210,000                 65,955              7,677 152,437            
TB Mobility Management Technology Backbone                375,000              155,319            10,571 273,701            
ME MERA 29,000                 29,000              2,243 2,243                 
RD Radio Communication Upgrade                168,000              121,695 - 47,238 
AY AVL Replacement Equipment                180,000              180,000 -   - 
CR Clipper                400,000              300,000 -   - 

Subtotal Technology Projects                 782,000              851,969            20,492              475,620 
GG Golden Gate Capital Costs (GG)                 18,000              4,346 NA
BM Bus Stop Maintenance (BM)              100,000            21,926 NA
VR Major Vehicle Repairs (VR)              200,000            13,475 NA
IF Infrastructure Support (IF)              356,794            70,109 NA

Subtotal Ongoing Capital Expenses - 674,794         109,856       -   

Total Expenditures          17,664,570       14,333,301         603,538          3,287,398 

page 8

Item 4c

32



Attachment B            FY2018/19 Q1 
Budget Amendments  

 

Number Board 
Authorization Description Function Program Project GL Original Change Final 

2018-08 06/04/2018 
Moved $40,000 of the project budget for 

office furniture for new office space 
from FY2019 to FY2018  

Capital Capital OF 5230103 Furniture & 
Fixtures $45,000 ($40,000) $5,000 

2019-01 
 

Pending 
  

Roll forward of unspent FY2018 Capital 
Project budgets; and update all Prior 
Years and Total Budgets 
 

Capital 
 

Capital 
 

EV 5230101 Vehicles 163,633  1,434,745  1,598,378  

PA 5230101 Vehicles 5,000 260,671 265,671 

SA 5230101 Vehicles 5,000 125,000 130,000 

XA 5230101 Vehicles 920,000 5,000 925,000 

BI 5230101 Bus Stops 691,796 (8,377) 683,419 

BS 5230101 Bus Stops 14,982 18,882 33,864 

BW 5230101 Bus Stops 217,729 (5,182) 212,547 

FC 5230104 Facility  18,398 (18,398) 0 

FR 5230104 Facility  5,500,000 (60,808) 5,439,192 

OF 5230103 Furniture &Fixtures 5,000 25,910 30,910 

OA 5230102 Equipment 65,955 (715) 65,240 

TB 5230102 Equipment 155,319 (43,449) 111,870 

RD 5230102 Equipment 121,695 (933) 120,762 

2018-02 Pending Add SB1 SGR Funding to replacement 
of four rural transit vehicles Capital Capital XB 

4110105 STA SGR SB1 0 211,538  211,538   

4092001 Measure A  1,019,737 (211,538) 808,199 

2018-03 Pending 
Add Equipment budget to Local and 
Rural to allow for low value fare 
collection and other equipment 

Operations 

Local NA 
5049902 Small Furn/Equip 0 $5,000 $5,000 

4700001 Property Tax 
Transfer 0 $5,000 $5,000 

Rural NA 
55049902 Small Furn/Equip 0 $1,352 $1,352 

4092001Measure A 0 $1,352 $1,352 

Item 4c

33



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

Capital Projects Report through September

Total Project 

Budgets

Total Expended  

FY2019

Total Project 

Expenditures

Vehicles $5,109,022 $373,122 $438,095

Bus Stop Improvements $3,054,130 $18,453 $2,042,753

Facility $8,719,418 $81,614 $330,722

Technology Projects $782,000 $20,492 $474,894

Ongoing Capital Expenses $674,794 $109,856 $109,856 (annual)

$18,339,364 $603,537 $3,396,320

Purchase Two Electric Vehicles Total Project Budget $1,662,022

Concept: Purchase Two Electric Vehicles

Funding: $1,190,640 Federal Section 5307

$135,022 State ‐ BAAQMD

$75,000 TAM ‐ Measure B

$261,360 Measure A 

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date
Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

EV $1,662,022 $72,122 4% Dec‐18

Purchase Three Paratransit Vehicles Total Project Budget $267,000

Concept: Purchase three Paratransit cutaway vehicles

Funding: $218,940 Federal Section 5307

$48,060 Measure A

Description:
Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

PA $267,000 $267,856 100% Jul‐18

This capital project report provides detail through the First Quarter of FY2018/19.  Project descriptions and status are given for all 

major capital projects.  Projects are grouped according to project type as shown below.  

V
EH

IC
LE
S Replace two 40 ft vehicles beyond their useful life with battery 

electric vehicles

Board authority to purchase the vehicles was given in November 2016 and the vehicle order has 

been placed with BYD Motors. The vehicles were delivered in September, 2018.

V
EH

IC
LE
S

Replace three paratransit vehicles that are beyond their useful life

Board authorized purchase of the vehicles in August 2017.  The purchase order was submitted in 

December 2017 with delivery scheduled for May 2018.  Vehicle production was delayed and 

vehicles were delivered in July 2018.

page 1

Item 4c

34



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

Purchase One Shuttle (Expansion) Total Project Budget $130,000

Concept: Purchase One Shuttle 

Funding: $130,000 State Transit Assistance‐ SGR

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

SA $130,000 $97,958 100% Aug‐18

Purchase One Shuttle (Replacement) Total Project Budget $125,000

Concept: Purchase One Shuttle 

Funding: $102,500 Federal Section 5307

$22,500 Measure A

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

SB $125,000 $0 0% Mar‐19

Purchase Two 35ft XHF Vehicles (Expansion)  Total Project Budget $925,000

Concept: Purchase two 35ft XHF vehicles

Funding: $920,000 State Transit Assistance

$5,000 Measure A

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

XA $925,000 $159 20% Jan‐19

Purchase one shuttle to replace a contractor‐owned vehicle beyond its 

useful life

Board authorized purchase of the vehicle in December 2017.  Vehicle delivery is anticipated in 

February of 2019.

Replace one shuttle vehicle beyond it's useful life.

V
EH

IC
LE
S

Board authorized purchase of the vehicle in December 2017 for the Community Shuttle route.  

Vehicle delivery was completed in August of 2018.  Staff is working on purchasing on board 

equipment.

V
EH

IC
LE
S

V
EH

IC
LE
S

Purchase of two expansion 35‐foot XHFs

The Board authorized the purchase of these vehicles in December 2017 for school service and 

Muir Woods shuttle routes.  Purchase allows retirement of 2 active retirement vehicles. Delivery is 

anticipated in December 2018.

page 2

Item 4c

35



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

Purchase Four 30ft XHF Vehicles (Replacement) Total Project Budget $1,600,000

Concept: Purchase two 35ft XHF vehicles

Funding: $505,120 Federal Section 5307

$286,651 State Transit Assistance ‐ State of Good Repair

$808,229 Measure A

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

XB $1,600,000 $0 0% Dec‐19

Hybrid Mid Life Battery Replacements  Total Project Budget $400,000

Concept: Replace batteries on the 2007 Hybrid Vehicles

Funding: $400,000 Measure A

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

HM $400,000 $0 0% Jun‐19

V
EH

IC
LE
S

Purchase of two expansion 35‐foot XHFs

As a preventative maintenance measure, under the exsting maintence contract, GGBHTD will 

replace the batteries on the 2007 Hybrid Vehicles.  Local funds will beused unless state or federal 

funds ads identified.

V
EH

IC
LE
S

Purchase of four replacement 30‐foot XHFs

These vehicles will replace 4 cutaway vehicles beyond their useful life. This item will be taken to the 

board for approval in early 2019.

page 3

Item 4c

36



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

Bus Stop Improvements (State of Good Repair) Total Project Budget 2,201,130$  

Concept: Improve bus stops in Marin County

Funding: $1,600,000 Federal Section 5309

$400,000 PTMISEA

$201,130 Measure A

Description:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date

Percent Complete

Phase 3 

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

BI $2,201,130 $1,529,374 69% Feb‐19

Muir Woods Infrastructure Improvements Total Project Budget $638,000

Concept: Improve boarding locations and purchase signage for the Muir Woods Shuttle

Funding: $638,000 Federal Transit In the Parks

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date
Percent Complete

 Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

BW $638,000 $425,453 67% Jun‐19

Project includes funding for permanent 

changeable message signs and improvements

to bus stops related to the Muir Woods Shuttle

B
U
S 
ST
O
P
 IM

P
R
O
V
EM

EN
TS

Marin Transit continues work with multiple partner agencies to determine needed vehicle, signage, 

and capital improvements to improve the passenger experience.

Status:

B
U
S 
ST
O
P
 IM

P
R
O
V
EM

EN
TS

Phase 1 ‐ complete.  Phase 2  ‐ complete.  Phase 3 ‐ Mark Thomas & Co completed 

plans and specifications for the final  round  of the State of Good Repair grant.  The 

improvements  support accessibility and passenger amenities. A contract for 

construction management was approved by the board in February 2018.  In September 

2018, the Board approved Coastside Concrete as the contractor.  Construction will 

begin in December.

Phase 1: Install new bus stop signage throughout Marin County.  Phase 2: Minor and 

Major bus stop improvements at 12 locations throughout the County . Phase 3: 

Additional bus stop improvements of up to 11 stops.

page 4

Item 4c

37



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

Bus Stop Assessments Total Project Budget $100,000

Concept: Update Bus Stop Asessments

Funding: $100,000 Measure A

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Completion 

Date

BS $100,000 $87,926 88% Dec‐19

San Rafael Transit Center Total Project Budget $100,000

Concept:

Funding: 100,000$          Measure A

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date Percent Complete

Completion 

Date

TR $100,000 $0 5% NA

Operations and Maintenance Facility  Total Project Budget $174,418

Concept: Develop a maintenance facility

Funding: $52,169 Measure A

$122,249 FTA 5307 

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date
Percent Complete

 Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

FC  $174,418 $174,418 100% NA

Evaluate facility needs and develop plans to acquire a District‐owned 

maintenance facility

Board authority to analyze facility needs was given June 2016.  With consultant assistance, the 

District has been evaluating potential facility locations and space needs for fixed route, 

paratransit & yellow bus services. 

B
U
S 
ST
O
P
 IM

P
R
O
V
EM

EN
TS

Develop integrated bus and rail operation

Project to update the District's 2005 bus stop conditions assessent to 

quantify & prioritize future improvements.

Marin Transit hired a consultant to conduct an inventory of bus stop conditions.   Additional 

work is underway to use the new data to develop preliminary plans for future bus stop 

improvements.

Description: In preparation for a SMART service extention to Larkspur, Marin Transit 

is working with the City of San Rafael, GGBHTD and SMART to relocate 

the transit center.  Until a new facility is constructed, efforts are 

underway to modify the existing center. Local funds will be used for 

staff time & costs related to design and construction. 

The agencies are revisiting and updating the Memorandums of 

Undertanding to reestablish roles and responsibilities for upcoming 

design and construction work.

B
U
S 
ST
O
P
 IM

P
R
O
V
EM

EN
TS

A
D
M
IN
 A
N
D
 O
P
ER

A
TI
O
N
S 
FA

C
IL
IT
Y

page 5

Item 4c

38



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

Maintenance Facility ‐ ROW Purchase & Capital Improvements Total Project Budget

Concept: Acquire property and develop a maintenance facility

Funding: $1,100,000 Measure A

$4,400,000 FTA 5307 

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date
Percent Complete

 Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

FR $5,500,000 $138,968 3% NA

Office Furniture Total Project Budget

Concept: Expand Administrative Offices for District Staff

Funding: $45,000 Property Tax

Description:
Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date
Percent Complete

 Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

OF $45,000 $17,544 39% Dec‐18

Yellow Bus Parking Facility Total Project Budget $3,000,000

Concept: Identify and purchase propoerty for vehicles

Funding: $3,000,000 Capital Reserve

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date
Percent Complete

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

YF $3,000,000 $0 0% NA

A
D
M
IN
 A
N
D
 O
P
ER

A
TI
O
N
S 
FA

C
IL
IT
Y

A
D
M
IN
 A
N
D
 O
P
ER

A
TI
O
N
S 
FA

C
IL
IT
Y

Marin Transit is purchasing  additional conference room furniture, storage cabinetry, and 

electronic equipment to be completed by December 2018. 

$45,000

Furniture and other capital expenses for office expansion

Replace temporary leased parking with a permanent location

Marin Transit is evaluating and identifying opportunities for land acquisition

Purchase land for a new facility.

$5,500,000

Marin Transit is actively searching for and evaluating available land to purchase in the county.  

A
D
M
IN
 A
N
D
 O
P
ER

A
TI
O
N
S 
FA

C
IL
IT
Y

page 6

Item 4c

39



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

TECHNOLOGY PROJECTS Total Project Budget $1,194,000

Concept: District technology projects

Funding: $300,000 Federal Job Access Funds (JARC)

$312,000 Federal Section 5307

$582,000 Measure A 

Projects:

Total Project 

Cost

Expended to 

Date

OA On Board Equipment 2016 $210,000 $152,437

AY AVL Replacements AVL Replacements $180,000 $0

TB Mobility Technology Backbone $375,000 $273,701

ME MERA $29,000 $2,243

CL Clipper $400,000 $0

Description:

Status:

Radio Communication Upgrades ‐ Needs Assessment Total Project Budget $168,000

Concept: Conduct a current Radio Communications Needs Assessment

Funding: $30,240 Measure A

$137,760 FTA 5307 

Description:

Status:

Project ID Budget

Expended to 

Date
Percent Complete

 Anticipated 

Completion 

Date

RD $168,000 $47,238 28% Feb‐19

Evaluate current radio communications practices and determine areas 

for improvement with action plan

Marin Transit board approved  a contract with DeltaWRX  in September 2017 to complete a radio 

assessment at each of Marin Transit's contractors.  In December 2017, DeltaWRX presented the 

assessment to staff. A second phase was initiated to fulfill consultant recommendations.   Due to 

lower than expected needs, funding was moved to the AVL Replacement Equipment project in the 

FY2019 Capital Budget.

TE
C
H
N
O
LO

G
Y
 P
R
O
JE
C
TS

Marin Transit will continue the project to pay for fareboxes and on board equipment associated 

with vehicle replacements.

Marin Transit provides technology acquisitions for vehicle operations, fare collection, 

and passenger information

page 7

Item 4c

40



Attachment C: Marin Transit Q1 Capital Report

Ongoing Capital Expenses Annual Budget $674,794
Concept: Ongoing capital expenses

Funding: $674,794 Measure A

Projects:

Total Project 

Budgets Annual Budget

Expended in 

FY2018

GG Golden Gate Capital Costs $18,000 $18,000 $4,346

BM Bus Stop Maintenance $100,000 $100,000 $21,926

VR Major Vehicle Repairs $200,000 $200,000 $13,475

IF Infrastructure Support $356,794 $356,791 $70,109

Description:

Status:

O
N
G
O
IN
G
 C
A
P
IT
A
L 
EX

P
EN

SE
S

Capital depreciation expenses for equipment owned by Golden Gate Transit are billed monthly.   

Major vehicle repairs, such as transmissions, are expended as needed.  Infrastructure support 

includes small capital projects, staff support, and work on partner agency capital projects.  

Ongoing capital costs associated with the Golden Gate operations 

contract, major vehicle repairs, and other small capital expenses

page 8

Item 4c

41



December 3, 2018 

1 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA  94903 

SUBJECT: Marin Transit Quarterly Performance Report for the 
First Quarter of FY 2018/19 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: Accept report. 

SUMMARY:  
As part of the District’s service monitoring process, staff has 
prepared a quarterly performance report alongside the quarterly 
financial report. Attached is the report for the first quarter of FY 
2018/19. 

The quarterly report provides route-level statistics and performance 
measures with financial data and an in-depth analysis of trends. The 
report discusses of any relevant external factors such as service 
changes.  

Additional detailed analyses of system performance and trends are 
provided in an annual system performance report. This report is 
available on the District’s website at 
http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html in addition to the 
monthly reports, 

FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:  None associated with this report. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Aida Banihashemi 
Planning Manager 
Attachments 

Item 4d

42

http://marintransit.org/monitoringreports.html


 

2 

Quarterly Performance Report for FY 2018/19 Q1 

This report summarizes the operational performance of Marin Transit services for the first quarter of FY 2018/19 from July 1, 
2018 through September 30, 2018. The Quarterly Performance Report provides detailed route-level statistics, analyzes trends, 
and evaluates performance measures established under Measure A. 
 
Report Format 
The data presented in this report is generated directly from TransTrack, Marin Transit’s data management system. TransTrack 
enables Marin Transit to consolidate and analyze all operational data from the District’s transit programs and contractors as one 
system. In December 2016, the District upgraded the system to provide a new tool to create custom reports including this 
Quarterly Performance Report. The new report captures all costs associated with service operations and is not limited to 
contractor costs. This reporting format most accurately represents the District’s actual costs of providing service. 
 
Route performance is presented relative to typology-based targets. The Board updated the targets on April 2, 2018, as part of a 
larger performance monitoring plan update. These typology-based targets aim to match routes and service levels to the 
markets they are intended to serve. All performance and financial data is consistent with the District’s reporting for the National 
Transit Database. 
 
Performance Goals 

Performance goals at the route level are measured in both productivity (unlinked passengers per hour and per trip) and cost-
effectiveness (subsidy per unlinked passenger trip). Table 1 below summarizes route level performance goals by typology. Note 
that there are currently no productivity or cost-effectiveness goals identified for the Yellow Bus or Partnership service 
typologies. 
 
Table 1: Productivity and Subsidy Goals by Service Typology 

Service Typology Routes 
Unlinked Passenger 

Trips per Hour 
(at or above) 

Subsidy per 
Passenger Trip 

(at or below) 

Local Trunkline 35, 36, 71 20 $4.50 

Regular Local 17, 22, 23, 23X, 29, 49 18 $6.50 

Local Connector 219, 228, 233, 245, 251, 257 8 $9.00 

Supplemental 113, 115, 117, 119, 125, 139, 145, 151, 154 20 per trip $3.00 

Rural 61, 68 6 $12.00 

Recreational 66 (Muir Woods Shuttle) 25 $3.00 

Demand Response Local DAR, Novato DAR, Dillon Beach/Tomales DAR, 
Point Reyes DAR 2 $35.00 

 
Performance Summary 

In the first quarter of FY 2018/19, Marin Transit carried a total of 826,849 passengers systemwide. This represents a relatively 
consistent ridership compared to the first quarter of the previous fiscal year. On fixed-route transit services including Yellow 
School Bus, Marin Transit carried 786,311 riders. This is also a 0.1% decrease from the last fiscal year. Marin Access services 

Item 4d

43



 

3 

carried 40,538 trips on demand response and mobility management programs, an increase of 2.4% compared to last fiscal year. 
The tables at the end of this report provide a breakdown of all route-level statistics. 
 
Local Trunkline (Routes 35, 36, and 71x) 
In the first quarter of FY 2018/19, Local Trunkline services carried 289,854 passengers. This is a 1.7% increase over the first 
quarter of the previous fiscal year. Only Routes 35 met the productivity and subsidy target of 20 passengers per hour and $4.50 
per passenger, respectively. Route 36 met the productivity target only, and Route 71x did not meet its targets this quarter. 
 
Local Basic (Routes 17, 22, 23, 23x, 29 and 49) 
Local Basic services carried a total of 279,749 passengers during the first quarter of this fiscal year, a decrease of 1.4% compared 
to last fiscal year. Except for Route 49 that met its subsidy target of $6.50 per passenger, none of the six routes met their 
productivity or subsidy targets this quarter. 
 
Local Connector (Routes 219, 228, 233, 245, 251, and 257) 
During the first quarter of the fiscal year, Local Connector services carried 96,144 total passengers. This is 0.4% less than the 
previous year. Four of the six routes met the productivity target of 8 passengers per hour (Routes 233, 245, 251, and 257) and 
three of the six routes met the subsidy target of $9.00 per passenger (Routes 233, 251 and 245). Only Routes 219 and 228 did 
not meet either target. 
 
Supplemental (Routes 113, 115, 117, 119, 125, 139, 145, 151, and 154) 
Supplemental school services carried a total of 25,850 passengers during the first quarter of FY 2018/19. This represents 6.2% 
fewer passengers than the previous year. Seven of the nine routes met the productivity target of 20 passengers per trip: Routes 
113, 115, 117, 119, 145, 151, and 154. Routes 119 and 145 are the only routes that met their subsidy target of $3.00 per 
passenger. 
 
Rural (West Marin Stagecoach Routes 61 and 68) 
In the first quarter of the fiscal year, the two Stagecoach routes carried 31,340 passengers total.  This is about a 4.2% decrease 
from the prior year. Both Routes 68 and 61 met their productivity goal of 6 passengers per hour.  Neither route met the subsidy 
goal of $12.00 per passenger. 
 
Partnership Services (Route 122 – College of Marin Express) 
Route 122 carried a total of 4,833 passengers during the first quarter of the year, an increase of 9.7% compared to the prior 
year. There are no performance targets established for Partnership services.  
 
Yellow Bus 
Ross Valley School District yellow bus service carried 16,803 passengers during the first quarter of FY 2018/19 for a decrease of 
approximately 17.5% compared to the prior year. There are no performance targets established for Yellow Bus services. 
 
Recreational (Route 66-Muir Woods Shuttle) 
The Muir Woods service carried a total of 73,438 passengers during the first quarter of FY 2018/19 or 6.2% more passengers 
compared to the previous year. The service met its productivity target of 25 passengers per hour and its subsidy target of $3.00 
per passenger. 
 
 

Item 4d

44



 

4 

Marin Access 
Mobility Management programs offered by Marin Access include demand response services, Catch-A-Ride, and Volunteer Driver 
programs. 
 
In the first quarter of FY 2018/19, local paratransit carried 30,637 passengers. The service productivity average of 2.1 
passengers per hour met the 2.0 standard. The number of passengers represents a slight 0.5% decrease in ridership compared 
to the prior fiscal year. The service did not meet the subsidy target of $35.00 per passenger. 
 
The Novato Dial-a-Ride service carried 1,075 passengers and met its productivity standard at 2.0 passengers per hour. Ridership 
was 5.3% higher than in the previous fiscal year. The service did not meet the subsidy target of $35.00 per passenger. 
 
The Dillon Beach/Tomales Dial-a-Ride provides curb-to-curb pick-up and drop-off between Dillon Beach, Tomales, and 
Petaluma, and operates on Wednesdays only. During the first quarter of the fiscal year, the service carried 120 passengers, a 
16.7% decrease compared to last year, and met its productivity target with 2.0 passengers per hour and its subsidy target of 
less than $35.00 per passenger. 
 
In July 2016, Marin Transit added a new general public dial-a-ride service between Point Reyes Station and Novato. The service 
currently runs twice per month on the first and third Monday. In the first quarter of the fiscal year, the service carried 49 
passengers, 22.5% more than during the first quarter last year, and met its productivity target with 2.3 passengers per hour. 
The service also met the subsidy target of less than $35.00 per passenger trip. 
 
The Volunteer Driver Program completed 3,755 trips in the first quarter of FY 2018/19. This represents an 4.0% decrease 
compared to the previous fiscal year.  
 
The Catch-a-Ride program provided 3,595 one-way trips. This is a decrease of 2.5% compared to the prior year. 
 
On May 21, 2018, Marin Transit launched a new on-demand microtransit service called Marin Transit Connect. A total of 1,307 
passengers rode the service in the first quarter of the fiscal year. Between the start of service and the end of the 2018 fiscal year 
on June 30, 2018, the service was primarily offered for free while the contractor slowly ramped up service. Operating costs 
associated with the service during the first quarter capture startup costs and limited fares during this revenue service testing 
phase. There are currently no performance targets established for the Connect service. 
 
 
Ridership Trends 

The slight increase in ridership is counter to the trends among bus transit agencies throughout the country and in the Bay Area. 
According to the National Transit Database, nationwide bus ridership declined 2.4% during the first quarter of FY 2018/19 
compared to the prior year. Regionally, Golden Gate Transit also experienced a 7.6% decrease in the first quarter of 2018/19. 
 
There are several factors that can impact ridership. These include the number of weekdays in a month and the weather. In this 
first quarter, some factors supported growth in ridership while others may have contributed to decreases. Generally, the most 
significant factors for increasing ridership are the number of days the Muir Woods Shuttle operated and the number of school 
days compared to a year ago. In FY 2018/19, the number of days in the first quarter were identical to the prior year.   
 

Item 4d

45



 

5 

Table 2 below compares these factors, and qualitatively evaluates their potential impact on ridership. 
 
Table 2: Factors Impacting Ridership Comparison 

Factor FY 2017/18 Q1 FY 2018/19 Q1 Impact 

Calendar 

School Days 26 29 -- 

Weekdays 63 63 -- 

Weekends & Holidays 29 29 -- 

Muir Woods Shuttle 58 58 -- 

Service Disruptions (cancelled/missed service) 100 98 -- 

Rainfall (inches) 0 0 -- 

Gas Prices $3.66 $3.58  
 
Compared to the prior year, demand for Marin Access mobility management and demand response programs increased by 
2.4% during the first quarter of FY 2018/19. These trends are comparable to growth experienced historically in demand-
response programs. Staff will continue to monitor ridership trends on these services. 
 
 

Item 4d

46



QUARTER

FY2019 Q1

* Change compared to same quarter of prior year
** Productivity measured in passengers per hour, except for Supplemental services, which use passengers per trip

Fixed-Route Passenger Statistics by Route

Typology Route Passengers %Change* Revenue Hours %Change* Productivity (pax/hr) Change*

1. Local Trunkline 35

36

71

Rollup

2. Local Basic 17

22

23

23X

29

49

Rollup

3. Local
Connector

219

228

233

245

251

257

Rollup

4. Supplemental 113

115

117

119

125

139

145

151

154

Rollup

5. Rural 61

68

Rollup

6. Partnership
Services

122

Rollup

7. Yellow Bus Hdn Valley

White Hill

Rollup

8. Recreational 66

Rollup

169,078

90,141

30,635

289,854

64,905

52,934

49,299

10,297

9,194

61,120

247,749

12,186

19,797

11,126

12,277

25,312

15,446

96,144

2,892

1,935

▲0.2%

▲4.3%

▲2.6%

▲1.7%

▲4.8%

▼1.1%

▼5.7%

▼18.8%

▼2.1%

▼0.4%

▼1.4%

▼9.1%

▲2.6%

▲4.0%

▼0.5%

▲5.0%

▼7.4%

▼0.4%

▲13.6%

▲60.2%

5,790

3,469

1,865

11,124

3,748

4,392

2,786

707

736

3,732

16,100

1,628

2,531

1,097

1,091

2,402

1,910

10,658

52

50

▼0.1%

▼0.2%

▼0.1%

▼0.1%

▲0.4%

▼2.6%

▼0.1%

▼17.8%

▼11.4%

▼0.1%

▼2.2%

▼0.2%

▼0.8%

-

▼0.4%

▼0.8%

▲0.0%

▼0.4%

▲6.6%

-

29.2

26.0

16.4

26.1

17.3

12.1

17.7

14.6

12.5

16.4

15.4

7.5

7.8

10.1

11.3

10.5

8.1

9.0

24.5**

25.5**

▲0.1

▲1.1

▲0.4

▲0.5

▲0.7

▲0.2

▼1.1

▼0.2

▲1.2

▼0.0

▲0.1

▼0.7

▲0.3

▲0.4

▼0.0

▲0.6

▼0.6

▲0.0

▲60.9

3,597

5,435

1,364

568

2,398

5,842

1,819

25,850

11,313

20,027

31,340

4,833

4,833

1,182

15,621

16,803

73,738

73,738

▲12.8%

▲0.9%

▼19.1%

▼30.6%

▼10.3%

▼27.1%

▼11.1%

▼6.2%

▼4.3%

▼4.1%

▼4.2%

▲9.7%

▲9.7%

▲18.7%

▼19.4%

▼17.5%

▲6.2%

▲6.2%

68

83

83

45

37

108

49

576

1,605

2,673

4,278

421

421

0

0

0

2,667

2,667

▲1.2%

▼0.1%

▼1.5%

-

▲19.7%

▼13.9%

▼15.0%

▼2.9%

▼0.2%

▼0.6%

▼0.4%

▲23.9%

▲23.9%

▼100.0%

▼100.0%

▼100.0%

▲9.7%

▲9.7%

26.5**

35.8**

14.3**

11.7**

32.1**

32.8**

37.5**

27.9**

7.0

7.5

7.3

11.5

11.5

27.6

27.6

▲4.0

▲6.5

▼17.1

▼33.5

▼27.9

▼19.9

▲11.3

▼5.9 

▼0.3

▼0.3

▼0.3

▼1.5

▼1.5

▼0.9

▼0.9

Rollup 786,311 ▼0.1% 45,825 ▼0.7% 17.2 ▲0.1

Fixed-Route

Quarterly Report 11/28/2018

Page 1/3

▼8.4

Item 4d

47

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=9786be98a850&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bfeccfee4b04c4c2c21775b&request_id=uixa67ab7ca0600_57%3AuwsSIUpqzCPrlnJD%3AJCeqA8zbWd5GtwSw%3Aq2vg1f7tws8m23fq%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/102213


Fixed-Route Financial Statistics by Route

Typology Route Operating Cost %Change* Passenger Revenue %Change* Average Subsidy Change* Farebox Recovery Change*

1. Local Trunkline 35

36

71

Rollup

2. Local Basic 17

22

23

23X

29

49

Rollup

3. Local
Connector

219

228

233

245

251

257

Rollup

4. Supplemental 113

115

117

119

125

139

145

151

154

Rollup

5. Rural 61

68

Rollup

6. Partnership
Services

122

Rollup

7. Yellow Bus Hdn Valley

White Hill

Rollup

8. Recreational 66

Rollup

$880,276

$522,530

$297,552

$1,700,358

$570,700

$439,727

$408,464

$104,969

$109,206

$387,159

$2,020,225

$168,897

$251,311

$111,572

$108,410

$248,482

$193,258

$1,081,930

$12,141

$11,499

▲0.2%

▼0.1%

▲2.2%

▲0.4%

▲0.6%

▼4.4%

▼0.4%

▼17.6%

▼11.4%

▲9.1%

▼1.1%

▲0.1%

▼2.1%

▼0.4%

▼1.7%

▼0.6%

▼0.7%

▼0.9%

▲53.2%

▲43.1%

$176,851

$92,718

$39,110

$308,679

$78,456

$63,866

$56,239

$11,621

$10,467

$62,551

$283,200

$15,384

$25,169

$12,249

$12,926

$24,355

$17,613

$107,696

$1,740

$1,018

▼3.9%

▲0.6%

▼2.6%

▼2.4%

▲2.7%

▼5.2%

▼9.9%

▼14.1%

▼8.6%

▼5.0%

▼4.6%

▼9.2%

▼3.7%

▲1.8%

▼5.8%

▲1.7%

▼8.1%

▼3.8%

▲13.1%

▲81.4%

$4.16

$4.77

$8.44

$4.80

$7.58

$7.10

$7.14

$9.07

$10.74

$5.31

$7.01

$12.60

$11.42

$8.93

$7.78

$8.85

$11.37

$10.13

$3.60

$5.42

▲$0.04

▼$0.22

▲$0.03

▼$0.03

▼$0.34

▼$0.24

▲$0.50

▲$0.08

▼$1.16

▲$0.60

▲$0.06

▲$1.27

▼$0.53

▼$0.42

▼$0.04

▼$0.52

▲$0.86

▼$0.02

▲$1.09

▼$0.77

20.1%

17.7%

13.1%

18.2%

13.7%

14.5%

13.8%

11.1%

9.6%

16.2%

14.0%

9.1%

10.0%

11.0%

11.9%

9.8%

9.1%

10.0%

14.3%

8.9%

▼0.9%

▲0.1%

▼0.6%

▼0.5%

▲0.3%

▼0.1%

▼1.4%

▲0.5%

▲0.3%

▼2.4%

▼0.5%

▼0.9%

▼0.2%

▲0.2%

▼0.5%

▲0.2%

▼0.7%

▼0.3%

▼5.1%

▲1.9%

$15,503

$20,010

$17,717

$9,960

$8,282

$23,261

$10,201

$128,574

$182,713

$310,487

$493,200

$81,066

$81,066

$0

$0

$0

$367,912

$367,912

▲45.5%

▲41.6%

▲42.3%

▲46.9%

▲69.6%

▲26.3%

▲25.3%

▲40.6%

▲21.1%

▲21.0%

▲21.1%

▲83.0%

▲83.0%

▼100.0%

▼100.0%

▼100.0%

▲16.6%

▲16.6%

$1,811

$3,862

$1,237

$513

$1,236

$2,909

$1,067

$15,392

$11,943

$19,313

$31,256

$21,317

$21,317

$2,846

$38,620

$41,467

$201,339

$201,339

▲19.1%

▲6.6%

▼4.2%

▼20.7%

▲6.4%

▼28.4%

▼5.9%

▼0.9%

▼9.7%

▼13.2%

▼11.9%

▼14.5%

▼14.5%

▼29.2%

▼51.0%

▼49.9%

▲48.8%

▲48.8%

$3.81

$2.97

$12.08

$16.63

$2.94

$3.48

$5.02

$4.38

$15.09

$14.54

$14.74

$12.36

$12.36

-$2.41

-$2.47

-$2.47

$2.26

$2.26

▲$0.94

▲$1.02

▲$5.46

▲$9.14

▲$1.55

▲$1.69

▲$1.60

▲$1.63

▲$3.45

▲$3.32

▲$3.37

▲$7.97

▲$7.97

▼$20.24

▼$5.06

▼$5.80

▼$0.34

▼$0.34

11.7%

19.3%

7.0%

5.1%

14.9%

12.5%

10.5%

12.0%

6.5%

6.2%

6.3%

26.3%

26.3%

54.7%

54.7%

▼2.6%

▼6.3%

▼3.4%

▼4.4%

▼8.9%

▼9.5%

▼3.5%

▼5.0%

▼2.2%

▼2.5%

▼2.4%

▼30.0%

▼30.0%

▲11.9%

▲11.9%

Rollup $5,873,265 ▲0.6% $1,010,345 ▼0.9% $6.18 ▲$0.06 17.2% ▼0.3%

* Change compared to same quarter of prior year

Fixed-Route

Page 2/3
Item 4d

48

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=9786be98a850&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bfeccfee4b04c4c2c21775b&request_id=uixa67ab7ca0600_57%3AuwsSIUpqzCPrlnJD%3AJCeqA8zbWd5GtwSw%3Aq2vg1f7tws8m23fq%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/102231


Marin Access Passenger Statistics by Service

Typology Route Passengers %Change* Revenue Hours %Change* Productivity (pax/hr) Change*

9. Demand
Response

Dillon DAR

Local Para

MTC

Novato DAR

PtReyesDAR

Rollup

Catch-A-Ride CAR_Gen

CAR_LowInc

Rollup

Volunteer Driver VolDrvr

VolDvrWM

120

30,637

1,307

1,075

49

33,188

3,069

526

3,595

2,741

1,014

▼16.7%

▼0.5%

▲5.3%

▲22.5%

▲3.7%

▲101.6%

▼75.7%

▼2.5%

▼1.3%

▼10.4%

60

14,891

1,710

539

21

17,221

0

0

0

3,240

1,652

▼7.7%

▲5.1%

▲12.3%

▲33.3%

▲17.0%

▲0.7%

▼8.9%

2.0

2.1

0.8

2.0

2.3

1.9

0.8

0.6

▼0.2

▼0.1

▼0.1

▼0.2

▼0.2

▼0.0

▼0.0
Rollup 40,538 ▲2.4% 22,113 ▲11.9% 1.8 ▼0.2

* Change compared to same quarter of prior year

Marin Access Financial Statistics by Service

Typology Route Operating Cost %Change* Passenger Revenue %Change* Average Subsidy Change* Farebox Recovery Change*

9. Demand
Response

Dillon DAR

Local Para

MTC

Novato DAR

PtReyesDAR

Rollup

Catch-A-Ride CAR_Gen

CAR_LowInc

Rollup

Volunteer Driver VolDrvr

VolDvrWM

$4,116

$1,365,992

$224,562

$44,506

$1,422

$1,640,597

$55,811

$8,166

$63,978

$27,134

$16,950

▼13.3%

▲6.0%

▲1.6%

▲22.9%

▲22.5%

▲51.4%

▼84.0%

▼27.2%

▼37.6%

▼40.4%

$252

$57,124

$1,864

$1,920

$103

$61,263

$6,290

$1,137

$7,427

$0

$0

▲11.7%

▲6.0%

▼2.3%

▲61.1%

▲9.2%

▲80.3%

▼77.1%

▼12.2%

$32.20

$42.72

$170.39

$39.61

$26.90

$47.59

$16.14

$13.36

$15.73

$9.90

$16.71

▲$0.81

▲$2.62

▼$1.38

▼$0.43

▲$7.51

▼$5.80

▼$7.90

▼$5.81

▼$5.76

▼$8.39

6.1%

4.2%

0.8%

4.3%

7.3%

3.7%

11.3%

13.9%

11.6%

0.0%

0.0%

▲1.4%

▲0.0%

▼0.2%

▲1.7%

▼0.5%

▲1.8%

▲4.2%

▲2.0%

-

-
Rollup $1,748,659 ▲16.7% $68,690 ▲6.4% $41.44 ▲$5.23 3.9% ▼0.4%

Marin Access

Systemwide Total

Systemwide Passenger Statistics Summary

Passengers %Change* Revenue Hours %Change* Productivity (pax/hr) Change*

Values 826,849 ▲0.0% 67,938 ▲3.1% 12.2 ▼0.4

Systemwide Financial Statistics Summary

Operating Cost %Change* Passenger Revenue %Change* Average Subsidy Change* Farebox Recovery Change*

Values $7,621,924 ▲3.9% $1,079,035 ▼0.5% $7.91 ▲$0.35 14.2% ▼0.6%

* Change compared to same quarter of prior year

Page 3/3
Item 4d

49

https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=9786be98a850&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bfeccfee4b04c4c2c21775b&request_id=uixa67ab7ca0600_57%3AuwsSIUpqzCPrlnJD%3AJCeqA8zbWd5GtwSw%3Aq2vg1f7tws8m23fq%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/102224
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=9786be98a850&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bfeccfee4b04c4c2c21775b&request_id=uixa67ab7ca0600_57%3AuwsSIUpqzCPrlnJD%3AJCeqA8zbWd5GtwSw%3Aq2vg1f7tws8m23fq%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/102249
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=9786be98a850&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bfeccfee4b04c4c2c21775b&request_id=uixa67ab7ca0600_57%3AuwsSIUpqzCPrlnJD%3AJCeqA8zbWd5GtwSw%3Aq2vg1f7tws8m23fq%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/103674
https://analytics.transtrack.net/embedded.html#project=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz&dashboard=%2Fgdc%2Fmd%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2Fobj%2F50135&tab=9786be98a850&export=1&ctx=%2Fgdc%2Fprojects%2Fph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz%2FexecutionContexts%2Ftmp5bfeccfee4b04c4c2c21775b&request_id=uixa67ab7ca0600_57%3AuwsSIUpqzCPrlnJD%3AJCeqA8zbWd5GtwSw%3Aq2vg1f7tws8m23fq%3A9&consoleExport=1&s=/gdc/projects/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz|analysisPage|head|/gdc/md/ph7vkpt6d15wfrwooz9f6wh5y8cu0ylz/obj/103679


FY 2018/19 Marin Access Outreach and Travel Training              Events August through October 2018 

August 2018 

Date Event Description 

8/8/2018 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert J. 
Boro Community Center) 

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior 
event. Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English, 
Spanish, and Vietnamese. 

8/14/2018 Martin Access Presentation at the Redwoods in Mill 
Valley 

Staff presentation on Marin Access and Marin Transit. 

8/16/2018 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at  West Marin Senior 
Services Dance Palace in Point Reyes 

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled social event. 

8/23/2018 Marin Access and MT Connect presentation at Nazareth 
House in Terra Linda 

Travel Navigator and Staff presentation on Marin Access and 
Marin Transit Connect. 

 
September 2018 

 
 

 

Date Event Description 

9/5/2018 Marin Access and MT Connect presentation at Drake 
Terrace  

Travel Navigator and Staff presentation on Marin Access and 
Marin Transit Connect. 

9/11/2018 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours in  Mill Valley 
Community Center 

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled social event. 

9/12/2018 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert J. 
Boro Community Center) 

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior 
event. Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English 
and Vietnamese. 

9/19/2018 Martin Access Presentation at the Bennett House in  
Fairfax 

Staff presentation on Marin Access and Marin Transit. 

9/20/2018 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at  West Marin Senior 
Services Dance Palace in Point Reyes 

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled social event. 

9/21/2018 Marin Access and MT Connect presentation at Maria B 
Freitas Apartments 

Travel Navigator and Staff presentation on Marin Access and 
Marin Transit Connect. 

Item 4d

50



FY 2018/19 Marin Access Outreach and Travel Training              Events August through October 2018 

9/26/2018 Transportation Options for Seniors Workshop at 
Margaret Todd Senior Center 

Staff presentation on Marin Access and Marin Transit. 

 

October 2018 

Date Event Description 

10/2/2018 AAI Inform & Connect Workshop Staff presentation on Marin Access and Marin Transit and group 
discussion focusing on available programs and community 
needs. 

10/10/2018 Travel Navigator Satellite Hours at Pickleweed (Albert J. 
Boro Community Center) 

“Office hours” during regularly scheduled multicultural senior 
event. Individual counseling and group Q&A available in English 
and Vietnamese. 

10/11/2018 Satellite Hours at Margaret Todd Senior Center Office hours in main lobby. 

10/16/2018 Marin Access and MT Connect  Presentation at Parnow 
House 

Staff presentation on Marin Access and Marin Transit Connect. 

10/18/2018  Satellite Hours at West Marin Senior Services “Office hours” during regularly scheduled social event. 

10/24/2018 Marin Senior Fair at Civic Center Exhibition Hall Annual senior information fair. Marin Access booth in the main 
hall with giveaways and information. 

10/29/2018 Marin Access Presentation at College of Marin Student 
Accessibility Services 

Travel Navigator presentation on Marin Access. 

 

Item 4d

51



stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 

Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

SUBJECT:  Update to Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION:  Information only. 

SUMMARY:  Staff has updated the Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol 
Testing Policy. The attached policy meets current federal 
requirements that all grantees maintain a drug-free workplace and 
have a drug and alcohol testing policy for safety-sensitive employees. 
This policy will replace the Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy adopted 
by the Marin Transit Board of Directors on November 17, 2014.   

BACKGROUND: Federal grant recipients are required to maintain a 
drug-free workplace for all employees and to have an ongoing drug-
free awareness program (Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988).  Grant 
recipients are also required to have a drug and alcohol testing 
program in place for all safety sensitive employees (Omnibus 
Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991). In general, safety 
sensitive employees are those employees that drive, dispatch or 
maintain a bus, or are required to hold a Commercial Driver’s License 
or carry a firearm for security purposes. Marin Transit does not 
directly employ safety sensitive employees. However, the District is 
responsible for ensuring that its purchased transportation contractors 
comply with these same testing requirements. 

Beginning on January 1, 2019, the Federal Transit Administration will 
require that transit operators conduct twice as many random drug 
tests than the current standard.  The proportion of random drug tests 
for safety-sensitive employees will increase from the current 25 
percent sampling rate to a minimum of 50 percent. To comply with 
this change, staff recommends that Marin Transit revise its Drug and 
Alcohol Testing Policy to comply with this change and remove the 
reference to the pre-2019 standard. 

Revision to the Policy  
(Deleted text is in italics) 

Item 4e

52



2 
 

 
N. RANDOM TESTING 

 
3) The number of employees randomly selected for drug/alcohol testing during the calendar 

year shall be not less than the percentage rates established by Federal regulations for 
those safety-sensitive employees subject to random testing by Federal regulations.  The 
current random testing rate for drugs established by FTA equals twenty-five percent of 
the number of covered employees in the pool and the random testing rate for alcohol 
established by FTA equals ten percent of the number of covered employees in the pool. 

 
 
Staff is working with the District’s operations contractors to ensure that they are prepared to 
meet the new 50 percent testing rates effective Jan 1, 2019. Only Marin Airporter will need to 
update their Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy to remove the reference to a specific testing rate. 
 
Marin Transit’s Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy sets the procedures that purchased 
transportation contractors must follow and guidelines for District staff to monitor compliance.  
After your Board adopts the updated policy, staff will distribute the revisions to Marin Transit’s 
contractors with highlighted text noting the required changes. 
 
FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT: There is no fiscal impact associated with adopting this Drug and 
Alcohol Testing Policy. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 

    
 
Amy Van Doren 
Director of Policy and Legislative Programs 
 
Attachment: Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy  
  
 
 

Item 4e

53



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MARIN TRANSIT 
 
DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Policy #:    HR-01 
Subject:     Drug and Alcohol 
Effective Date:   October 15, 2012 
Revision Date:   November 15, 2014 

Item 4e

54



 
 

i 
 

PREAMBLE 1 

A. PURPOSE 2 

B. APPLICABILITY 2 

C. DEFINITIONS 3 

D. EDUCATION AND TRAINING 9 

E. PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES 9 

F. PROHIBITED CONDUCT 10 

G. DRUG STATUTE CONVICTION 11 

H. TESTING REQUIREMENTS 11 

I. DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES 12 

J. ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES 15 

K. PRE-EMPLOYMENT TESTING 16 

L. REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTING 17 

M. POST-ACCIDENT TESTING 19 

N. RANDOM TESTING 20 

O. RETURN-TO-DUTY TESTING 21 

P. FOLLOW-UP TESTING 22 

Q. RESULT OF DRUG/ALCOHOL TEST 22 

R. GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL 26 

S. PROPER APPLICATION OF THE POLICY 26 

T. INFORMATION DISCLOSURE 26 

ATTACHMENT A - STAFFING PLAN FOR IMPLEMENTING MARIN TRANSIT’S DRUG & 
ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAMS  

Item 4e

55



 
 

ii 
 

ATTACHMENT B – MARIN TRANSIT DRUG & ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM CONTACTS  

  

 

Item 4e

56



 
 

1 
 

PREAMBLE  

Marin County Transit District (Marin Transit) adopts this policy to provide a safe 
workplace and ensure compliance with all mandated drug and alcohol programs and a 
standard with respect to Drug and Alcohol testing for all contractors providing service 
on behalf of the District.  Marin Transit will include the following requirements in all of 
the District’s contracts for purchased transportation services: 

The Contractor agrees to establish and implement a drug and alcohol testing 
program that complies with 49 CFR Parts 653 and 654, produce any documentation 
necessary to establish its compliance with Parts 653 and 654, and permit any 
authorized representative of the United States Department of Transportation or its 
operating administrations, the State Oversight Agency of California, or Marin Transit, 
to inspect the facilities and records associated with the implementation of the drug 
and alcohol testing program as required under 49 CFR Parts 653 and 654 and review 
the testing process. The Contractor agrees further to certify annually its compliance 
with Parts 653 and 654 before March 1 and to submit the Management Information 
System (MIS) reports before March 1 to Marin Transit’s General Manager. To certify 
compliance the Contractor shall use the "Substance Abuse Certifications" in the 
"Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for Federal Transit Administration 
Grants and Cooperative Agreements," which is published annually in the Federal 
Register. The Contractor agrees further to submit before contract implementation a 
copy of the Policy Statement developed to implement its drug and alcohol testing 
program. 

Further, Marin Transit will conduct ongoing oversight of contractors to ensure that their 
programs remain in compliance and will take whatever actions are necessary and 
appropriate to ensure contractor compliance. If a contractor is unwilling or unable to 
comply with the regulations, Marin Transit will discontinue using this contractor for 
safety-sensitive duties, so as not to jeopardize federal funding. Contractors that bid on 
safety-sensitive work will be considered non-responsive if they do not have or are not 
able to establish a Federal Transit Administration-compliant drug and alcohol testing 
program. 

This policy meets Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements and will be used as 
a model for Marin Transit’s purchased transportation service providers.  To ensure 
compliance with Federal standards, only underlined passages can be eliminated or 
revised. 

Item 4e

57



 
 

2 
 

A. PURPOSE 

 
1) The Marin Transit provides public transit and paratransit services for the 

residents of Marin County.  Part of our mission is to ensure that this service is 
delivered safely, efficiently, and effectively by establishing a drug and alcohol-
free work environment, and to ensure that the workplace remains free from the 
effects of drugs and alcohol in order to promote the health and safety of 
employees and the general public.  In keeping with this mission, Marin Transit 
declares that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or 
use of controlled substances or misuse of alcohol is prohibited for all employees. 
 

2) Additionally, the purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines to maintain a 
drug and alcohol-free workplace in compliance with the Drug-Free Workplace 
Act of 1988, and the Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991.  
This policy is intended to comply with all applicable Federal regulations 
governing workplace anti-drug and alcohol programs in the transit industry.  
Specifically, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation has published 49 CFR Part 655, as amended, that mandates urine 
drug testing and breath alcohol testing for safety-sensitive positions, and 
prohibits performance of safety-sensitive functions when there is a positive test 
result.  The U. S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) has also published 49 
CFR Part 40, as amended, that sets standards for the collection and testing of 
urine and breath specimens.   
 

3) Any provisions set forth in this policy that are included under the sole authority 
of Marin Transit and are not provided under the authority of the above named 
Federal regulations are underlined.  Tests conducted under the sole authority of 
Marin Transit will be performed on non-USDOT forms and will be separate from 
USDOT testing in all respects. 

 

B. APPLICABILITY 

 
This Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy applies to all safety-sensitive employees (full- or 
part-time) when performing safety sensitive duties.  Marin Transit employees that do 
not perform safety-sensitive functions are also covered under this policy under the sole 
authority of Marin Transit.  See Attachment A for a list of employees and the authority 
under which they are included.   
 

Item 4e

58



 
 

3 
 

A safety-sensitive function is operation of public transit service including the operation 
of a revenue service vehicle (whether or not the vehicle is in revenue service), 
maintenance of a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service, 
security personnel who carry firearms, dispatchers or person controlling the movement 
of revenue service vehicles and any transit employee who operates a vehicle that 
requires a Commercial Driver’s License to operate. Maintenance functions include the 
repair, overhaul, and rebuild of engines, vehicles and/or equipment used in revenue 
service.  A list of safety-sensitive positions that perform one or more of the above 
mentioned duties is provided in Attachment A.    Supervisors are only safety sensitive if 
they perform one of the above functions.  Volunteers are considered safety sensitive 
and subject to testing if they are required to hold a CDL, or receive remuneration for 
service in excess of actual expense. 
 

C. DEFINITIONS 

Accident: An occurrence associated with the operation of a vehicle even when not in 
revenue service, if as a result: 

a) An individual dies; 
b) An individual suffers a bodily injury and immediately receives medical treatment 

away from the scene of the accident; or, 
c) One or more vehicles incur disabling damage as the result of the occurrence and 

is transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other vehicle.  For 
purposes of this definition, disabling damage means damage which precludes 
departure of any vehicle from the scene of the occurrence in its usual manner in 
daylight after simple repairs.  Disabling damage includes damage to vehicles 
that could have been operated but would have been further damaged if so 
operated, but does not include damage which can be remedied temporarily at 
the scene of the occurrence without special tools or parts, tire disablement 
without other damage even if no spare tire is available, or damage to 
headlights, taillights, turn signals, horn, mirrors or windshield wipers that makes 
them inoperative. 

 
Adulterated specimen: A specimen that has been altered, as evidence by test results 
showing either a substance that is not a normal constituent for that type of specimen or 
showing an abnormal concentration of an endogenous substance.  
 
Alcohol: The intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol, or other low 
molecular weight alcohols contained in any beverage, mixture, mouthwash, candy, food, 
preparation or medication. 

Item 4e

59



 
 

4 
 

 
Alcohol Concentration: Expressed in terms of grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath as 
indicated by a breath test under 49 CFR Part 40. 
 
Aliquot: A fractional part of a specimen used for testing; it is taken as a sample 
representing the whole specimen.  
 
Canceled Test: A drug or alcohol test that has a problem identified that cannot be or has 
not been corrected or which is canceled. A canceled test is neither positive nor negative. 
 
Confirmatory Drug Test:  A second analytical procedure performed on a different aliquot 
of the original specimen to identify and quantify the presence of a specific drug or 
metabolite.  
 
Confirmatory Validity Test: A second test performed on a different aliquot of the original 
urine specimen to further support a validity test result.  
 
Covered Employee Under FTA Authority: An employee who performs a safety-sensitive 
function including an applicant or transferee who is being considered for hire into a 
safety-sensitive function (See Attachment A for a list of covered employees).  
 
Covered Employee Under Company Authority:  An employee, applicant, or transferee 
that will not perform a safety-sensitive function as defined by FTA but is included under 
the company’s own authority.  (See Attachment A). 
 
Designated Employer Representative (DER): An employee authorized by the employer to 
take immediate action to remove employees from safety-sensitive duties and to make 
required decisions in testing.  The DER also receives test results and other 
communications for the employer, consistent with the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 40 
and 655. 
 
Department of Transportation (DOT): For the purposes of Drug and Alcohol regulatory 
oversight, DOT is the department of the federal government that includes the Federal 
Transit Administration, Federal Railroad Administration, Federal Aviation 
Administration, Federal Motor Carriers’ Safety Administration, Pipeline & Hazardous 
Materials Safety Administration, United States Coast Guard, and the Office of the 
Secretary of Transportation.  
 
Dilute specimen: A urine specimen with creatinine and specific gravity values that are 
lower than expected for human urine.  

Item 4e

60



 
 

5 
 

 
Disabling damage: Damage which precludes departure of any vehicle from the scene of 
the occurrence in its usual manner in daylight after simple repairs.  Disabling damage 
includes damage to vehicles that could have been operated but would have been 
further damaged if so operated, but does not include damage which can be remedied 
temporarily at the scene of the occurrence without special tools or parts, tire 
disablement without other damage even if no spare tire is available, or damage to 
headlights, taillights, turn signals, horn, or windshield wipers that makes them 
inoperative. 
 
Evidentiary Breath Testing Device (EBT): A Device approved by the NHTSA for the 
evidential testing of breath at the 0.02 and the 0.04 alcohol concentrations.  Approved 
devices are listed on the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) 
conforming products list. 
 
Initial Drug Test: (Screening Drug Test) The test used to differentiate a negative 
specimen from one that requires further testing for drugs or drug metabolites.  
 
Initial Specimen Validity Test:  The first test used to determine if a urine specimen is 
adulterated, diluted, substituted, or invalid 
 
Invalid Result:  The result reported by a Department of Health & Human Services (HHS)-
certified laboratory in accordance with the criteria established by the HHS Mandatory 
Guidelines when a positive, negative, adulterated, or substituted results cannot be 
established for a specific drug or specimen validity test.  
 
Laboratory:  Any U.S. laboratory certified by HHS under the National Laboratory 
Certification program as meeting standards of Subpart C of the HHS Mandatory 
Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs; or, in the case of foreign 
laboratories, a laboratory approved for participation by DOT under this part.  
 
Limit of Detection (LOD): The lowest concentration at which a measurand can be 
identified, but (for quantitative assays) the concentration cannot be accurately 
calculated. 
 
Limit of Quantitation: For quantitative assays, the lowest concentration at which the 
identity and concentration of the measurand can be accurately established.   
 
Medical Review Officer (MRO):  A licensed physician (medical doctor or doctor of 
osteopathy) responsible for receiving laboratory results generated by the drug testing 

Item 4e

61



 
 

6 
 

program who has knowledge of substance abuse disorders, and has appropriate medical 
training to interpret and evaluate an individual's confirmed positive test result, together 
with his/her medical history, and any other relevant bio-medical information. 
 
Negative Dilute: A drug test result which is negative for the five drug/drug metabolites 
but has a specific gravity value lower than expected for human urine. 
 
Negative result: The result reported by an HHS-certified laboratory to an MRO when a 
specimen contains no drug or the concentration of the drug is less than the cutoff 
concentration for the drug or drug class and the specimen is a valid specimen.  
 
Non-negative test result: A urine specimen that is reported as adulterated, substituted, 
invalid, or positive for drug/drug metabolites.   
 
Oxidizing Adulterant: A substance that acts alone or in combination with other 
substances to oxidize drugs or drug metabolites to prevent the detection of the drug or 
metabolites, or affects the reagents in either the initial or confirmatory drug test.  
    
Performing (a safety-sensitive function):  A covered employee is considered to be 
performing a safety-sensitive function and includes any period in which he or she is 
actually performing, ready to perform, or immediately available to perform such 
functions. 
 
Positive result:  The result reported by an HHS- Certified laboratory when a specimen 
contains a drug or drug metabolite equal or greater to the cutoff concentrations.  
 
Prohibited drug:  Identified as marijuana, cocaine, opiates, amphetamines (including 
ecstasy), or phencyclidine at levels above the minimum thresholds specified in 49 CFR 
Part 40, as amended. 
 
Reconfirmed:  The result reported for a split specimen when the second laboratory is 
able to corroborate the original result reported for the primary specimen. 
 
Rejected for Testing:  The result reported by an HHS- Certified laboratory when no tests 
are performed for s specimen because of a fatal flaw or a correctable flaw that has not 
been corrected.  
 
Revenue Service Vehicles: All transit vehicles that are used for passenger transportation 
service. 
 

Item 4e

62



 
 

7 
 

Safety-sensitive functions: Employee duties identified as:  
(1) The operation of a transit revenue service vehicle even when the vehicle is 

not in revenue service.  
(2) The operation of a non-revenue service vehicle by an employee when the 

operation of such a vehicle requires the driver to hold a Commercial Driver’s 
License (CDL).  

(3) Maintaining a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service. 
(4) Controlling the movement of a revenue service vehicle and  
(5) Carrying a firearm for security purposes.   

 
Split Specimen Collection:  A collection in which the urine collected is divided into two 
separate bottles, the primary specimen (Bottle A) and the split specimen (Bottle B). 
 
Substance Abuse Professional (SAP): A licensed physician (medical doctor or doctor of 
osteopathy) or licensed or certified psychologist, social worker, employee assistance 
professional, state-licensed marriage and family therapist, or drug and alcohol counselor 
(certified by the National Association of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Counselors 
Certification Commission or by the International Certification Reciprocity 
Consortium/Alcohol and other Drug Abuse (ICRC) or by the National Board for Certified 
Counselors, Inc. and Affiliates/Master Addictions Counselor (NBCC)) with knowledge of 
and clinical experience in the diagnosis and treatment of drug and alcohol related 
disorders. 
 
Substituted specimen: A urine specimen with creatinine and specific gravity values that 
are so diminished or so divergent that they are not consistent with normal human urine. 
 
Test Refusal:   The following are considered a refusal to test if the employee: 

(1) Fails to appear for any test (excluding pre-employment) within a 
reasonable time, as determined by the employer, after being directed to 
do so by the employer 

(2) Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete 
(3) Fails  to provide a urine or breath specimen for any drug or alcohol test 

required by Part 40 or DOT agency regulations 
(4) In the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test, 

fails to permit the observation or monitoring of your provision of a 
specimen 

(5) Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine or breath when directed, and 
it has been determined, through a required medical evaluation, that 
there was no adequate medical explanation for the failure 

Item 4e

63



 
 

8 
 

(6) Fails or declines to take a second test the employer or collector has 
directed you to take 

(7) Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the 
MRO as part of the verification process, or as directed by the DER as part 
of the ``shy bladder'' or “shy lung” procedures 

(8) Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuse to 
empty pockets when so directed by the collector, behave in a 
confrontational way that disrupts the collection process) 

(9) If the MRO reports that there is verified adulterated or substituted test 
result 

(10) Failure or refusal to sign Step 2 of the alcohol testing form 
(11) Failure to follow the observer’s instructions during an observed collection 

including instructions to raise your clothing above the waist, lower 
clothing and underpants, and to turn around to permit the observer to 
determine if you have any type of prosthetic or other device that could 
be used to interfere with the collection process. 

(12) Possess or wear a prosthetic or other device that could be used to 
interfere with the collection process 

(13) Admit to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the 
specimen. 

 
Vehicle: A bus, electric bus, van, automobile, rail car, trolley car, trolley bus, or vessel. A 
public transit vehicle is a vehicle used for public transportation or for ancillary services. 
 
Verified negative test: A drug test result reviewed by a medical review officer and 
determined to have no evidence of prohibited drug use above the minimum cutoff 
levels established by the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). 

 
Verified positive test: A drug test result reviewed by a medical review officer and 
determined to have evidence of prohibited drug use above the minimum cutoff levels 
specified in 49 CFR Part 40 as revised. 

 
Validity testing: The evaluation of the specimen to determine if it is consistent with 
normal human urine. Specimen validity testing will be conducted on all urine specimens 
provided for testing under DOT authority.  The purpose of validity testing is to 
determine whether certain adulterants or foreign substances were added to the urine, if 
the urine was diluted, or if the specimen was substituted. 

Item 4e

64



 
 

9 
 

D. EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

 
1) Every covered employee will receive a copy of this policy and will have ready 

access to the corresponding federal regulations including 49 CFR Parts 655 and 
40, as amended.  In addition, all covered employees will undergo a minimum of 
60 minutes of training on the signs and symptoms of drug use including the 
effects and consequences of drug use on personal health, safety, and the work 
environment.  The training also includes manifestations and behavioral cues that 
may indicate prohibited drug use. 
 

2) All supervisory personnel or company officials who are in a position to determine 
employee fitness for duty will receive 60 minutes of reasonable suspicion 
training on the physical, behavioral, and performance indicators of probable 
drug use and 60 minutes of additional reasonable suspicion training on the 
physical, behavioral, speech, and performance indicators of probable alcohol 
misuse.   

 

E. PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES 

 
1) Prohibited substances addressed by this policy include the following. 

 
a. Illegally Used Controlled Substance or Drugs Under the Drug-Free Workplace 

Act of 1988 any drug or any substance identified in Schedule I through V of 
Section 202 of the Controlled Substance Act (21 U.S.C. 812), and as further 
defined by 21 CFR 1300.11 through 1300.15 is prohibited at all times in the 
workplace unless a legal prescription has been written for the substance.  
This includes, but is not limited to: marijuana, amphetamines (including 
methamphetamine and ecstasy), opiates (including heroin), phencyclidine 
(PCP), and cocaine, as well as any drug not approved for medical use by the 
U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration or the U.S. Food and Drug 
Administration.  Illegal use includes use of any illegal drug, misuse of legally 
prescribed drugs, and use of illegally obtained prescription drugs.  Also, the 
medical use of marijuana, or the use of hemp related products, which cause 
drug or drug metabolites to be present in the body above the minimum 
thresholds is a violation of this policy 
 
Federal Transit Administration drug testing regulations (49 CFR Part 655) 
require that all employees covered under FTA Authority be tested for 

Item 4e

65



 
 

10 
 

marijuana, cocaine, amphetamines (including methamphetamine and 
ecstasy), opiates (including heroin), and phencyclidine as described in Section 
H of this policy.  Employees covered under company authority will also be 
tested for these same substances. Illegal use of these five drugs is prohibited 
at all times and thus, covered employees may be tested for these drugs 
anytime that they are on duty.  

 
b. Legal Drugs: The appropriate use of legally prescribed drugs and non-

prescription medications is not prohibited.  However, the use of any 
substance which carries a warning label that indicates that mental 
functioning, motor skills, or judgment may be adversely affected must be 
reported to a Marin Transit supervisor and the employee is required to 
provide a written release from his/her doctor or pharmacist indicating that 
the employee can perform his/her safety-sensitive functions. 
 

c. Alcohol: The use of beverages containing alcohol (including any mouthwash,
 medication, food, candy) or any other substances such that alcohol is 
present in the body while performing safety-sensitive job functions is 
prohibited.  A random or reasonable suspicion alcohol test can only be 
performed on a covered employee under 49 CFR Part 655 just before, during, 
or just after the performance of safety-sensitive job functions.  Under Marin 
Transit authority, a non-DOT alcohol test can be performed any time an 
employee is on duty. 

 

F. PROHIBITED CONDUCT 

 
1) All covered employees are prohibited from reporting for duty or remaining on 

duty any time there is a quantifiable presence of a prohibited drug in the body 
above the minimum thresholds defined in 49 CFR PART 40, as amended. 

 
2) Each covered employee is prohibited from consuming alcohol while performing 

safety-sensitive job functions or while on-call to perform safety-sensitive job 
functions.  If an on-call employee has consumed alcohol, they must acknowledge 
the use of alcohol at the time that they are called to report for duty.  The 
covered employee will subsequently be relieved of his/her on-call 
responsibilities and subject to discipline.   

 

Item 4e

66



 
 

11 
 

3) The Transit Department shall not permit any covered employee to perform or 
continue to perform safety-sensitive functions if it has actual knowledge that the 
employee is using alcohol  

 
4) Each covered employee is prohibited from reporting to work or remaining on 

duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions while having an 
alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater regardless of when the alcohol was 
consumed.   

 
5) No covered employee shall consume alcohol for eight (8) hours following 

involvement in an accident or until he/she submits to the post-accident 
drug/alcohol test, whichever occurs first. 

 
6) No covered employee shall consume alcohol within four (4) hours prior to the 

performance of safety-sensitive job functions. 
 

7) Marin Transit under its own authority also prohibits the consumption of alcohol 
all times employee is on duty, or anytime the employee is in uniform. 

 
8) Consistent with the Drug-free Workplace Act of 1988, all Marin Transit 

employees are prohibited from engaging in the unlawful manufacture, 
distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of prohibited substances in the work 
place including transit system premises and transit vehicles. 
 

G. DRUG STATUTE CONVICTION 

 
Consistent with the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1998, all employees are required to 
notify the Marin Transit management of any criminal drug statute conviction for a 
violation occurring in the workplace within five days after such conviction.  Failure to 
comply with this provision shall result in disciplinary action as defined in Section Q.10 of 
this policy. 
 

H. TESTING REQUIREMENTS 

 
1) Analytical urine drug testing and breath testing for alcohol will be conducted 

using the testing methodologies and thresholds defined in 49CFR part 40 as 

Item 4e

67



 
 

12 
 

amended.  All employees covered under FTA authority  shall be subject to testing 
prior to performing safety-sensitive duty, for reasonable suspicion, following an 
accident, and random as defined in Section K, L, M, and N of this policy, and 
return to duty/follow-up.  All employees covered under company authority will 
also be subject to testing  for reasonable suspicion, post-accident, random and 
return to duty/follow up using non-DOT testing forms 

 
2) A drug test can be performed any time a covered employee is on duty.  A 

reasonable suspicion and random alcohol test can be performed just before, 
during, or after the performance of a safety-sensitive job function.    Under 
Marin Transit authority, a non-DOT alcohol test can be performed any time an 
employee is on duty. 
 

3) All employees will be subject to urine drug testing and breath alcohol testing as a 
condition of ongoing employment with Marin Transit.  Any safety-sensitive 
employee who refuses to comply with a request for testing shall be removed 
from duty and subject to discipline as defined in Section Q of this policy.   
 

I. DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES 

 
1) Testing shall be conducted in a manner to assure a high degree of accuracy and 

reliability and using techniques, equipment, and laboratory facilities which have 
been approved by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Service (HHS).  All 
testing will be conducted consistent with the procedures set forth in 49 CFR 
Part 40, as amended.  The procedures will be performed in a private, 
confidential manner and every effort will be made to protect the employee, the 
integrity of the drug testing procedure, and the validity of the test result. 

 
2) The drugs that will be tested for include marijuana, cocaine, opiates (including 

heroin), amphetamines (including methamphetamine and ecstasy), and 
phencyclidine.  After the identity of the donor is checked using picture 
identification, a urine specimen will be collected using the split specimen 
collection method described in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.  Each specimen will 
be accompanied by a DOT Chain of Custody and Control Form and identified 
using a unique identification number that attributes the specimen to the correct 
individual.  The specimen analysis will be conducted at a HHS certified 
laboratory.  An initial drug screen and validity test will be conducted on the 
primary urine specimen.  For those specimens that are not negative, a 

Item 4e

68



 
 

13 
 

confirmatory Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) test will be 
performed.  The test will be considered positive if the amounts of the drug(s) 
and/or its metabolites identified by the GC/MS test are above the minimum 
thresholds established in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.    

 
3) The test results from the HHS certified laboratory will be reported to a Medical 

Review Officer.  A Medical Review Officer (MRO) is a licensed physician with 
detailed knowledge of substance abuse disorders and drug testing.  The MRO 
will review the test results to ensure the scientific validity of the test and to 
determine whether there is a legitimate medical explanation for a confirmed 
positive, substitute, or adulterated test result.  The MRO will attempt to contact 
the employee to notify the employee of the non-negative laboratory result, and 
provide the employee with an opportunity to explain the confirmed laboratory 
test result.  The MRO will subsequently review the employee’s medical 
history/medical records as appropriate to determine whether there is a 
legitimate medical explanation for a non-negative laboratory result.  If no 
legitimate medical explanation is found, the test will be verified positive or 
refusal to test and reported to the Marin Transit Drug and Alcohol Program 
Manager (DAPM).  If a legitimate explanation is found, the MRO will report the 
test result as negative to the DAPM.  

 
4) If the test is invalid without a medical explanation, a retest will be conducted 

under direct observation.  Employees do not have access to a test of their split 
specimen following an invalid result.  

 
5) Any covered employee who questions the results of a required drug test under 

paragraphs L through P of this policy may request that the split sample be 
tested.  The split sample test must be conducted at a second HHS-certified 
laboratory.  The test must be conducted on the split sample that was provided 
by the employee at the same time as the primary sample.  The method of 
collecting, storing, and testing the split sample will be consistent with the 
procedures set forth in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.  The employee's request for 
a split sample test must be made to the Medical Review Officer within 72 hours 
of notice of the original sample verified test result.  Requests after 72 hours will 
only be accepted at the discretion of the MRO if the delay was due to 
documentable facts that were beyond the control of the employee.  Marin 
Transit will ensure that the cost for the split specimen are covered in order for a 
timely analysis of the sample, however Marin Transit will seek reimbursement 
for the split sample test from the employee.  

 

Item 4e

69



 
 

14 
 

6) If the analysis of the split specimen fails to confirm the presence of the drug(s) 
detected in the primary specimen, if the split specimen is not able to be 
analyzed, or if the results of the split specimen are not scientifically adequate, 
the MRO will declare the original test to be canceled.  If the split specimen is 
not available to analyze the MRO will direct Marin Transit to retest the 
employee under direct observation. 

 
7) The split specimen will be stored at the initial laboratory until the analysis of the 

primary specimen is completed.  If the primary specimen is negative, the split 
will be discarded.  If the primary specimen is positive, it will be retained in 
frozen storage for one year and the split specimen will also be retained for one 
year. If the primary is positive, the primary and the split will be retained for 
longer than one year for testing if so requested by the employee through the 
Medical Review Officer, or by the employer, by the MRO, or by the relevant 
DOT agency.   

 
8) Observed collections 

 
a. Consistent with 49 CFR part 40, as amended, collection under direct 

observation (by a person of the same gender) with no advance notice will 
occur if: 

 
i. The laboratory reports to the MRO that a specimen is invalid, and 

the MRO reports to Marin Transit that there was not an adequate 
medical explanation for the result;  

 
ii. The MRO reports to Marin Transit that the original positive, 

adulterated, or substituted test result had to be cancelled 
because the test of the split specimen could not be performed; 
 

iii. The laboratory reported to the MRO that the specimen was 
negative-dilute with a creatinine concentration greater than or 
equal to 2 mg/dL but less than or equal to 5 mg/dL, and the MRO 
reported the specimen to you as negative-dilute and that a 
second collection must take place under direct observation (see 
§40.197(b)(1)).  

 
iv. The collector observes materials brought to the collection site or 

the employee's conduct clearly indicates an attempt to tamper 
with a specimen; 

Item 4e

70



 
 

15 
 

 
v. The temperature on the original specimen was out of range; 

 
vi. Anytime the employee is directed to provide another specimen 

because the original specimen appeared to have been tampered 
with.  
 

vii. All follow-up-tests; or 
 

viii. All return-to-duty tests  
 

J. ALCOHOL TESTING PROCEDURES 

 
1) Tests for breath alcohol concentration will be conducted utilizing a National 

Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)-approved Evidential Breath 
Testing device (EBT) operated by a trained Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT).   
Alcohol screening tests may be performed using a non-evidential testing device 
which is also approved by NHSTA. If the initial test indicates an alcohol 
concentration of 0.02 or greater, a second test will be performed to confirm the 
results of the initial test.   The confirmatory test must occur on an EBT.  The 
confirmatory test will be conducted no sooner than fifteen minutes after the 
completion of the initial test.  The confirmatory test will be performed using a 
NHTSA-approved EBT operated by a trained BAT.  The EBT will identify each test 
by a unique sequential identification number.  This number, time, and unit 
identifier will be provided on each EBT printout.  The EBT printout, along with an 
approved alcohol testing form, will be used to document the test, the 
subsequent results, and to attribute the test to the correct employee.  The test 
will be performed in a private, confidential manner as required by 49 CFR Part 
40, as amended.  The procedure will be followed as prescribed to protect the 
employee and to maintain the integrity of the alcohol testing procedures and 
validity of the test result.   

 
2) An employee who has a confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater will 

be considered a positive alcohol test and in violation of this policy.  The 
consequences of a positive alcohol test are described in Section Q of this policy.  
Even though an employee who has a confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.02 to 
0.039 is not considered positive, the employee shall still be removed from duty 
for at least eight hours or for the duration of the work day whichever is longer 

Item 4e

71



 
 

16 
 

and will be subject to the consequences described in Section Q of this policy.  An 
alcohol concentration of less than 0.02 will be considered a negative test. 

 
3) Marin Transit affirms the need to protect individual dignity, privacy, and 

confidentiality throughout the testing process.  If at any time the integrity of the 
testing procedures or the validity of the test results is compromised, the test will 
be canceled.  Minor inconsistencies or procedural flaws that do not impact the 
test result will not result in a cancelled test. 

 
4) The alcohol testing form (ATF) required by 49 CFR Part 40 as amended, shall be 

used for all FTA required testing.  Failure of an employee to sign step 2 of the 
ATF will be considered a refusal to submit to testing. 

 

K. PRE-EMPLOYMENT TESTING 

 
1) All applicants for covered transit positions shall undergo urine drug testing prior 

to performance of a safety-sensitive function. 
   

b. All offers of employment for covered positions shall be extended 
conditional upon the applicant passing a drug test. An applicant will not 
be allowed to perform safety-sensitive functions unless the applicant 
takes a drug test with verified negative results. 

 
c. An employee shall not be placed, transferred or promoted into a position 

covered under FTA or company authority until the employee takes a drug 
test with verified negative results. 

 
d. If an applicant fails a pre-employment drug test, the conditional offer of 

employment shall be rescinded and the applicant will be referred to a 
SAP.  Failure of a pre-employment drug test will disqualify an applicant 
for employment for a period of at least one year.   Before being 
considered for future employment the applicant must provide the 
employer proof of having successfully completed a referral, evaluation 
and treatment plan as described in section 655.62 of subpart G.  The cost 
for the assessment and any subsequent treatment will be the sole 
responsibility of the applicant. 

 

Item 4e

72



 
 

17 
 

e. When an employee being placed, transferred, or promoted from a non-
covered position to a position covered under FTA or company authority 
submits a drug test with a verified positive result, the employee shall be 
subject to disciplinary action in accordance with Section Q herein. 

 
f. If a pre-employment test is canceled, Marin Transit will require the 

applicant to take and pass another pre-employment drug test. 
 

g. In instances where an FTA-covered employee does not perform a safety-
sensitive function for a period of 90 consecutive days or more regardless 
of reason and during that period is not in the random testing pool, the 
employee will be required to take a pre-employment drug test under 49 
CFR Part 655 and have negative test results prior to the conduct of 
safety-sensitive job functions. 

 
h. Following a negative dilute the employee will be required to undergo 

another test.  Should this second test result in a negative dilute result, 
the test will be considered a negative and no additional testing will be 
required unless directed to do so by the MRO.  

 
i. Applicants are required (even if ultimately not hired) to provide  Marin 

Transit with signed written releases requesting FTA drug and alcohol 
records from all previous, DOT-covered, employers that the applicant has 
worked for within the last two years. Failure to do so will result in the 
employment offer being rescinded. Marin Transit is required to ask all 
applicants (even if ultimately not hired) if they have tested positive or 
refused to test on a pre-employment test for a DOT covered employer 
within the last two years. If the applicant has tested positive or refused to 
test on a pre-employment test for a DOT covered employer, the applicant 
must provide Marin Transit proof of having successfully completed a 
referral, evaluation and treatment plan as described in section 655.62 of 
subpart G. 

 

L. REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTING 

 
1) All Marin Transit FTA covered employees will be subject to a reasonable 

suspicion drug and/or alcohol test when the employer has reasonable suspicion 
to believe that the covered employee has used a prohibited drug and/or 

Item 4e

73



 
 

18 
 

engaged in alcohol misuse.  Reasonable suspicion shall mean that there is 
objective evidence, based upon specific, contemporaneous, articulable 
observations of the employee's appearance, behavior, speech or body odor that 
are consistent with possible drug use and/or alcohol misuse.  Reasonable 
suspicion referrals must be made by one or more supervisors who are trained to 
detect the signs and symptoms of drug and alcohol use, and who reasonably 
concludes that an employee may be adversely affected or impaired in his/her 
work performance due to possible prohibited substance abuse or alcohol misuse.  
A reasonable suspicion alcohol test can only be conducted just before, during, or 
just after the performance of a safety-sensitive job function.  However, under 
Marin Transit’s authority, a non-DOT reasonable suspicion alcohol test may be 
performed any time the covered employee is on duty.  A reasonable suspicion 
drug test can be performed any time the covered employee is on duty. All 
employees covered under the sole authority of Marin Transit will also be subject 
to non-USDOT reasonable suspicion testing procedures modeled off the 
provisions in 49 CFR Part 40.  
 

2) Marin Transit shall be responsible for transporting the employee to the testing 
site.  Supervisors should avoid placing themselves and/or others into a situation 
which might endanger the physical safety of those present.  The employee shall 
be placed on administrative leave pending disciplinary action described in 
Section Q of this policy.  An employee who refuses an instruction to submit to a 
drug/alcohol test shall not be permitted to finish his or her shift and shall 
immediately be placed on administrative leave pending disciplinary action as 
specified in Section Q of this policy. 
 

3) A written record of the observations which led to a drug/alcohol test based on 
reasonable suspicion shall be prepared and signed by the supervisor making the 
observation.  This written record shall be submitted to the Marin Transit 
 

4) When there are no specific, contemporaneous, articulable objective facts that 
indicate current drug or alcohol use, but the employee (who is not already a 
participant in a treatment program) admits the abuse of alcohol or other 
substances to a supervisor in his/her chain of command, the employee shall be 
referred for assessment and treatment consistent with Section Q of this policy.  
Marin Transit shall place the employee on administrative leave in accordance 
with the provisions set forth under Section Q of this policy.  Testing in this 
circumstance would be performed under the direct authority of the Marin 
Transit.  Since the employee self-referred to management, testing under this 
circumstance would not be considered a violation of this policy or a positive 

Item 4e

74



 
 

19 
 

test result under Federal authority.  However, self-referral does not exempt the 
covered employee from testing under Federal authority as specified in Sections L 
through N of this policy or the associated consequences as specified in Section Q.  

 

M. POST-ACCIDENT TESTING 

 
1) FATAL ACCIDENTS - All employees covered under FTA authority will be required 

to undergo urine and breath testing if they are involved in an accident with a 
transit vehicle regardless of whether or not the vehicle is in revenue service that 
results in a fatality.  This includes all surviving covered employees that are 
operating the vehicle at the time of the accident and any other whose 
performance could have contributed to the accident. 
 

2) NON-FATAL ACCIDENTS - A post-accident test of the operator will be conducted 
if an accident results in injuries requiring immediate transportation to a medical 
treatment facility; or one or more vehicles incurs disabling damage, unless the 
operator’s performance can be completely discounted as a contributing factor to 
the accident. 

 
a. As soon as practicable following an accident, as defined in this policy, the 

transit supervisor investigating the accident will notify the transit 
employee operating the transit vehicle and all other covered employees 
whose performance could have contributed to the accident of the need 
for the test.  The supervisor will make the determination using the best 
information available at the time of the decision. 

 
b. The appropriate transit supervisor shall ensure that an employee, 

required to be tested under this section, is tested as soon as practicable, 
but no longer than eight (8) hours of the accident for alcohol, and no 
longer than 32 hours for drugs.  If an alcohol test is not performed within 
two hours of the accident, the Supervisor will document the reason(s) for 
the delay.  If the alcohol test is not conducted within (8) eight hours, or 
the drug test within 32 hours, attempts to conduct the test must cease 
and the reasons for the failure to test documented. 

 
c. Any covered employee involved in an accident must refrain from alcohol 

use for eight (8) hours following the accident or until he/she undergoes a 
post-accident alcohol test.   

Item 4e

75



 
 

20 
 

 
d. An employee who is subject to post-accident testing who fails to remain 

readily available for such testing, including notifying a supervisor of his or 
her location if he or she leaves the scene of the accident prior to 
submission to such test, may be deemed to have refused to submit to 
testing. 

 
e. Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the delay of 

necessary medical attention for the injured following an accident, or to 
prohibit an employee from leaving the scene of an accident for the 
period necessary to obtain assistance in responding to the accident, or to 
obtain necessary emergency medical care. 

 
f. In the rare event that Marin Transit is unable to perform an FTA drug and 

alcohol test (i.e., employee is unconscious, employee is detained by law 
enforcement agency), Marin Transit may use drug and alcohol post-
accident test results administered by local law enforcement officials in 
lieu of the FTA test.  The local law enforcement officials must have 
independent authority for the test and the employer must obtain the 
results in conformance with local law. 

 

N. RANDOM TESTING 

 
1) All covered employees will be subjected to random, unannounced testing.  

Employees covered under FTA authority will be selected from a pool of DOT-
covered safety-sensitive employees.  Employees covered under company 
authority will be selected from a pool of non-DOT-covered employees.  The 
selection of employees shall be made by a scientifically valid method of 
randomly generating an employee identifier from the appropriate pool of 
employees.   

 
2) The dates for administering unannounced testing of randomly selected 

employees shall be spread reasonably throughout the calendar year, day of the 
week and hours of the day. 

 
3) The number of employees randomly selected for drug/alcohol testing during the 

calendar year shall be not less than the percentage rates established by Federal 
regulations for those safety-sensitive employees subject to random testing by 

Item 4e

76



 
 

21 
 

Federal regulations.  The current random testing rate for drugs established by 
FTA equals twenty-five percent of the number of covered employees in the pool 
and the random testing rate for alcohol established by FTA equals ten percent of 
the number of covered employees in the pool. 

 
4) Each covered employee shall be in a pool from which the random selection is 

made.  Each covered employee in the pool shall have an equal chance of 
selection each time the selections are made.  Employees will remain in the pool 
and subject to selection, whether or not the employee has been previously 
tested.  There is no discretion on the part of management in the selection. 

 
5) Covered transit employees that fall under the Federal Transit Administration 

regulations will be included in one random pool maintained separately from the 
testing pool of non-safety-sensitive employees that are included solely under 
Marin Transit authority. 

 
6) Random tests can be conducted at any time during an employee’s shift for drug 

testing.  Alcohol random tests can be performed just before, during, or just after 
the performance of a safety sensitive duty. However, under Marin Transit’s 
authority, a non-DOT random alcohol test may be performed any time the 
employee is on duty. Testing can occur during the beginning, middle, or end of 
an employee’s shift. 

 
7) Employees are required to proceed immediately to the collection site upon 

notification of their random selection. 
 

O. RETURN-TO-DUTY TESTING 

 
All covered employees who previously tested positive on a drug or alcohol test or 
refused a test, must test negative for drugs, alcohol (below 0.02 for alcohol), or both 
and be evaluated and released by the Substance Abuse Professional before returning to 
work.  For an initial positive drug test a Return-to-Duty drug test is required and an 
alcohol test is allowed.  For an initial positive alcohol test a Return-to-Duty alcohol test 
is required and a drug test is allowed.  Following the initial assessment, the SAP will 
recommend a course of rehabilitation unique to the individual.   The SAP will 
recommend the return-to-duty test only when the employee has successfully completed 
the treatment requirement and is known to be drug and alcohol-free and there are no 
undo concerns for public safety. 

Item 4e

77



 
 

22 
 

 

P. FOLLOW-UP TESTING 

 
Covered employees will be required to undergo frequent, unannounced drug and/or 
alcohol testing following their return-to-duty.  The follow-up testing will be performed 
for a period of one to five years with a minimum of six tests to be performed the first 
year.  The frequency and duration of the follow-up tests (beyond the minimums) will be 
determined by the SAP reflecting the SAP’s assessment of the employee’s unique 
situation and recovery progress.  Follow-up testing should be frequent enough to deter 
and/or detect a relapse.  Follow-up testing is separate and in addition to the random, 
post-accident, reasonable suspicion and return-to-duty testing.  
 
In the instance of a self-referral or a management referral, the employee will be subject 
to non-USDOT follow-up tests and follow-up testing plans modeled using the process 
described in 49 CFR Part 40. However, all non-USDOT follow-up tests and all paperwork 
associated with an employee’s return-to-work agreement that was not precipitated by a 
positive test result (or refusal to test) does not constitute a violation of the Federal 
regulations will be conducted under company authority and will be performed using 
non-DOT testing forms. 
 

Q. RESULT OF DRUG/ALCOHOL TEST 

 
a. Any covered employee that has a verified positive drug or alcohol test, or test 

refusal, will be removed from his/her safety-sensitive position, informed of 
educational and rehabilitation programs available, and referred to a Substance 
Abuse Professional (SAP) for assessment.  No employee will be allowed to return 
to duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive job functions without the 
approval of the SAP and the employer. 
 

b. Following a negative dilute the employee will be required to undergo another 
test.  Should this second test result in a negative dilute result, the test will be 
considered a negative and no additional testing will be required unless directed 
to do so by the MRO.  

 
Q.1 Marin Transit 

 

Item 4e

78



 
 

23 
 

c. Refusal to submit to a drug/alcohol test shall be considered a positive test result 
and a direct act of insubordination and shall result in termination and referral to 
an SAP. A test refusal includes the following circumstances: 

a. Fails to appear for any test (excluding pre-employment) within a 
reasonable time, as determined by the employer, after being directed to 
do so by the employer 

b. Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete 
c. Fails  to provide a urine or breath specimen for any drug or alcohol test 

required by Part 40 or DOT agency regulations 
d. In the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test, 

fails to permit the observation or monitoring of your provision of a 
specimen 

e. Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine or breath when directed, and 
it has been determined, through a required medical evaluation, that 
there was no adequate medical explanation for the failure 

f. Fails or declines to take a second test the employer or collector has 
directed you to take 

g. Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the 
MRO as part of the verification process, or as directed by the DER as part 
of the ``shy bladder'' or “shy lung” procedures 

h. Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuse to 
empty pockets when so directed by the collector, behave in a 
confrontational way that disrupts the collection process) 

i. If the MRO reports that there is verified adulterated or substituted test 
result 

j. Failure or refusal to sign Step 2 of the alcohol testing form 
k. Failure to follow the observer’s instructions during an observed collection 

including instructions to raise your clothing above the waist, lower 
clothing and underpants, and to turn around to permit the observer to 
determine if you have any type of prosthetic or other device that could 
be used to interfere with the collection process. 

l. Possess or wear a prosthetic or other device that could be used to 
interfere with the collection process 

m. Admit to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the 
specimen  

  
d. For the first instance of a verified positive test from a sample submitted as the 

result of a random,  drug/alcohol test (≥ 0.04 BAC), disciplinary action against the 
employee shall include: 

Item 4e

79



 
 

24 
 

a. Mandatory referral to Substance Abuse Professional for assessment, 
formulation of a treatment plan, and execution of a return to duty 
agreement; 

b. Failure to execute, or remain compliant with the return-to-duty 
agreement shall result in termination from Marin Transit employment. 

i. Compliance with the return-to-duty agreement means that the 
employee has submitted to a drug/alcohol test immediately prior 
to returning to work; the result of that test is negative; in the 
judgment of the SAP the employee is cooperating with his/her 
SAP recommended treatment program; and, the employee has 
agreed to periodic unannounced follow-up testing as defined in 
Section P of this policy. 

c. Refusal to submit to a periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test 
shall be considered a direct act of insubordination and shall result in 
termination. 

d. A periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test which results in a 
verified positive shall result in termination from Marin Transit 
employment. 

 
e. The second instance of a verified positive drug or alcohol (≥ 0.04 BAC) test result 

including a sample submitted under the random, reasonable suspicion, return-
to-duty, or follow-up drug/alcohol test provisions herein shall result in 
termination from Marin Transit employment. 

 
f. A verified positive post-accident, or reasonable suspicion drug and/or alcohol (≥ 

0.04) test shall result in termination. 
 

g. An alcohol test result of ≥0.02 to ≤ 0.039 BAC shall result in the removal of the 
employee from duty for eight hours or the remainder or the work day whichever 
is longer.  The employee will not be allowed to return to safety-sensitive duty for 
his/her next shift until he/she submits to an alcohol test with a result of less than 
0.02 BAC 

 
h. The cost of any treatment or rehabilitation services will be paid directly by the 

employee or their insurance provider.  The employee will be permitted to take 
accrued sick leave or administrative leave to participate in the prescribed 
treatment program.   If the employee has insufficient accrued leave, the 
employee shall be placed on leave without pay  until the employee has 
successfully completed the required treatment program and has been released 

Item 4e

80



 
 

25 
 

to return-to-duty.  Any leave taken, either paid or unpaid, shall be considered 
leave taken under the Family and Medical Leave Act.  

 
i. In the instance of a self-referral or a management referral, disciplinary action 

against the employee shall include: 
 

a. Mandatory referral for an assessment by an employer approved 
counseling professional, formulation of a treatment plan, and execution 
of a return to work agreement; 

b. Failure to execute, or remain compliant with the return-to-work 
agreement shall result in termination from Marin Transit _employment. 

i. Compliance with the return-to-work agreement means that the 
employee has submitted to a drug/alcohol test immediately prior 
to returning to work; the result of that test is negative; the 
employee is cooperating with his/her  recommended treatment 
program; and, the employee has agreed to periodic unannounced 
follow-up testing as described in Section P of this policy; however, 
all follow-up testing performed as part of a return-to-work 
agreement required under section Q of this policy is under the 
sole authority of Marin Transit and will be performed using non-
DOT testing forms. 

c. Refusal to submit to a periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test 
shall be considered a direct act of insubordination and shall result in 
termination.  All tests conducted as part of the return to work 
agreement will be conducted under company authority  and will be 
performed using non-DOT testing forms. 

d. A self-referral or management referral to the employer's approved 
counseling professional that was not precipitated by a positive test 
result does not constitute a violation of the Federal regulations and will 
not be considered as a positive test result in relation to the progressive 
discipline defined in Section Q of this policy. 

e. Periodic unannounced follow-up drug/alcohol test conducted as a result 
of a self-referral or management referral which results in a verified 
positive shall be considered a positive test result in relation to the 
progressive discipline defined in Section Q of this policy. 

f. A Voluntary Referral does not shield an employee from disciplinary action 
or guarantee employment with Marin Transit. 

g. A  Voluntary Referral does not shield an employee from the requirement 
to comply with drug and alcohol testing. 

 

Item 4e

81



 
 

26 
 

10)  Failure of an employee to report within five days a criminal drug statute 
conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace shall result in termination. 

 

R. GRIEVANCE AND APPEAL 

 
The consequences specified by 49 CFR Part 40.149 (c) for a positive test or test refusal is 
not subject to arbitration. 
 

S. PROPER APPLICATION OF THE POLICY 

 
Marin Transit is dedicated to assuring fair and equitable application of this substance 
abuse policy.  Therefore, supervisors/managers are required to use and apply all aspects 
of this policy in an unbiased and impartial manner.  Any supervisor/manager who 
knowingly disregards the requirements of this policy, or who is found to deliberately 
misuse the policy in regard to subordinates, shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to 
and including termination.  
 

T. INFORMATION DISCLOSURE 

 
1) Drug/alcohol testing records shall be maintained by the Marin Transit Drug and 

Alcohol Program Manager and, except as provided below or by law, the results 
of any drug/alcohol test shall not be disclosed without express written consent 
of the tested employee. 
 

2) The employee, upon written request, is entitled to obtain copies of any records 
pertaining to their use of prohibited drugs or misuse of alcohol including any 
drug or alcohol testing records.  Covered employees have the right to gain access 
to any pertinent records such as equipment calibration records, and records of 
laboratory certifications.  Employees may not have access to SAP follow-up 
testing plans.  

 
3) Records of a verified positive drug/alcohol test result shall be released to the 

Drug and Alcohol Program Manager, and other transit system management 
personnel on a need to know basis. 

 

Item 4e

82



 

27 
 

4) Records will be released to a subsequent employer only upon receipt of a 
written request from the employee. 

 
5) Records of an employee's drug/alcohol tests shall be released to the adjudicator 

in a grievance, lawsuit, or other proceeding initiated by or on behalf of the 
tested individual arising from the results of the drug/alcohol test.  The records 
will be released to the decision maker in the preceding.   
 

6) Records will be released to the National Transportation Safety Board during an 
accident investigation. 

 
7) Information will be released in a criminal or civil action resulting from an 

employee’s performance of safety-sensitive duties, in which a court of 
competent jurisdiction determines that the drug or alcohol test information is 
relevant to the case and issues an order to the employer to release the 
information.  The employer will release the information to the decision maker in 
the proceeding with a binding stipulation that it will only be released to parties 
of the proceeding. 

 
8) Records will be released to the DOT or any DOT agency with regulatory authority 

over the employer or any of its employees. 
 

9) Records will be released if requested by a Federal, state, or local safety agency 
with regulatory authority over Marin Transit or the employee. 

 
10) If a party seeks a court order to release a specimen or part of a specimen 

contrary to any provision of Part 40 as amended, necessary legal steps to contest 
the issuance of the order will be taken. 

 
11) In cases of a contractor or sub-recipient of a state department of transportation, 

records will be released when requested by such agencies that must certify 
compliance with the regulation to the FTA.  

 
 
This Policy was adopted by the Marin Transit Board of Directors on November 15, 2014. 
 
 
________________________ 
Judy Arnold 
President, Board of Directors 
Marin Transit  

Item 4e

83



 

 

Attachment A - Staffing Plan for Implementing Marin Transit’s Drug & 
Alcohol Testing Programs 

Marin Transit does not directly employ safety sensitive employees who are subject to 
drug and alcohol testing.   Instead, it will monitor the implementation of purchased 
transportation contractor programs  
 
This form will be filled out and maintained as a component of Marin Transit required 
policies for its purchased transportation service contractors. 
 
  
Job Title   Job Duties   Testing Authority 
 

Item 4e

84



 

 

Attachment B – Marin Transit Drug & Alcohol Testing Program Contacts  

Any questions regarding this policy or any other aspect of the substance abuse policy 
should be directed to the following individual(s) 
 
Marin Transit’s Drug and Alcohol Program Manager 
Name:      Amy Van Doren     
Title:         Director of Policy & Legislative Programs     
Address:   711 Grand Avenue, Suite 110  
      San Rafael, CA 94901           
Telephone Number: 415-226-0859   
 
Marin Transit’s purchased transportation service contractors will fill out and maintain 
this staffing plan as a component of Marin Transit’s requirements for their Drug and 
Alcohol Test Programs. 
 
Purchased Transportation Contractor Contacts (required under each contract) 
 
Drug and Alcohol Program Manager 
Name:      
Title:      
Address:           
Telephone Number:  
 
Medical Review Officer 
Name:     
Title:     
Address:    
Telephone Number: 
 
Substance Abuse Professional 
Name:     
Title:     
Address:    
Telephone Number:  
 
HHS Certified Laboratory Primary Specimen 
Name:       
Address:      
Telephone Number: 
 
HHS Certified Laboratory Split Specimen 
Name:     
Address:    
Telephone Number:  

Item 4e

85



1 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 

Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

SUBJECT: Contract with Civic Edge Consulting for On-Call 
Public Information and Outreach Services  

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION:  Authorize the General Manager to execute an 
agreement for on-call public information and outreach services for 
Marin Transit projects and programs through June 30, 2020 at a total 
cost not to exceed $75,000 with one option year.  

BACKGROUND:  
On September 11, 2018, Marin Transit issued a Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ) to provide on-call public information and 
outreach services for Marin Transit projects and programs. Tasks 
include providing messaging and strategic planning support, on-going 
public outreach activities, and marketing and media relations support 
and managing ribbon-cutting ceremonies.  

The goals of the services requested in this Request for Qualifications 
are to educate residents and voters about the value of public transit 
and maintain a positive public perception, inform the community 
about Marin Transit’s new services, innovative projects, fleet 
upgrades, and other updates as applicable. 

The work under this agreement will be established on an individual 
task order basis with a not to exceed amount that will be set for each 
task order. 

Marin Transit posted the RFQ on the District’s website and sent 
copies to several firms with relevant experience and qualifications.  
Responses were due October 3, 2018.  Marin Transit received two 
proposals in response to the RFQ: Civic Edge Consulting and 
Artemia Communications Inc. Both proposers have previously worked 
with Marin Transit, and Marin Transit’s prior experience with these 
teams is consistent with their responses to the RFQ. The evaluation 
committee consisted of four Marin Transit staff including those who 
have worked directly with the proposers. The evaluation committee 
reviewed and discussed the proposals in depth and scored them on 
the criteria identified in the RFP. These included their relevant 

Item 5

86



experience and project staff, project approach, examples of previous work, references, and 
cost. 
 
Based on the evaluation committee’s scoring and the District’s prior positive experience with the 
firm’s performance, staff recommends Civic Edge Consulting for contract award. Staff requests 
that your Board authorize the General Manager to execute an on-call contract with Civic Edge 
Consulting. 
 
FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:   
The total cost of the agreement over the 1.5-year timeframe will not exceed $75,000. This cost 
includes consultant costs for requested tasks under the agreement and direct costs for 
associated services and supplies. Direct costs may include translation services, printed 
materials, and costs associated with hosting a ribbon-cutting ceremony. This agreement will be 
funded from District’s local and rural transit marketing budgets, and is within the District’s 
approved budget for FY 2018/19.  Funding in subsequent fiscal years will be subject to the 
Board’s approval of Marin Transit annual budget. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

   
Aida Banihashemi 
Planning Manager 
 
 
Attachment: Professional Services Contract 
 

Item 5

87



Contract Log #181930 

MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT 

 
THIS CONTRACT is made and entered into this 3rd day of December 2018, by and between the MARIN 
COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT, hereinafter referred to as "District" and Civic Edge Consulting, hereinafter 
referred to as "Consultant.”  

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, District desires to retain a person or firm to provide the following service:  Public Information 
Consulting Services; and 

WHEREAS, Consultant warrants that it is qualified and competent to render the aforesaid services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the Contract made, and the payments to be made by 
District, the parties agree to the following: 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
Consultant agrees to provide all of the services described in Exhibit A attached hereto and by this 
reference made a part hereof.  

2. FURNISHED SERVICES: 
The District agrees to: 

A.   Guarantee access to and make provisions for the Consultant to enter upon public and 
private lands as required to perform their work.  

B.   Make available all pertinent data and records for review.  

C.   Provide general bid and Contract forms and special provisions format when needed.  

3. FEES AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE: 
The fees and payment schedule for furnishing services under this Contract shall be based on the rate 
schedule which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and by this reference incorporated herein.  Said fees shall 
remain in effect for the entire term of the Contract. Consultant shall provide District with his/her/its 
Federal Tax I. D. number prior to submitting the first invoice.  

4. TASK ORDER PROCEDURE: 
This is a task order contract. Each task order issued hereunder shall be identified by number, issued 
consecutively by the time of District’s approval of the task. All work hereunder will be performed in 
accordance with the following:   

a. Each task hereunder will be initiated by a request from District for the Consultant to propose an 
approach to the specified task. Consultant’s proposal will include the personnel to be employed, 
the estimated hours for each, and a firm fixed price. If personnel nominated for a task are 
outside the categories and hourly rates contained herein, Consultant shall identify the hourly 
rate and explain the reason for employing such personnel. Each such proposal may be 
negotiated regarding any matters other than the hourly rates established in the base contract.  

b. The approved amounts per task order will be consistent with the annual budget as approved by 
the District Board of Directors. Upon acceptance of Consultant’s proposal, District shall issue a 
task order and notice to proceed to Consultant. Consultant shall promptly perform the services 
included in the task to District’s satisfaction.  

c. Payment for each task shall be generally in accordance with the payments Section above. 
Consultant shall invoice separately for each task; each invoice shall be identified by the contract 
and task number. Consultant may invoice monthly on the basis specified in the task order for 
specified deliverables. 

Item 5

88



 

As set forth in section 14 of this Contract, should the funding source for this Contract be reduced, 
Consultant agrees that this maximum cost to District may be amended by written notice from District to 
reflect that reduction.  

5. TIME OF CONTRACT: 
This Contract shall commence on 3rd day of December 2018, and shall terminate on 30th day of June, 
2020.  The District may award up to one option year at the price stated in Exhibit "B". Certificate(s) of 
Insurance must be current on day Contract commences and if scheduled to lapse prior to termination 
date, must be automatically updated before final payment may be made to Consultant.   The final 
invoice must be submitted within 30 days of completion of the stated scope of services.  

6. INSURANCE: 

Commercial General Liability: 

The Consultant shall maintain a commercial general liability insurance policy in the amount of 
$1,000,000 ($2,000,000 aggregate).  The District shall be named as an additional insured on the 
commercial general liability policy.   

Commercial Automobile Liability: 

Where the services to be provided under this Contract involve or require the use of any type of vehicle 
by Consultant, Consultant shall provide comprehensive business or commercial automobile liability 
coverage, including non-owned and hired automobile liability, in the amount of $1,000,000. 00.   

Workers’ Compensation: 

The Consultant acknowledges the State of California requires every employer to be insured against 
liability for workers’ compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of 
the Labor Code.  If Consultant has employees, a copy of the certificate evidencing such insurance, a 
letter of self-insurance, or a copy of the Certificate of Consent to Self-Insure shall be provided to the 
District prior to commencement of work.  

Errors and Omissions, Professional Liability or Malpractice Insurance.   

Consultant may be required to carry errors and omissions, professional liability or malpractice insurance.   

All policies shall remain in force through the life of this Contract and shall be payable on a "per 
occurrence" basis unless District specifically consents to a "claims made" basis.  The insurer shall supply 
District adequate proof of insurance and/or a certificate of insurance evidencing coverages and limits 
prior to commencement of work.  Should any of the required insurance policies in this Contract be 
cancelled or non-renewed, it is the Consultant’s duty to notify the District immediately upon receipt of 
the notice of cancellation or non-renewal.  

If Consultant does not carry a required insurance coverage and/or does not meet the required limits, the 
coverage limits and deductibles shall be set forth on a waiver, Exhibit C, attached hereto.  

Failure to provide and maintain the insurance required by this Contract will constitute a material breach 
of this Contract.  In addition to any other available remedies, District may suspend payment to the 
Consultant for any services provided during any time that insurance was not in effect and until such time 
as the Consultant provides adequate evidence that Consultant has obtained the required coverage.  

7. ANTI DISCRIMINATION AND ANTI HARASSMENT: 

Consultant and/or any subcontractor shall not unlawfully discriminate against or harass any individual 
including, but not limited to, any employee or volunteer of the Marin County Transit District based on 
race, color, religion, nationality, sex, sexual orientation, age or condition of disability. Consultant and/or 
any subcontractor understands and agrees that Consultant and/or any subcontractor is bound by and 
will comply with the anti-discrimination and anti-harassment mandates of all Federal, State and local 
statutes, regulations and ordinances.  

Item 5

89



8. SUBCONTRACTING: 

The Consultant shall not subcontract nor assign any portion of the work required by this Contract 
without prior written approval of the District except for any subcontract work identified herein. If 
Consultant hires a subcontractor under this Contract, Consultant shall require subcontractor to provide 
and maintain insurance coverage(s) identical to what is required of Consultant under this Contract and 
shall require subcontractor to name Consultant and Marin County Transit District as an additional 
insured under this Contract for general liability. It shall be Consultant’s responsibility to collect and 
maintain current evidence of insurance provided by its subcontractors and shall forward to the District 
evidence of same.  

9. ASSIGNMENT: 

The rights, responsibilities and duties under this Contract are personal to the Consultant and may not be 
transferred or assigned without the express prior written consent of the District.  

10. LICENSING AND PERMITS: 

The Consultant shall maintain the appropriate licenses throughout the life of this Contract.  Consultant 
shall also obtain any and all permits which might be required by the work to be performed herein.  

11. BOOKS OF RECORD AND AUDIT PROVISION: 

Consultant shall maintain on a current basis complete books and records relating to this Contract.  Such 
records shall include, but not be limited to, documents supporting all bids, all income and all 
expenditures.  The books and records shall be original entry books with a general ledger itemizing all 
debits and credits for the work on this Contract.  In addition, Consultant shall maintain detailed payroll 
records including all subsistence, travel and field expenses, and canceled checks, receipts and invoices 
for all items.  These documents and records shall be retained for at least five years from the completion 
of this Contract.  Consultant will permit District to audit all books, accounts or records relating to this 
Contract or all books, accounts or records of any business entities controlled by Consultant who 
participated in this Contract in any way.  Any audit may be conducted on Consultant's premises or, at 
District's option, Consultant shall provide all books and records within a maximum of fifteen (15) days 
upon receipt of written notice from District.  Consultant shall refund any monies erroneously charged.   

12. WORK PRODUCT/PRE-EXISTING WORK PRODUCT OF CONSULTANT: 

Any and all final documents, reports, and plans and drawings concerning this project prepared by the 
Consultant, shall become the property of the District at the completion of a task order or upon 
termination of a task order. The Consultant may retain reproducible copies of drawings and copies of 
other documents. In the event of the termination of this Contract, for any reason whatsoever, 
Consultant shall promptly turn over all information, writing, and documents to District without 
exception or reservation. 

13. TERMINATION: 

A. If the Consultant fails to provide in any manner the services required under this Contract or 
otherwise fails to comply with the terms of this Contract or violates any ordinance, 
regulation or other law which applies to its performance herein, the District may terminate 
this Contract by giving five (5) calendar days written notice to the party involved.  

B. The Consultant shall be excused for failure to perform services herein if such services are 
prevented by acts of God, strikes, labor disputes or other forces over which the Consultant 
has no control.  

C. Either party hereto may terminate this Contract for any reason by giving thirty (30) calendar 
days written notice to the other parties.  Notice of termination shall be by written notice to 
the other parties and be sent by registered mail.  

D.  In the event of termination not the fault of the Consultant, the Consultant shall be paid for 
services performed to the date of termination in accordance with the terms of this Contract 

Item 5

90



so long as proof of required insurance is provided for the periods covered in the Contract or 
Amendment(s). 

14. APPROPRIATIONS: 

The District's performance and obligation to pay under this Contract is contingent upon an annual 
appropriation by the Marin County Transit District Board of Directors, the State of California or other 
third party.  Should the funds not be appropriated District may terminate this Contract with respect to 
those payments for which such funds are not appropriated.  District will give Consultant thirty (30) days’ 
written notice of such termination.  All obligations of District to make payments after the termination 
date will cease.  

Where the funding source for this Contract is contingent upon an annual appropriation or grant from 
the Marin County Transit District Board of Directors, the State of California or other third party, District's 
performance and obligation to pay under this Contract is limited by the availability of those funds.  
Should the funding source for this Contract be eliminated or reduced, upon written notice to Consultant, 
District may reduce the Maximum Cost to District identified in section 4 to reflect that elimination or 
reduction.  

15. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES: 

It is expressly understood that in the performance of the services herein, the Consultant, and the agents 
and employees thereof, shall act in an independent capacity and as an independent Consultant and not 
as officers, employees or agents of the District.  Consultant shall be solely responsible to pay all required 
taxes, including but not limited to, all withholding social security, and workers’ compensation.  

16. AMENDMENT: 

This Contract may be amended or modified only by written Contract of all parties.  

17. ASSIGNMENT OF PERSONNEL: 

The Consultant shall not substitute any personnel for those specifically named in its proposal unless 
personnel with substantially equal or better qualifications and experience are provided, acceptable to 
District, as is evidenced in writing.  

18. JURISDICTION AND VENUE: 

This Contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California and the parties 
hereto agree that venue shall be in Marin County, California.  

19. INDEMNIFICATION: 

To the extent permitted by law (including, without limitation, California Civil Code section 2782.8), 
Consultant agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless District, its employees and officers from any 
and all claims, demands, actions, causes of action, losses, damages, liabilities, known or unknown, and 
all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees in connection with any injury or damage to 
persons or property to the extent caused by the negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct of 
Consultant, its officers, employees, agents, Consultant, subcontractors or any officer, agency or 
employee thereof in relation to Consultant's performance under this Contract.  

20. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS: 

The Consultant shall comply with any and all Federal, State and local laws and resolutions: including, but 
not limited to the County of Marin Nuclear Free Zone and Living Wage Ordinance Copies of any of the 
above-referenced local laws and resolutions may be secured from the Contract Manager referenced in 
section 21. In addition, the following NOTICES may apply: 

1.  Pursuant to California Franchise Tax Board regulations, District will automatically withhold 7% 
from all payments made to vendors who are non-residents of California.   

Item 5

91



2.  Consultant agrees to meet all applicable program access and physical accessibility 
requirements under State and Federal laws as may apply to services, programs or activities 
for the benefit of the public.  

3. For Contracts involving any Federal Transit Administration grant funds, Exhibit D must be 
attached. Exhibit D provides all Federal Transit Administration Contract Provisions relevant to 
this Contract.  

4.  For Contracts involving any State or Federal grant funds, Exhibit E must be attached.  Exhibit E 
shall consist of the printout results obtained by search of the System for Award Management 
at www.sam.gov.  

Exhibit E - Debarment Certification 

By signing and submitting this Contract, the Consultant is agreeing to abide by the debarment 
requirements as set out below.  

• The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by District.   
• The Consultant shall provide immediate written notice to District if at any time the 

Consultant learns that its certification was erroneous or has become erroneous by reason of 
changed circumstances.   

• Consultant certifies that none of its principals, affiliates, agents, representatives or 
Consultants are excluded, disqualified or ineligible for the award of Contracts by any Federal 
agency and Consultant further certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its 
principals: 

• re not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, 
or voluntarily excluded by any Federal Department or Agency; 

• Have not been convicted within the preceding three-years of any of the offenses 
listed in 2 CFR 180. 800(a) or had a civil judgment rendered against it for one of 
those offenses within that time period; 

• Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 
governmental entity (Federal, State, or Local) with commission of any of the 
offenses listed in 2 CFR 180. 800(a); 

• Have not had one or more public transactions (Federal, State, or Local) terminated 
within the preceding three-years for cause or default.  

• The Consultant agrees by signing this Contract that it will not knowingly enter into any 
subcontract or covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment, debarred, 
suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered 
transaction.  

• Any subcontractor will provide a debarment certification that includes the debarment clause 
as noted in preceding bullets above, without modification.  

21. NOTICES: 

This Contract shall be managed and administered on District’s behalf by the Department Contract 
Manager named below.  All invoices shall be submitted and approved by this Department and all notices 
shall be given to District at the following location: 

 
Contract 
Manager:  

 
Aida Banihashemi 

Item 5

92

http://www.sam.gov/


 
Dept. /Location:  

 
Planning 

Telephone No.: (415) 226-0878 

 

Notices shall be given to Consultant at the following address: 

Consultant: Civic Edge Consulting 

 
Address:  

 
25 Taylor Street, SF 94102 

Telephone No.: (415) 915-0511 

 

22. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF EXHIBITS 

  Check applicable Exhibits CONSULTANT’S 
INITIALS 

EXHIBIT A.   Scope of Services  

EXHIBIT B.   Fees and Payment  

EXHIBIT C.   Insurance Reduction/Waiver  

EXHIBIT D.   Federal Transit Administration Contract 
Provisions 

 

EXHIBIT E.   Consultant’s Debarment Certification Included with proposa  

EXHIBIT F.   Subcontractor’s Debarment Certification Included with proposa  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Contract on the date first above written.  

  APPROVED BY 

CONSULTANT  MARIN COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT: 

By:  __________________________________   

Name:  Lisbet Sunshine 

Title:  President, Civic Edge Consulting  By: __________________________________  

         
 

COUNTY COUNSEL REVIEW AND APPROVAL (required if template content has been modified) 

 

County Counsel: _______________________________________ Date: 
____________________________________ 

  

Item 5

93



EXHIBIT “A”  

SCOPE OF SERVICES  

The Consultant scope of services is to provide public information and outreach services for Marin Transit 
projects and programs. This is an on-call contract to be executed by task order. The services are divided 
into the following six overall task areas: 

Task 1: Messaging and Strategic Planning 
Task 2: Public Outreach and Marketing 
Task 3: Media Relations 
Task 4: Collateral Materials 
Task 5: Ribbon Cutting Ceremony 
Task 6: Other outreach services 
 

The goals of the services requested in this Request for Qualifications are to:  

• Educate residents and voters about the value of public transit and maintain a positive public 
perception  

• Inform community about Marin Transit’s new services, innovative projects, fleet upgrades, and 
other updates as applicable 

• Educate residents about Marin Transit’s contribution to the county  
• Educate residents about funding for Marin Transit, and the benefits of investing in public transit  
• Elevate Marin Transit rider’s voices so that residents and voters hear from those who benefit 

from their investment 
 

The sub-tasks and activities under each task area are listed as follows: 

Task 1: Messaging and Strategic Planning 

1. Work with Marin Transit to develop or expand key messages to share with residents and voters.  
Examples include: 

• Muir Woods Shuttle reservation system launched in January 2018 
• Impacts of voter-approved changes to transportation funding on Marin Transit 
• Marin Access information – technology classes, office hours, other senior services 
• Aging in place in Marin County – how Marin Transit helps make it possible 
• Two years since service expansion – how riders are using Marin Transit’s improved services 
• Marin Transit is a lifeline – how public transit connects communities to critical services 
• San Rafael Transit Center study launch 
• Marin Transit Connect pilot program 
• Fleet upgrade and launch of electric buses 

 

2. Create a Strategic Communications Plan to disseminate messaging to residents. The plan will: 
identify key segments of the population to target for outreach effort; provide effective 
communication specifically tailored to each population; and use new and traditional 
communications technologies to deliver regular timely updates and, where appropriate, receive 
public feedback and comments.  

Specific plan components will:  

• Identify stakeholders and their organizational roles and responsibilities  
• Develop specific project messaging  
• Propose method and frequency for communicating with the general public (e. g. in person vs. 

print and social media, existing board and council meetings vs. special meetings and providing a 
method for comment), recognizing that much of Marin Transit’s ridership is Spanish-speaking  

• Provide a schedule of meetings  

Item 5

94



• Include a timeline and milestones for all actions in the plan with press releases, public meetings, 
and notifications as applicable 

Marin Transit expects that the Consultant will complete the Strategic Communications Plan within two 
weeks of receiving a Notice to Proceed on each Task Order.  

Monthly activity reports are expected to describe the Consultant’s progress in implementing the 
community outreach plan and identify the activity plan for the upcoming month.  

 

Task 2: Public Outreach and Marketing 

1. Lead marketing efforts, staff events, and provide on-site outreach to promote Marin Transit’s new 
services and programs 

2. Facilitate forums for Marin Transit to employ its messaging.  Examples of possible forums are: 

• Meetings with Community Based Organization (CBO) leaders that include Marin Transit staff and 
Board members to strengthen relationships between Marin Transit and CBO leaders, identify 
ways to better support of community needs, and facilitate CBO leader engagement around 
common goals of supporting transit. Community Based Organizations may include Canal 
Alliance, Canal Welcome Center, Next Generations Scholars, and others. Shared outreach efforts 
with CBOs and other public agencies as applicable  

• Periodic email blast to Marin Transit subscribers. Potential email content may include press hits, 
service updates, infographics, and Marin County news 

• Take advantage of Marin Transit’s recent website launch to explore tools and opportunities for 
directing traffic to the new website and engaging riders and members of the public to 
communicate with Marin Transit 
 

Task 3: Media Relations 

Lead media outreach to ensure coverage of Marin Transit’s messaging and outreach: 

• Provide media kits, news releases, and presentations 
• Seek positive publicity for Marin Transit through featured news stories, media releases and 

letters to the editor 
• Provide basic media training to help the District answer questions and engage with the media 

and the public 
• Coordinate meetings with editorial boards 
• Coordinate ad placements  
• Develop social media messaging 
• Place radio ads 
• Develop Marin Transit messaging guide for the District’s Board of Directors 

 
Task 4: Collateral Materials 

Bring Marin Transit’s story to life through eye-catching design. New graphics may be used for: 

• Brochures 
• Banners 
• Email blasts 
• Printed advertisements 
• Inside bus advertisements 
• Website  
• Presentations 

 
Task 5: Ribbon Cutting Ceremony 

Item 5

95



Plan and manage ribbon-cutting ceremonies within a pre-defined event budget. The consultant will be 
expected to provide staffing, coordinate and develop notifications and event promotion though social 
media, e-newsletters, and collaterals, coordinate photography, develop and promote press releases and 
media coverage, etc. 

Task 6: Other Outreach Services  

Marin Transit may request other types of outreach services through this contract. 

Task Orders 

Marin Transit will establish work under the Agreement as needed on an individual task order basis. 
There is no guaranteed minimum level of compensation. Marin Transit reserves the right to procure the 
services described in these solicitation documents from other firms at its sole discretion. The District 
may issue task orders under the Agreement any time during the base term or option years. A not to 
exceed amount will be set for each task order. 

The availability of key personnel must be flexible to meet the needs of the project. Marin Transit expects 
all individuals identified in the proposal as key personnel to remain on the Public Information and 
Outreach team for the duration of the contract, unless the District agrees upon a replacement. 

 

Item 5

96



EXHIBIT “B” 

FEES AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE  

The parties hereto agree that the rates contained below are those currently charged by Consultant for 
the categories of labor designated, and will be used in pricing each specific task order. In the event that 
additional categories of specialized labor are required for a specific task, the rate quoted shall be subject 
to review and approval by the District.  

The total cost of the agreement over the 1.5-year timeframe will not exceed $75,000. This cost includes 
consultant costs for requested tasks under the agreement and direct costs for associated services and 
supplies. Direct costs may include translation services, printed materials, and costs associated with 
hosting a ribbon-cutting ceremony. 

Civic Edge Consulting hourly rates are as follows; President $250/hour, Senior Project Manager 
$175/hour, Senior Strategic Advisor $215/hour and Graphics Manager $125/hour. 

Civic Edge team does not charge for travel time or administrative costs. Direct costs such as printing, 
purchasing food and supplies for events, will be billed directly to Marin Transit with no additional mark 
up. 

 

 

  

Item 5

97



EXHIBIT “C” 

to Short Form Contract 

 

INSURANCE REDUCTION/WAIVER (if applicable) 

 

CONSULTANT: _________________________________________________ 

 

CONTRACT TITLE: ______________________________________________ 

 

Consultant's professional liability insurance may be provided, in part, by self-insurance or large 
deductible as long as Consultant provides: (1) evidence to the District that Consultant has segregated 
amounts in a special insurance reserve fund meeting the Contract's insurance requirements and 
restricted specifically to this project or (2) Consultant's general insurance reserves are adequate to 
provide the necessary coverage and the Marin County Transit District may conclusively rely thereon.  

This statement shall accompany all requests for a reduction/waiver of insurance requirements.  Please 
check the box  

if a waiver is requested or fill in the reduced coverage(s) where indicated below: 

 Check 
Where 
Applicabl
e  

Requested 
Limit Amount 

CAO  

Use Only 

 

General Liability Insurance  

 

 

 

$ 

 

 

Automobile Liability Insurance 

 

 

 

$ 

 

 

Workers’ Compensation Insurance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Professional Liability Deductible 

 

 

 

$ 

 

Please set forth the reasons for the requested reductions or waiver.   

 

 

 

 

Item 5

98



 

 

Contract Manager Signature: 

 

 

Date:  

 

  

 

  

Item 5

99



EXHIBIT “D” 

FTA GRANT CONTRACT PROVISIONS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  

 

1) FEDERAL OBLIGATION 

a) Marin Transit and the Consultant acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any 
concurrence by the Federal Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the 
underlying contract, absent the express written consent by the Federal Government, the Federal 
Government is not a party to the contract and shall not be subject to any obligations or liabilities 
to Marin Transit, the Consultant, or any other party (whether or not a party to that contract) 
pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying contract. 

b) The Consultant agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in 
part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.  It is further agreed that the clause shall not be 
modified except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions. 

2) PROGRAM FRAUD, FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS AND RELATED ACTS 

a) The Consultant acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 
1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT regulations, “Program Fraud Civil 
Remedies,” 49 C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this Project. Upon execution of 
the underlying contract, the Consultant certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any 
statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to the 
underlying contract or the FTA assisted project for which this Contract work is being performed. 
In addition to other penalties that may be applicable, the Consultant further acknowledges that 
if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, 
or certification, the Federal Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the 
Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on the Consultant to the extent the Federal 
Government deems appropriate. 

b) The Consultant also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or 
fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under a 
contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance 
originally awarded by FTA under the Marin Transit of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, the Government reserves 
the right to impose the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5307(n)(1) on the 
Consultant, to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate. 

c) The Consultant agrees to include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed in whole 
or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clauses shall not 
be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to the provisions. 

3) ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS 

Consultant shall provide all authorized representatives of Marin Transit, the FTA Administrator, and the 
Comptroller General of the United States access to any books, documents, papers and records of the 
Consultant that are directly pertinent to this Contract for the purposes of making audits, copies, 
examinations, excerpts and transcriptions. The Consultant agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties 
to reproduce by any means whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed.  
Consultant also agrees to maintain all books, records, accounts and reports required under this Contract 

Item 5

100



for a period of not less than three years after the date of termination or expiration of this Contract, 
except in the event of litigation or settlement of claims arising from the performance of this Contract, in 
which case Consultant agrees to maintain the same until Marin Transit, the FTA Administrator, the 
Comptroller General, or any of their duly authorized representatives, have disposed of all such litigation, 
appeals, claims or exceptions related thereto. 

4) FEDERAL CHANGES   

Consultant shall at all times comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and 
directives, including without limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Master Agreement 
between Marin Transit and FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the 
term of this contract. Consultant's failure to so comply shall constitute a material breach of this contract. 

5) TERMINATION  

a) Termination for Convenience - Marin Transit, by written notice, may terminate this contract, in 
whole or in part, when it is in the Government's interest. If this contract is terminated, Marin 
Transit shall be liable only for payment under the payment provisions of this contract for 
services rendered before the effective date of termination. 

b) Termination for Default [Breach or Cause] - If the Consultant does not deliver supplies in 
accordance with the contract delivery schedule, or, if the contract is for services, the Consultant 
fails to perform in the manner called for in the contract, or if the Consultant fails to comply with 
any other provisions of the contract, Marin Transit may terminate this contract for default. 
Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of termination on the Consultant setting forth 
the manner in which the Consultant is in default. The Consultant will only be paid the contract 
price for supplies delivered and accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner 
of performance set forth in the contract. 

If it is later determined by Marin Transit that the Consultant had an excusable reason for not 
performing, such as a strike, fire, or flood, events which are not the fault of or are beyond the control of 
the Consultant, Marin Transit, after setting up a new delivery or performance schedule, may allow the 
Consultant to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for convenience. 

c) Opportunity to Cure - Marin Transit in its sole discretion may, in the case of a termination for 
breach or default, allow the Consultant an appropriately short period of time in which to cure 
the defect. In such case, the notice of termination will state the time period in which cure is 
permitted and other appropriate conditions 

If Consultant fails to remedy to Marin Transit's satisfaction the breach or default of any of the terms, 
covenants, or conditions of this Contract within the stated time period after receipt by Consultant of 
written notice from Marin Transit setting forth the nature of said breach or default, Marin Transit shall 
have the right to terminate the Contract without any further obligation to Consultant. Any such 
termination for default shall not in any way operate to preclude Marin Transit from also pursuing all 
available remedies against Consultant and its sureties for said breach or default. 

d) Waiver of Remedies for any Breach - In the event that Marin Transit elects to waive its remedies 
for any breach by Consultant of any covenant, term or condition of this Contract, such waiver by 

Item 5

101

http://www.fta.dot.gov/funding/apply/grants_financing_3162.html
http://www.fta.dot.gov/funding/apply/grants_financing_3162.html


Marin Transit shall not limit Marin Transit's remedies for any succeeding breach of that or of any 
other term, covenant, or condition of this Contract. 

6) CIVIL RIGHTS 

a) Nondiscrimination - In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 
2000d, section 303 of the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6102, section 
202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12132, and Federal transit law at 
49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Consultant agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, age, or disability. In 
addition, the Consultant agrees to comply with applicable Federal implementing regulations and 
other implementing requirements FTA may issue.  

b) Equal Employment Opportunity - The following equal employment opportunity requirements 
apply to the underlying contract: 

i) Race, Color, Creed, National Origin, Sex - In accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 
as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, and Federal transit laws at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Consultant 
agrees to comply with all applicable equal employment opportunity requirements of U.S. 
Department of Labor (U.S. DOL) regulations, "Office of Federal Contract Compliance 
Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 C.F.R. Parts 60 et seq ., 
(which implement Executive Order No. 11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity," as 
amended by Executive Order No. 11375, "Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to 
Equal Employment Opportunity," 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note), and with any applicable Federal 
statutes, executive orders, regulations, and Federal policies that may in the future affect 
construction activities undertaken in the course of the Project. The Consultant agrees to 
take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are 
treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, creed, national origin, sex, 
or age. Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, 
upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 
termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, 
including apprenticeship. In addition, the Consultant agrees to comply with any 
implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

ii) Age - In accordance with section 4 of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as 
amended, 29 U.S.C. § § 623 and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Consultant 
agrees to refrain from discrimination against present and prospective employees for reason 
of age. In addition, the Consultant agrees to comply with any implementing requirements 
FTA may issue. 

iii) Disabilities - In accordance with section 102 of the Americans with Disabilities Act, as 
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12112, the Consultant agrees that it will comply with the 
requirements of U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, "Regulations to 
Implement the Equal Employment Provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act," 29 
C.F.R. Part 1630, pertaining to employment of persons with disabilities. In addition, the 
Consultant agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

c) The Consultant also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract financed in whole 
or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA, modified only if necessary to identify the 
affected parties. 

7) DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE 

Item 5

102



a) This contract is subject to the requirements of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 26, 
Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in Department of Transportation Financial 
Assistance Programs. The national goal for participation of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 
(DBE) is 10%. The agency’s overall goal for DBE participation is 6 %. A separate contract goal has 
not been established for this procurement. 

b) The Consultant shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the 
performance of this contract. The Consultant shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR 
Part 26 in the award and administration of this DOT-assisted contract. Failure by the Consultant 
to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the 
termination of this contract or such other remedy as Marin Transit deems appropriate. Each 
subcontract the Consultant signs with a subcontractor must include the assurance in this 
paragraph (see 49 CFR 26.13(b)).  

c) The successful Consultant will be required to report its DBE participation obtained through race-
neutral means throughout the period of performance.The Consultant will be required to report 
its DBE participation obtained through race-neutral means throughout the period of 
performance.  

d) The Consultant is required to pay its subcontractors performing work related to this contract for 
satisfactory performance of that work no later than 30 days after the Consultant’s receipt of 
payment for that work from Marin Transit. In addition, the Consultant may not hold retainage 
from its subcontractors. 

e) The Consultant must promptly notify Marin Transit, whenever a DBE subcontractor performing 
work related to this contract is terminated or fails to complete its work, and must make good 
faith efforts to engage another DBE subcontractor to perform at least the same amount of work. 
The Consultant may not terminate any DBE subcontractor and perform that work through its 
own forces or those of an affiliate without prior written consent of Marin Transit. 

8) INCORPORATION OF FTA TERMS 

The preceding provisions include, in part, certain Standard Terms and Conditions required by DOT, 
whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding contract provisions. All contractual provisions 
required by DOT, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to 
the contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms shall be deemed to control in the event of 
a conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. The Consultant shall not perform any act, 
fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any of Marin Transit’s requests which would cause 
Marin Transit to be in violation of the FTA terms and conditions. 

9) SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT  

The Consultant, including any of its officers or holders of a controlling interest, and its subcontractors 
are obligated to inform Marin Transit whether or not they are or have been debarred, suspended, 
ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participation in federally funded contracts and pursuant to 
Executive Order Nos. 12549 and 12689, "Debarment and Suspension", 31 U.S.C. §6106 note and U.S. 
DOT regulations 49 CFR Part 29.  Should Consultant or a subcontractor be included on such a list or 
determined ineligible during the performance of this Contract, the Consultant shall so inform Marin 
Transit.  The Consultant is required to include this provision in any lower tiered subcontract where the 
contract amount is over $25,000. 

Item 5

103



10) RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES, BREACHES, OR OTHER LITIGATION (for contracts over $100,000) 

a) Disputes - Disputes arising in the performance of this Contract which are not resolved by 
agreement of the parties shall be decided in writing by the authorized representative of Marin 
Transit's General Manager. This decision shall be final and conclusive unless within ten (10) days 
from the date of receipt of its copy, the Consultant mails or otherwise furnishes a written appeal 
to the General Manager. In connection with any such appeal, the Consultant shall be afforded 
an opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its position. The decision of the 
General Manager shall be binding upon the Consultant and the Consultant shall abide be the 
decision. 

b) Performance During Dispute - Unless otherwise directed by Marin Transit, Consultant shall 
continue performance under this Contract while matters in dispute are being resolved. 

c) Claims for Damages - Should either party to the Contract suffer injury or damage to person or 
property because of any act or omission of the party or of any of his employees, agents or 
others for whose acts he is legally liable, a claim for damages therefore shall be made in writing 
to such other party within a reasonable time after the first observance of such injury or damage. 

d) Remedies - Unless this contract provides otherwise, all claims, counterclaims, disputes and other 
matters in question between Marin Transit and the Consultant arising out of or relating to this 
agreement or its breach will be decided by arbitration if the parties mutually agree, or in a court 
of competent jurisdiction within the State in which Marin Transit is located. 

e) Rights and Remedies - The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the 
rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any 
duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or 
failure to act by the Marin Transit, or Consultant shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty 
afforded any of them under the Contract, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute an 
approval of or acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in 
writing. 

11) LOBBYING RESTRICTIONS  

Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. 1352, as amended by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995, 
P.L. 104-65 [to be codified at 2 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq.] - Consultants who apply or bid for an award of 
$100,000 or more shall file the certification required by 49 CFR part 20, "New Restrictions on Lobbying." 
Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay 
any person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of 
Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or any other award covered by 31 
U.S.C. 1352.  Each tier shall also disclose the name of any registrant under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 
1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf with non-Federal funds with respect to that Federal 
contract, grant or award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352.  Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up 
to the recipient. 

12) CLEAN AIR 

a) The Consultant agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq. The Consultant agrees to 
report each violation to the Purchaser and understands and agrees that the Purchaser will, in 

Item 5

104



turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to FTA and the appropriate EPA 
Regional Office. 

b) The Consultant also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 
$100,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

13) CLEAN WATER  

a) The Consultant agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq . The 
Consultant agrees to report each violation to the Purchaser and understands and agrees that 
the Purchaser will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to FTA and 
the appropriate EPA Regional Office. 

b) The Consultant also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 
$100,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

14) ENERGY CONSERVATION 

Consultant shall comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency that are 
contained in the State Energy Conservation Plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 
Conservation Act, 42 U.S.C. §6321 et seq. and 49 CFR Part 18. 

15) PRIVACY ACT   

The following requirements apply to the Consultant and its employees that administer any system of 
records on behalf of the Federal Government under any contract:  

a) The Consultant agrees to comply with, and assures the compliance of its employees with, the 
information restrictions and other applicable requirements of the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. § 
552a. Among other things, the Consultant agrees to obtain the express consent of the Federal 
Government before the Consultant or its employees operate a system of records on behalf of 
the Federal Government. The Consultant understands that the requirements of the Privacy Act, 
including the civil and criminal penalties for violation of that Act, apply to those individuals 
involved, and that failure to comply with the terms of the Privacy Act may result in termination 
of the underlying contract. 

b) The Consultant also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract to administer any 
system of records on behalf of the Federal Government financed in whole or in part with 
Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

 

Item 5

105



stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 

Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA  94903 

SUBJECT: Marin Transit Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report for Fiscal Year 2017/18 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: Accept report. 

SUMMARY: Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation has 
completed the annual financial audit of the Marin County Transit 
District for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. The audit includes a 
detailed single audit as required when the expenditure of federal 
funds in a fiscal year exceeds $500,000.  Staff has incorporated the 
annual financial audit into the attached Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR).  The auditor presented the CAFR to the ad 
hoc Audit Subcommittee of your Board for review on November 20, 
2018.  With your acceptance of this report, the District will be up-to-
date with all independent audits and will submit the required federal 
audit well within the required deadline of March 30, 2019. 

This is the third year the District has published a Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report.  The report is designed to ensure that 
users of the financial statements have the information and context 
needed to assess the financial health of the District. 

The CAFR has four main components: 
 Introductory Section
 Financial Section
 Statistical Section
 Single Audit Section governed

The Introductory Section gives the reader an introduction to the 
report, including the District’s governing structure, staff structure, 
and service area map. 

The Statistical Section compiles data from the District’s prior 
financial statements and Short Range Transit Plans, along with 
County-wide statistics from the County of Marin and other sources.  
This section is designed to provide information about trends and the 

Item 6

106



local economy that will provide context for the reader to assess the District’s financial condition. 
 
The Financial and Single Audit Sections contain the District’s audited financial statements 
and the results of the federal single audit.  The audit was conducted in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States.  The audit team found no deficiencies in internal control over financial 
reporting or in compliance that they considered to be material weaknesses.  Similarly, the audit 
team found no material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over major 
federal award programs. 
 
FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:  None associated with this report. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Lauren Gradia 
Director of Finance and Capital Programs 
 
Attachments:  Marin County Transit District FY2017/18 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
  Letter to the Board from Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation 
 

 
 

Item 6

107



Item 6

108



Item 6

109



Item 6

110



Item 6

111



Item 6

112



Item 6

113



Item 6

114



Item 6

115



Item 6

116



Item 6

117



Item 6

118



Item 6

119



Item 6

120



Item 6

121



Item 6

122



Item 6

123



Item 6

124



Item 6

125



Item 6

126



Item 6

127



Item 6

128



Item 6

129



Item 6

130



Item 6

131



Item 6

132



Item 6

133



Item 6

134



Item 6

135



Item 6

136



Item 6

137



Item 6

138



Item 6

139



Item 6

140



Item 6

141



Item 6

142



Item 6

143



Item 6

144



Item 6

145



Item 6

146



Item 6

147



Item 6

148



Item 6

149



Item 6

150



Item 6

151



Item 6

152



Item 6

153



Item 6

154



Item 6

155



Item 6

156



Item 6

157



Item 6

158



Item 6

159



Item 6

160



Item 6

161



Item 6

162



Item 6

163



Item 6

164



Item 6

165



Item 6

166



Item 6

167



Item 6

168



Item 6

169



Item 6

170



Item 6

171



Item 6

172



Item 6

173



Item 6

174



Item 6

175



Item 6

176



Item 6

177



Item 6

178



Item 6

179



Item 6

180



Item 6

181



Item 6

182



Item 6

183



Item 6

184



Item 6

185



Item 6

186



Item 6

187



Item 6

188



Item 6

189



 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 
 
 
Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA  94903 
 
SUBJECT: Marin Transit Employee Compensation Framework 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Adopt an updated employment compensation 
framework with revised salary ranges. 
 
SUMMARY:  
Marin Transit established the current salary structure and framework 
for direct employment in 2013.  The District has experienced 
significant changes since that time.  Marin Transit has 16 job 
positions and in fiscal year 2018 several employees left Marin Transit 
for jobs at similar agencies in the Bay Area.   
 
Marin Transit initiated a consultant-led study to review and update the 
District’s employment compensation framework with two primary 
goals: 
1. Confirm or recommend adjustments to Marin Transit’s salary 

ranges to ensure the District is offering and providing competitive 
compensation; and   

2. Determine if the current salary classifications are sufficient or if 
they should be adjusted. 

The study was completed by Koff & Associates.  Based on the 
results, Marin Transit staff brought an updated employee 
compensation framework to your Board for consideration in July 
2018.  Due to the complexity of the materials, your Board formed a 
subcommittee to review the report and recommended framework in 
more detail.  Staff subsequently worked with Koff & Associates to 
provide additional detail to compare total compensation between 
agencies with different types of retirement benefits.    
 
The Board’s Employee Compensation Ad Hoc Committee met on 
September 7, 2018.  The Ad Hoc Committee reviewed the 

Item 7

190



2 
 

background information, salary survey data, and report recommendations, and recommended 
that full Board consider the revised framework for adoption.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
The employment framework provides for five employee classifications that are applied across all 
disciplines (finance, planning operations, administration, etc.).  The classifications are: 
 Administrative 
 Analyst 
 Senior Analyst 
 Manager 
 Director 

The District’s current framework includes a provision that allows top salary levels for each range 
to increase annually by no more than the Consumer Price Index (CPI).  These increases are 
authorized by your Board as part of the annual budget process.  The lower end of the ranges 
has remained fixed at the 2013 levels. The District does not provide Cost of Living Adjustments 
(COLA).  Individual salary increases are merit-based and subject to the outcome of the annual 
performance review process. 
 
Marin Transit currently employs 15 full-time employees, one part-time employee, and one part-
time seasonal employee with one vacant full-time position.  The Board-adopted FY2018/19 
budget authorizes 16.4 FTE staff plus additional seasonal staff.  
 
Salary Survey 
The District issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Human Resources Consultant Services 
on December 21, 2017 in an effort to establish competitive compensation that will attract and 
retain talented staff.  Marin Transit awarded a contract to Koff & Associates, a Bay Area firm 
that is focused on classification and compensation studies with prior experience in the Bay Area 
transportation sector. Their team worked with staff to review positions and job classifications 
and identify comparable agencies and positions. 
 
Marin Transit worked with Koff & Associates to select comparators for the study: agencies that 
compete with Marin Transit for new staff and where current staff might look for new 
opportunities.  The comparator agencies (Table 1) were also selected based on organizational 
type, similarity of population, staff and operational budgets, scope of services provided, and the 
local labor market.   
 
Table 1: Comparator Agencies 

Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District 

Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

San Francisco Bay Area Water Emergency Transportation Authority 

Item 7

191



3 
 

San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency 

Sonoma County Transportation Authority - Regional Climate Protection 
Authority 

Sonoma Marin Area Rail Transit 

Transportation Authority of Marin 

Western Contra Costa Transit Authority 

 
 
Based on data collected from the comparator agencies, Koff & Associations identified matching 
classifications at the comparator agencies and compared salary and total compensation for 
these classifications.  The study made several key assumptions that are important to 
understand in evaluating their data analysis and conclusions. These include:   
 At least four comparator agencies with matching classifications to the benchmark 

classification are required to ensure that no one classification has undue influence on 
the calculations; 

 Defined benefit and defined compensation retirement plans were compared based on 
agency contributions and not based on projected future retirement benefits to 
employees; 

 The median (middle value) is a better comparator than the mean (average) when 
comparing salaries and/or total compensation; 

• Salaries and/or total compensation for employment classifications falling within 5 percent 
of the median are considered market competitive; and 

 Agencies should adjust salaries based on the factor - Base Salaries or Total 
Compensation - for which the agency is closer to the median.  For the purposes of this 
study, Marin Transit’s base factor is salaries.   

 
Study Results 
Marin Transit current base salaries were found to be 8.5 percent below the market median.  
Table 2 provides the results by classification, and these are sorted from least different to most 
different from the market median.  On average, the Marin Transit’s monthly base salaries were 
about the same percentage below market as total compensation and total compensation was 
significantly below market for several higher-level classifications.  The differences in total 
compensation are due to lower employer contributions to medical insurance and lower levels of 
paid-time off. 
 
The Koff & Associates study provided four recommendations that Marin Transit staff reviewed 
and considered for incorporation into the updated employment compensation framework.   
 
Koff Recommendation 1 - Retain current number of salary bands and consider additional 
bands in the future.  Additional bands would allow for more consistent differentials between 
each salary band. 
 

Item 7

192



4 
 

Action – The proposed framework retains the existing five classifications.   Staff will consider 
recommending additional classification levels and salary bands as needed in the future. 

Koff Recommendation 2 - Modify the salary structure to maintain reasonable separation 
(~35%) between minimum and maximum salaries for each band.  
 
Action – The proposed framework includes 1) Raising the minimum salary levels from the 2013 
levels to achieve approximately 35 percent separation between minimum and maximum salaries 
for each band, and 2) Increasing both the minimum and maximum salaries with any future 
annual increases. 

Table 2: Summary of Koff & Associates Compensation Study Results 

Classification Title # of 
Matches 

Top Monthly 
% Above or 

Below 

Total 
Compensation 

% Above or 
Below 

Director of Policy and Legislative Programs 4 1.5% -2.9% 

Administrative Assistant/ Board Secretary 9 -2.1% -3.6% 

Transit Planning Analyst 9 -3.4% -8.6% 

Capital Analyst 4 -3.5% -13.1% 

Mobility Analyst 5 -3.7% -6.5% 

Capital Projects Manager 5 -7.8% -6.9% 

General Manager 6 -8.5% -7.2% 

Operations Manager 4 -9.5% -5.8% 

Accounting Analyst 5 -9.8% -14.3% 

Transit Planning Manager 5 -11.2% -14.7% 

Director of Operations and Planning 6 -12.1% -17.6% 

Director of Finance and Capital Programs 8 -13.5% -15.5% 

Capital Projects Manager (Engineering) 5 -18.2% -18.3% 

Administrative Analyst 3 Insufficient 
Data 

Insufficient 
Data 

Operations Analyst 3 Insufficient 
Data 

Insufficient 
Data 

All Classifications   -8.5% -8.6% 

 

Item 7

193



5 
 

Koff Recommendation 3 - Salary ranges for all classifications should be 10-15 percent above 
the lower classification. 
 
Action – The proposed framework established ranges to maintain this separation where 
possible.  Marin Transit has fewer classifications and fewer salary ranges than larger agencies. 
To retain flexibility with a smaller number of salary ranges, the proposed framework includes a 
greater difference between the maximum salaries for four of the five classifications. This 
difference is more than the 15 percent recommended by Koff.  Even with the greater separation 
of the maximum salaries, there is still sufficient overlap in salary ranges between the different 
classifications.   

Koff Recommendation 4 - Move one existing position to a new salary band based on 
placement at comparable agencies. 
 
Action – Based on discussion with the Ad Hoc Committee, the proposed framework does not 
include this change.   

Summary Recommendation: 
Staff recommends adjusting the base salary ranges to increase the low end in each 
classification range to a competitive level. Staff further recommends increasing the high end of 
the Director/Deputy General Manager, the Manager Classification and the Part Time 
classification to be consistent with the surveyed market for this position. Under new range 
proposal, both the lower and upper end of each classification salary range will increase by the 
CPI through the annual budget process. 
 
Staff is not recommending significant changes to employee benefits. The framework has been 
updated to include the employee-funded dependent care assistance plan and health flexible 
spending account, and, an employer paid employee assistance program that can provide 
specialized support to staff experiencing periodic life challenges or changes that are now 
available to staff.   
 

Table 3: Recommended Salary Ranges by Classification 

Classification 
(number of 
current 
positions)1 

FY2019 Monthly 
Salary Range2 

Proposed FY2019 
Monthly Salary 

Range 

% 
Change 

% 
Change 

Low High Low High Low High 
Director/Deputy 
(3.4) 

$9,167 $13,016 $10,556 $14,250 15% 9% 

Manager (2) $7,917 $11,570 $9,111 $12,300 15% 6% 

Senior (4) $6,667 $10,123 $7,498 $10,123 12% 0% 

Analyst (5) $5,000 $8,195 $6,070 $8,195 21% 0% 

Item 7

194



6 
 

Administrative (1) $3,333 $6,377 $4724 $6,377 42% 0% 

Part Time (Muir 
Woods greeters, 
interns, outreach) 

Minimum 
wage 

$27.81/hour Minimum 
wage 

$29/hour 0% 4% 
 

       
1) Staffing levels and classifications are approved by the Board annually through the budget 

process. The number of staff in each classification may change though will remain 
consistent with the current year budget and will not exceed the total number of positions 
authorized to the General Manager. 

2) Under the current salary framework, top salary ranges may not increase annually by more 
than the consumer price index (CPI, Feb 2018 = 3.6 percent).  Individual salary increases 
are subject to outcome of annual performance. 

 
 
FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT:    
The new compensation framework increases the maximum salary for three position 
classifications.  This change will allow for future salary increases for employees in these 
classifications and does not guarantee them.  For the current fiscal year, two employees were 
recommended for annual merit-based salary increases that exceeded the maximum salary in 
the existing framework.  The new framework will allow for these employees to receive 
retroactive pay to July 1, 2018. This adjustment will increase annual District expenses by 
$17,527 for the additional salary and associated salary-based retirement benefits.  All salary 
and benefits costs are within the existing FY2018/19 Budget, and no budget amendments are 
needed.  In addition, these changes do not significantly affect the District’s ten-year financial 
projections.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
Lauren Gradia 
Director of Finance and Capital Programs 
 
Attachment: Policy # HR-3 Revised Marin Transit Employment Compensation Framework 
 
 

Item 7

195



MARIN TRANSIT 

Employment Compensation Framework 

Policy #: HR-3 
Subject: Finance 
Effective Date:   08/19/2013 
Revision Date (1):12/3/2018 (pending) 

4b Item 7

196



2 

Table of Contents 

1 Summary of Marin Transit Staff Benefits .............................................................................................. 3 
2 Summary of Management Benefits ...................................................................................................... 4 
3 Job Classification Characteristics .......................................................................................................... 5 
4 Advancement Process ........................................................................................................................... 6 
5 Salary Ranges by Job Classification ....................................................................................................... 7 

4b Item 7

197



3 

1 Summary of Marin Transit Staff Benefits 
HEALTH & WELLNESS BENEFITS 

Medical Insurance : 
Employer pays up to 95% of employee+1 premium for base HMO 
plan towards Employee and Employee +1 premiums; up to 95% of 
employee+2 premium for base HMO plan for Employee +2; or with 
proof of coverage, a cash payment equal to the employee only 
premium for the base HMO plan.  

Dental Insurance : Employer paid 
Vision Insurance : Employer paid 

Short-Term Disability Insurance : 1% premium (state) Employer paid 
Long-Term Disability Insurance : Employer Paid Basic 

Transit Commute Benefit : Free Marin Local Transit plus free transit to work up to the federal 
taxable limit 

Dependent Care Assistance Plan : Available, employee funded, enrollment starting Jan. 1 of each year 
Health Flexible Spending Account : Available, employee funded, enrollment starting Jan. 1 of each year 

Employee Assistance Program : Employer paid 

Vacation : 10 days (80 hours) vacation balances in excess of two times the 
annual accrual will be cashed out on June 30th.   
Upon commencement of third consecutive year of employment, 
employee accrues 15 vacation days annually. 

Sick Leave : 12 days (96 hours) annually in Year 1 and 2 of employment, 9 days 
annually thereafter, unlimited accrual 

Holidays : 10 fixed days (8 hours each) annually (New Year's Day, Martin Luther
King Jr. Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, 4th of July, Labor Day, 
Veteran's Day, Thanksgiving Day & Friday after Thanksgiving, 
Christmas Day); 1/2 day for Christmas Eve 

Jury Duty : If needed and employee meets criteria 
Bereavement Leave : If needed, up to 3 days (24 hours) per occurrence which meets 

criteria 
Administrative Leave : 2 days (16 hours) annually on July 1, does not accrue. 

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
Defined Contribution Retirement : 401(a) Employer paid 10% 0-2 years; 13% >2 years; 15% >4 years; 

vesting after 6 months 
Social Security : Employee/Employer Paid (currently 6.2%/6.2%) 
Life Insurance : 1x Salary employer paid, supplemental coverage available 

Deferred Compensation : 457 Plan available 

4b Item 7

198



4 

2 Summary of Management Benefits 
HEALTH & WELLNESS BENEFITS 

Medical Insurance : 
Employer pays up to 95% of employee+1 premium for base HMO 
plan towards Employee and Employee +1 premiums; up to 95% of 
employee+2 premium for base HMO plan for Employee +2; or with 
proof of coverage, a cash payment equal to the employee only 
premium for the base HMO plan.  

Dental Insurance : Employer paid 
Vision Insurance : Employer paid 

Short-Term Disability Insurance : 1% premium (state) Employer paid 
Long-Term Disability Insurance : Employer Paid Basic 

Transit Commute Benefit : Free Marin Local Transit plus free transit to work up to the federal 
taxable limit 

Dependent Care Assistance Plan : Available, employee funded 
Health Flexible Spending Account : Available, employee funded 

Employee Assistance Program : Employer paid 
PAID LEAVE BENEFITS 

Vacation : 10 days (80 hours) vacation balances in excess of two times the 
annual accrual will be cashed out on June 30th.  
Upon commencement of third consecutive year of employment, 
employee accrues 15 vacation days annually. 

Sick Leave : 12 days (96 hours) annually in Year 1 and 2 of employment, 9 days 
annually thereafter, unlimited accrual 

Holidays : 10 fixed days (8 hours each) annually (New Year's Day, Martin Luther 
King Jr. Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, 4th of July, Labor Day, 
Veteran's Day, Thanksgiving Day & Friday after Thanksgiving, 
Christmas Day), 1/2 day for Christmas Eve 

Jury Duty : If needed and employee meets criteria 
Bereavement Leave : If needed, up to 3 days (24 hours) per occurrence which meets 

criteria 
Management Administrative Leave : 5 additional days (40 hours) annually on July 1, does not accrue. 

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
Defined Contribution Retirement : 401(a) Employer paid 10% 0-2 years; 13% >2 years; 15% >4 years; 

vesting after 6 months 
Social Security : Employee/Employer Paid (currently 6.2%/6.2%) 
Life Insurance : 1x Salary employer paid, supplemental coverage available 

Deferred Compensation : 457 Plan available 

4b Item 7

199



5 

3 Job Classification Characteristics  
The following table includes jobs classifications and characteristics. Characteristics and abilities in each 
classification may be further targeted for specific departments and functions such as Administration, 
Finance, Operations, Planning and Capital.   

Class General Class Characteristics 
Admin An Admin level position is an entry level position that does not require a college degree and 

may require little or no experience.  An employee in this class would have the following 
characteristics and abilities: 
• Performs routine tasks and functions
• Performs new task with direct supervision and training
• Shows initiative to identify job related problems and solutions

Analyst An Analyst level employee typically has a college degree or equivalent level relevant 
experience.  An employee in this class typically has 1-5 years of experience and the following 
characteristics abilities: 
• Perform job specific duties
• Research and solve problems with direct supervision
• Maintain project budgets, tasks, and timelines
• Exercise sound judgement
• Maintain clear written and verbal communication
• Recognize roadblocks

Senior Senior level employees typically have a college degree and 5 to 15 years of experience.  Senior 
level employees have all characteristics listed at the Analyst level along with the following 
abilities: 
• Develop and maintain project budgets, tasks, and timelines
• Research and solve problems with general supervision
• Present solutions for roadblocks
• Use independent judgement
• Take ownership of projects and programs
• Demonstrate advanced skills in job specific tasks
• Formally or informally provides direction and leadership for coworkers or other contractors
• With minimal direction, represent agency to outside stakeholders

Manager A Manager level employee typically has significant experience and has demonstrated sustained 
leadership and job-related expertise.  Manager level employees have all characteristics listed at 
the Senior level along with the following abilities: 
• Develop projects and programs
• Give clear direction and guidance to other staff and contractors
• Expertise in job related topics (Professional certification, professional committee leadership

etc.)
• Act as a resource to Marin Transit staff
• Conceptualize new project the improve or sustain the District
• Track and manage multiple project budgets, tasks, and timelines

Director A Director level position reports directly to the General Manager and is typically responsible for 
significant division or unit of the District.  A Director has all the characteristics listed at the 
manager level along with: 

• Provides leadership at the District level
• Identifies employees’ strengths and identifies development paths

4b Item 7

200



6 

4 Advancement Process 

Moving from Analyst to the Senior Level 

Staff must demonstrate a sustained ability to operate at a senior level (see class characteristics).   
Managers will work with Analyst employees that have the relevant experience and qualifications to 
develop a path to Senior.  This plan should include specifics steps including technical and soft skills that 
employee will need to take/demonstrate to be consider for a promotion to the Senior level. The plan 
should be reviewed by the General Manager.  Performance will be monitored by the manager at the 
annual review, unless an interim review cycle is warranted.  Completion of all items listed in the plan is 
not guarantee of promotion, employee must also demonstrate the independence and leadership 
needed for a senior level position.  All Analysts are eligible for a promotion to the senior level, however 
there is no guarantee of promotion or a specific timeline for promotion (there is no cap on the number 
of Senior level employees), and promotions are at the General Manager’s discretion.   

Moving from Senior to the Manager Level 

There are a limited number of Manager level positions at Marin Transit.  In addition to demonstrating 
the ability to perform at the Manager level, there needs to be an Agency need for a new manager or an 
open manager level position.  In most cases, a formal recruitment will be made for a Manager level 
position and internal candidates may apply or be asked to interview as part of this process.  

Moving from Manager to the Director Level 

There are a limited number of Director level positions at Marin Transit.  In addition to demonstrating the 
ability to perform at the Director level, there needs to be an Agency need for an open Director-level 
position.   In most cases, a formal recruitment will be made for a Director-level position and internal 
candidates can be consider as part of this process.   

4b Item 7

201



7 

5 Salary Ranges by Job Classification 

FY2019 Monthly Salary Range2 

Low High 

$10,556 $14,250 

$12,300 

$10,123 

$8,195 

$6,377 

$9,111 

$7,498 

$6,070 

$4,724 

Minimum wage $29/hour 

Classification 

(number of current 
positions)1 

Director/Deputy (3.4) 

Manager (2) 

Senior (4) 

Analyst (5) 

Administrative (1) 

Part Time  

(Muir Woods greeters, 
interns, outreach) 

1) Staffing levels and classifications are approved by the Board annually through the budget process. The number
of staff in each classification may change but will be consistent with the current year budget and will not
exceed the total number of positions authorized to the General Manager.

2) Top salary ranges may not increase annually by more than the consumer price index (CPI, Feb 2018 3.6%).
Individual salary increases subject to outcome of annual performance.

4b Item 7

202



1 

stephanie moulton-peters

vice president

city of mill valley

kathrin sears

supervisor district 3
director

judy arnold
director
supervisor district 5

kate colin

city of san rafael
director

damon connolly

2nd vice president

supervisor district 1

dennis rodoni

supervisor district 4

director
katie rice

president

supervisor district 2

711 grand ave, #110
san rafael, ca 94901

ph: 415.226.0855
fax: 415.226.0856
marintransit.org

December 3, 2018 

Honorable Board of Directors 
Marin County Transit District 
3501 Civic Center Drive 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

SUBJECT: Update on the San Rafael Transit Center Relocation 
Project 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: Information item only. 

SUMMARY:  
Marin Transit, Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation 
District (GGBHTD), the City of San Rafael, the Transportation 
Authority of Marin, and SMART initiated an effort to evaluate 
relocation of the bus transfer facility in Downtown San Rafael in 
2005. This effort anticipated the upcoming extension of SMART rail 
service through the San Rafael Transit Center (SRTC), growth in 
transit services, and ongoing changes in the surrounding downtown. 
GGBHTD is leading the current phase that includes relocation 
analysis, environmental review, and preliminary engineering with 
support from a consultant team.  

The initial stage of this phase has focused on outreach and 
community engagement. The team has held three community 
workshops on March 20, June 12, and October 30, 2018. These 
meetings introduced the project to the community, described the 
purpose and need, and solicited input on preliminary facility 
locations and designs. Feedback has been captured at these events 
and through online surveys that will help inform the process.   

Staff provided an update on the SRTC to your Board on July 9, 
2018. At that time four alternatives were under consideration. With 
additional input from the City of San Rafael and through the public 
process one more alternative has been added. The fifth alternative, 
the North of 4th Street Concept, would occupy the entire block 
bounded by 5th Avenue to the north, Irwin Street to the east, 4th 
Street to the South, and Hetherton Street to the west. It is generally 
located beneath US-101. The five alternatives are described in the 
attached Notice of Preparation of a Draft Environmental Impact 
Report (DEIR).  

Item 8

203



2 
 

Golden Gate Transit requested comments on the Notice of Preparation of a DEIR. Marin Transit 
staff’s response is attached. Staff commented on the advantages and disadvantages of each of 
the alternatives, and noted the importance of creating a safe and welcoming environment for all 
transit riders. 
 
Since staff’s last update to your Board in July, the GGBHTD team has: 

 Conducted the third community workshop on October 30; 
 Convened meetings of the Technical Advisory Committee, the executive management 

of the partner agencies, and policy makers from the partner agencies to review the 
alternatives and the public outreach efforts to date; and 

 Released the Notice of Preparation of the DEIR on October 16 and received comments 
from several entities. 
 

The next step in the process is to continue to evaluate alternatives and prepare the 
environmental document. The Draft Environmental Impact Report is scheduled to be complete 
in Fall 2019. The Final EIR and Preliminary Design are currently scheduled for completion in 
Fall 2020. A copy of the project fact sheet with a timeline is attached. 
 
FISCAL/STAFFING IMPACT: There is no fiscal impact associated with this item. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Robert Betts 
Director of Operations and Planning 
 
Attachments:  Notice of Preparation of a Draft Environmental Impact Report for the SRTC 

Relocation Project 
  Marin Transit letter commenting on the Notice of Preparation of a DEIR 
  GGBHTD Fact Sheet and timeline on the SRTC Relocation Project  
 

Item 8

204



 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF PREPARATION 

October 16, 2018  

To:   From: 
Reviewing Agencies and 
Organizations 

 Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and 
Transportation District 
1011 Andersen Drive 
San Rafael, CA 94901-5318 
 

SUBJECT: Notice of Preparation of a Draft Environmental Impact Report for the San 
Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project and Notice of Scoping Meeting 
 
The Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District (District), as the lead agency 
under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), will prepare an Environmental Impact 
Report (EIR) for the proposed San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project (project). We are 
interested in your agency’s views regarding the scope and content of the environmental 
documentation that is germane to your statutory responsibilities in connection with the proposed 
project. The project description, location, overview, EIR scope, and potential environmental 
effects are provided in the attached materials.  
 
Comments focusing on your area of expertise, your agency’s area of jurisdiction, or issues 
relative to the environmental analysis should be addressed to Raymond Santiago, Principal 
Planner, Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District, at the address shown above, 
or email to SRTC@goldengate.org. Requests to be included on the project mailing list and 
receive additional information about the project should also be directed to 
SRTC@goldengate.org. Because of time limits mandated by state law, your written response 
must be sent at the earliest possible date, but no later than the later of 30 days after this notice or 
November 19, 2018. Please include a name and phone number of a contact person in your 
organization.  
 
The District will hold a scoping meeting in an open-house format to discuss the proposed project 
and review environmental issues to be addressed in the draft EIR on Tuesday, October 30, 2018, 
from 5:30–7:00 p.m. at Whistlestop, 930 Tamalpais Avenue, San Rafael, CA. Persons with 
disabilities will be able to access the buildings used for the scoping meeting. Any individual who 
requires special assistance, such as a sign language interpreter, to participate in a scoping 
meeting should contact the dedicated project line at (415) 257-4444 by 5:00 p.m. no later than 
October 25, 2018. A Spanish interpreter will be available at the meeting. 
 
  

Item 8

205



Item 8

206



 

1 

GOLDEN GATE BRIDGE, HIGHWAY AND TRANSIT DISTRICT  
1011 Andersen Drive, San Rafael, CA 94901-5318 

 
NOTICE OF PREPARATION 

ATTACHMENT 
 
______________________________________________________________________________
Project Title  
San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project  

_____________________________________________________________________________
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Lead Agency 
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District  

______________________________________________________________________________
Project Information available at:   or via website:  
1011 Andersen Drive     http://goldengate.org/SRTC/ 
San Rafael, CA 94901-5318 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 
Project Location and Background  
The San Rafael Transit Center, also known as the C. Paul Bettini Transit Center, is owned by the 
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District (District), which operates Golden 
Gate Transit regional and inter-county bus transit services. The transit center is located in 
downtown San Rafael at the intersection of 3rd Street and Hetherton Street (see Figure 1). With 
more than 500 bus trips daily and 17 operating bus bays, the transit center is the largest regional 
transit hub in Marin County, providing access to the regional transportation network for area 
residents and a key transfer point for employees, visitors, and students in San Rafael and the 
greater North Bay region. The transit center primarily serves bus routes operated by Golden Gate 
Transit and Marin Transit, but it is also served by Sonoma County Transit, Sonoma County 
Airport Express, Marin Airporter, Greyhound, and paratransit services. On weekdays, nearly 
9,000 people board or alight buses at the transit center to make their necessary transportation 
connections. Downtown San Rafael is an important destination, with nearly half of the 
passengers travelling to or from downtown, and the remaining riders making transfers to other 
destinations. The 17 bus bays are well-utilized during most peak-period pulse times, leaving little 
room for growth in bus service. 
 
In August 2017, the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) District commenced passenger 
rail service on its initial corridor, consisting of 43 miles of rail and 10 stations (Phase 1) in 
Sonoma and Marin Counties. SMART’s Phase 1 corridor parallels U.S. Highway 101 (US-101) 
beginning at the Sonoma County Airport and terminating in downtown San Rafael just north of 
the transit center. SMART riders transferring from the downtown San Rafael SMART station—
located north of 3rd Street—to access the current transit center south of 3rd Street, as well as 
riders originating from downtown San Rafael, must navigate congested vehicle traffic passing 
through local intersections and accessing the US-101 on-ramps adjacent to the transit center.  
 
  

Item 8

207



Figure 1
Regional Location

\\P
D

C
C

IT
R

D
S

G
IS

1\
P

ro
je

ct
s_

1\
K

im
le

y_
H

or
n\

S
an

R
af

ae
lT

ra
ns

itC
en

te
r\

Fi
gu

re
s\

D
oc

\E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

lR
ev

ie
w

\0
1_

A
D

E
IR

\F
ig

_1
_P

ro
je

ct
_O

ve
rv

ie
w

_2
01

80
71

9.
m

xd
; U

se
r: 

29
39

1;
 D

at
e:

 1
0/

5/
20

18

"

[
N

0 42
Miles

Legend

" San Rafael Transit Center
SMART Tracks

Ta
m

al
pa

is
 A

ve

Francisco
Blvd

Ritter St

Irw
in

 S
t

H
et

he
rt

on
 S

t

4Th St

2Nd St

3Rd St

Li
n c

ol
n

Av
e

£¤101

Existing
Transit
Center

Figure 1
Regional Location

San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project

Item 8

208



 

3 

In addition, Phase 2 of the SMART project, which was approved in 2015 and began construction 
in early 2018, will extend passenger rail service from its current downtown San Rafael terminus 
to Larkspur. The southward extension of SMART will require the construction of two sets of 
tracks through the middle of the existing transit center site south of 3rd Street. The SMART 
Phase 2 line will bisect the existing transit center, reconfigure Platforms C and B, negatively 
impact bus circulation and bus bay flexibility within and around the transit center, and disrupt 
pedestrian access and transfer activity among the remaining platforms at the site. This change 
will affect how buses and people access and travel through the transit center as well as the 
reduction in the amount of space available for buses and riders, which will be detrimental to bus, 
vehicle, and pedestrian access and safety. As a result, the transit center must be relocated to 
another location in downtown San Rafael. 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
Project Objectives  
 
The District, in coordination with the City of San Rafael, Marin Transit, Transportation 
Authority of Marin (TAM), and SMART, plans to replace the transit center in downtown San 
Rafael. The proposed San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project (project) is needed 
primarily to preserve and enhance the functionality and effectiveness of the transit center 
following the implementation of the SMART Phase 2 line to Larkspur and the resulting loss of 
some of the transit center facilities. Specifically, the purpose of the project is to: 

 Provide improved transit connectivity and ease of use in and around downtown San Rafael.  

 Enhance local and regional transit use by bringing together multiple modes of the 
transportation network—including the SMART-bus connection—into a hub that affords 
transit users the safest, most efficient means of using bus and rail services. 

 Efficiently accommodate transit users and services and optimize operating costs and improve 
transit desirability. 

 Design a functional, attractive, cost-effective facility that can meet long-term projected 
service levels and be implemented in an expeditious manner, so as to minimize the period of 
use of the interim facility.  

 Provide a transit facility that is readily accessible to individuals with disabilities, transit 
users, and transit-dependent populations, including those with low incomes. 

 Provide a secure, safe, and inviting space for transit patrons. 

 Create a more accessible transit facility for all users by reducing vehicular, rail, bicycle, and 
pedestrian conflicts and improving safety. 

 Provide convenient, pedestrian connections to surrounding land uses. 
 
A new transit center solution in downtown San Rafael would address near-term and long-term 
transit needs while improving the desirability and usability of transit for both local residents and 
regional commuters. It would also, to the extent feasible, minimize traffic congestion and 
facilitate smooth transit operations while also promoting pedestrian safety. 

Item 8

209



 

4 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
Preliminary Project Alternatives to Be Analyzed in the Draft Environmental Impact Report 
 
The District has identified five preliminary alternatives. The alternatives are described below and 
the conceptual design for each alternative is shown in Figures 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6, respectively. The 
District also will study a No Project Alternative pursuant to CEQA requirements. These 
preliminary alternatives will be further refined and screened based on agency and public input.  

 Two-Story Concept is bounded by 4th Street to the north, Hetherton Street to the east, 2nd 
Street to the south, and Tamalpais Avenue to the west (Figure 2). This concept includes the 
parcel to the east of the SMART station as the ground-level of a proposed two-story transit 
center. This alternative includes 6 bus bays on the ground level and 12 bus bays on the upper 
level. This alternative has the smallest footprint, only requiring the acquisition of one parcel, 
but also would cost more due to the two-story construction.  

 Across-the-Freeway Concept is bounded by 5th Avenue to the north, Irwin and Hetherton 
Streets to the east, 3rd Street to the south, and Tamalpais Avenue to the west (Figure 3). This 
alternative has two options: the first would include a three-bay transit island on Hetherton 
Street between 3rd and 4th Streets, and the second would shift Hetherton Street to the west to 
allow for on-street bays on the east side of Hetherton Street between 3rd and 4th Streets. This 
concept incorporates the area underneath US-101, which would eliminate some existing 
California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Park and Ride lot parking stalls and 
require covering Erwin Creek (a tributary of San Rafael Creek), across a portion of the block. 

 4th Street Gateway Concept is bounded by 5th Avenue to the north, Hetherton Street to the 
east, 3rd Street to the south, and the SMART tracks to the west (Figure 4). In order to 
accommodate three curbside bus bays, southbound right-turn movements from Hetherton 
Street to 4th Street would be precluded.  

 Whistlestop Block Concept is bounded by 4th Street to the north, Hetherton Street to the east, 
3rd Street to the south, and Lincoln and Tamalpais Avenues to the west (Figure 5). This 
concept co-locates the proposed transit center on the same block as the existing SMART 
station. The Whistlestop building would either be relocated, reconfigured, or restored and 
used for customer service functions with the proposed transit center. 

 North of 4th Street Concept would occupy the entire block bounded by 5th Avenue to the 
north, Irwin Street to the east, 4th Street to the South, and Hetherton Street to the west. It is 
generally located beneath US-101 (Figure 6) and would eliminate some existing parking 
stalls in the Caltrans Park and Ride lot, and require covering Erwin Creek (a tributary of San 
Rafael Creek), across the full length of the block. While this concept would accommodate 17 
bus bays within this block, it would require customer service, restrooms, and pick-up/drop-
off functions to be located off site. 

 
Features common to all five alternatives include the provision of at least 17 bus bays, pick-
up/drop-off areas for passenger vehicles or taxis, bicycle parking, customer service and security 
space, bus operator restrooms, and parking for operations staff. Some of these facilities could be 
provided at locations outside of the extents of the concepts shown in Figures 2 through 6 below. 
The project website provides more detailed information on the project and the public outreach 
conducted to date: http://goldengate.org/SRTC/.  

Item 8

210



Figure 2
Two-Story Concept

San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project

Upper
Level

Lower
Level

N
O
RTH

N
O
RTH

Item 8

211



Hetherton Shift OptionHetherton Shift Option

Figure 3
Across the Freeway Concept

San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project

Item 8

212



Figure 4
4th Street Gateway Concept

San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project

N
O
RTH

Item 8

213



Figure 5
Whistlestop Block Concept

San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project

Additional area under 
consideration for transit 
center facilities

N
O
RTH

Item 8

214



101

Figure 6
North of 4th Street Concept

San Rafael Transit Center Replacement Project

N
O
RTH

Item 8

215



 

10 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 
Project Schedule  
 
The District expects to complete the environmental review process by early 2020, and preliminary 
project design (30%) by the Fall of 2020; the final design, permitting, and construction would 
commence thereafter.  

_____________________________________________________________________________
EIR Scope and Potential Environmental Effects  
 
The purpose of the EIR will be to disclose the environmental impacts of the project. Potential 
environmental effects to be examined in the EIR are those related to aesthetics, air quality and 
greenhouse gas emissions; biological resources; cultural resources; geology, soils, and 
seismicity; hazards and hazardous materials; hydrology and water quality; land use and planning; 
noise and vibration; population and housing; transportation and transit; and utilities and public 
services (including recreation). Cumulative impacts, alternatives to the project, and growth-
inducing impacts will also be analyzed. Impacts resulting from both short-term construction and 
long-term operation of the project will be identified. A brief discussion of the anticipated 
environmental impacts and what will be examined in the EIR is presented below. Mitigation 
measures will be identified for significant impacts, as appropriate. 
 
Aesthetics 
The project is located in downtown San Rafael. The EIR will describe the existing visual 
character of the project site and surrounding areas, and identify key visual resources and scenic 
views. The EIR will analyze impacts on these key visual resources and scenic views as a result of 
the proposed project. Lighting and glare impacts on any sensitive viewers/viewsheds will also be 
addressed.  

 
Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions  
The EIR will describe the existing air quality conditions in the San Francisco Bay Area basin and 
evaluate the impacts of the project, in accordance with current Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District (BAAQMD) CEQA Guidelines. The construction and operational 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the project vicinity related to implementation of the project 
will be quantified. Potential impacts related to climate change will be addressed consistent with 
the BAAQMD’s current guidance. The project’s consistency with the City of San Rafael’s 
Climate Action Plan will also be discussed. 
 
Biological Resources 
The EIR will describe the existing biological resources on the site, discuss the impacts of the 
project on biological resources (plants, wildlife, and waters), and identify any conflicts with local 
policies and ordinances protecting biological resources, such as impacts on protected or heritage 
trees.  
 
  

Item 8

216



 

11 

Cultural Resources 
The EIR will evaluate potential impacts on historical, archaeological, and paleontological 
resources. The Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) and any tribes it identifies will 
be contacted and consulted about the presence of traditional lands or cultural places in the project 
vicinity.  
 
Geology, Soils and Seismicity  
The EIR will describe the geologic and soil constraints that may affect the project design, 
including seismicity, landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or potential for 
expansive soils.  
 
Hazards and Hazardous Materials 
The EIR will describe the existing conditions on and adjacent to the project site—including the 
potential for existing soil and/or groundwater contamination near the site to affect future uses on 
the site—and will identify hazardous impacts from both construction and operations.  
 
Hydrology and Water Quality 
The EIR will discuss the potential for project-related flooding on the project site, and will 
describe construction and operational impacts related to stormwater runoff and drainage 
infrastructure, and water quality.  
 
Land Use and Planning 
The EIR will evaluate the compatibility of the project with neighboring areas, change to or 
displacement of existing uses, compliance with zoning regulations, and consistency of the project 
with relevant local land use policies that have been adopted in the City of San Rafael General 
Plan 2020 and the 2012 Downtown Station Area Plan.  
 
Noise and Vibration 
The EIR will identify sensitive noise receptors and sources of noise and vibration in the project 
area and analyze short-term construction and long-term operational noise and vibration impacts 
associated with moving the transit center to a new location. Noise from changes in traffic 
patterns associated with operations at the new location would also be evaluated.  
 
Population and Housing 
The EIR will address the project’s potential for inducing population growth and displacing 
people and housing.  
 
Transportation and Transit 
A transportation impact analysis will be prepared for the EIR to describe the existing local and 
regional transportation network and to evaluate the proposed project’s construction- and 
operations-related traffic impacts for vehicular, transit, bike, and pedestrian circulation.  
 
  

Item 8

217



 

12 

Utilities and Public Services (including Recreation) 
The EIR will describe the existing utilities at the project site and will address the ability of 
existing and planned public facilities and service systems to meet demands generated by the 
project. Physical impacts on public utilities—including sanitary sewers, storm drains, and solid 
waste—will be identified, as will any need to construct new facilities. The EIR will describe the 
existing water supply serving the project site and evaluate the impacts of the project on water 
supply. 
 
Cumulative Impacts 
Consistent with CEQA, this section will address the impacts of implementing the project in 
combination with other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future projects in the project 
vicinity. 
 
Alternatives to the Project 
Alternatives to the project will be evaluated, including the No Project Alternative. Other 
alternatives analyzed in the EIR will be identified based on their ability to reduce or avoid 
environmental impacts.  
 
Growth-Inducing Impacts 
The EIR will discuss the ways in which the project could foster growth in the surrounding 
environment, including potential for growth from enhanced transit facilities and land use 
development surrounding the project site; growth-related secondary impacts also will be 
discussed.  
 
Other CEQA-Required Analysis 
The EIR will include other issues required by CEQA, including Significant Unavoidable 
Impacts, Significant Irreversible Environmental Change, Persons Consulted and List of 
Preparers, References, and technical appendices. 
 
 

Item 8

218



Item 8

219



Item 8

220



Item 8

221



Item 8

222



PROJECT FACT SHEET
The Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District, in coordination with the City of San Rafael, Marin Transit, 
Transportation Authority of Marin (TAM), and Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART), is working on a project to replace the 
San Rafael Transportation Center (SRTC). This project will include analysis and identification of potential sites for the transit 
center in downtown San Rafael, an environmental review process, and preliminary design. 

What services does the transit center provide?

Where are people using the transit center going to 
and coming from?

Why does the transit center need to be replaced?
As the SMART system is extended further south to Larkspur, 
the tracks bisect the site where SRTC is currently located. 
This change will impact how buses and people access and 
travel through the site as well as the amount of space 
available for buses and riders. As a result, the transit center 
needs to be replaced in another location in downtown San 
Rafael.

Why does the transit center function best in 
downtown San Rafael?
Downtown San Rafael is the location at which several major 
north-south and east-west bus routes intersect (see graphic 
below). It is the ideal location to reduce riders’ travel time, 
reduce operating costs, and reduce the amount of time buses 
spend on City streets. In addition, many people use the 
services at the transit center to travel to and from destina-
tions in San Rafael.

• Golden Gate Transit
• Marin Transit
• Ride Hailing/Taxi Services
• Bicycle Parking
• Airport Shuttles

• Greyhound
• SMART
• Pick-up/Drop-off
• Customer Service
• Retail

What makes an effective transit center?
Transit centers are places where transit users can easily begin 
their travels, transfer between transportation services, access 
local destinations, and obtain information about their transpor-
tation options. An effective transit center is easy to access for 
all users, is safe and secure, and provides flexibility for current 
and future needs.

Did You Know?

People get on and off buses at the 
transit center 9,000 times a day

4,500 people start or end their
trips in downtown San Rafael

Over 500 buses pass through the
transit center daily

Source: GGT (2015) and MT (2017) On-board Surveys

SAN RAFAEL 
TRANSPORTATION CENTER 
Relocation Analysis, Environmental Clearance, and Preliminary Design

Source: GGT/MT Bus Schedules (2018)

Item 8

223



PROJECT DEVELOPMENT PROCESS
The project includes the following primary phases:
 1.  Identification of Transit Center Alternatives - Build on previous planning efforts, such as the Downtown Station Area              
     Plan and the Relocation Study, and identify potential transit center sites and configurations.
 2.  Environmental Analysis - Identify potential environmental impacts associated with the project.
 3.  Preliminary Engineering - Prepare initial designs for the transit center.

A preferred transit center location and configuration is anticipated to be selected in 2018. Environmental analysis and preliminary design is 
anticipated to be completed in 2020. Subsequent project efforts after 2020 will include final design and construction.

The project may be funded by a combination of federal, state and local funds.

The Golden Gate Bridge, Highway & Transportation District will serve as the lead environmental agency for the project. Marin Transit, TAM, 
the City of San Rafael, and SMART are all partners in the project.

10/24/18

SCHEDULE

Identification of Transit
Center Alternatives

Spring
2018

Spring
2019

Summer
2018

Summer
2019

Fall
2018

Fall
2019

Winter
2019

Winter
2018

Winter
2020

Fall
2020

Environmental Analysis

Preliminary Engineering

Outreach

Determine Transit 
Center Needs

Environmental 
Scoping

Draft Environmental Impact Report (EIR)
Final EIR

Preliminary
Design

Develop Transit
Center Alternatives

Alternatives Evaluation

Community engagement activities include: Meetings, presentations, online surveys and in-person
engagement at the transit center

SAN RAFAEL 
TRANSPORTATION CENTER 
Relocation Analysis, Environmental Clearance, and Preliminary Design

STAY CONNECTED
View our website at:

goldengate.org/SRTC

Contact:
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway

and Transportation District
Email: SRTC@goldengate.org

TEL: (415) 257-4444

facebook.com/GoldenGateTransit

@GoldenGateBus
Item 8

224


	Fitem 0 - Agenda
	AGENDA

	FItem 3b - Monthly Monitoring
	FItem 4a - Minutes
	FItem 4b - Draft Board Calendar 2019
	FItem 4c - Q1 Financial Report
	120318 First Quarter Financial Report FY19
	Attachment A Q1 Financial Report
	Attachment B Budget Adjustments
	Attachment C Capital Board Report

	FItem 4d - Q1 Performance Report
	FItem 4e - Update to Drug Alcohol Testing Policy
	FItem 5 - Civic Edge Consulting
	FItem 6 - Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
	FItem 7 - Employee Compensation Report
	FItem 8 - Update on SRTC Relocation Project



